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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al.,  

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al.,  * 
* 

HEARING REQUESTED 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
MOTION FOR FINAL SETTLEMENT APPROVAL 

 
Plaintiffs1 respectfully move for final approval of the class-wide settlement that the Court 

preliminarily approved on August 28, 2024.  As discussed in the accompanying memorandum of 

law, the Proposed Class Settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable as to Settlement Class 

Members, and the class certification requirements of Maryland Rule 2-231 are satisfied. 

Pursuant to paragraph 35 of the Proposed Class Settlement Agreement, Defendants will 

not oppose entry by the Court of a Final Approval Order that approves the settlement and directs 

its implementation, and also approves incentive fees to the Class Representatives and Class 

Counsel’s application for attorneys’ fees and costs.2 

 
1  Cynthia M. Clark, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Walter F. Kacala and Helen M. 
Kacala; Norman J. Loverde, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Stephen J. Loverde, Sr. 
and Mary Anna Loverde; and Maria M. McCarthy and William J. McCarthy, Jr., as personal 
representatives of the Estate of Anne Major and successor personal representatives of the Estate of 
Bernard L. Major, individually and on behalf of a Class of similarly situated Angelos clients.  Defined 
terms appearing in this motion and accompanying memorandum that are not defined herein are defined in 
the Proposed Class Settlement Agreement. 
 
2  Defendants have not reviewed Plaintiffs’ filings in connection with final approval, though as the Court 
will recognize, substantial portions of the memorandum accompanying Plaintiffs’ Motion for Final 
Settlement Approval are similar or identical to material in Plaintiffs’ memorandum in support of 
preliminary approval, which Defendants did review. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that the Court grant final approval for the Settlement 

Agreement and enter the attached proposed Final Judgment Approving Settlement and Certifying 

Settlement Class. 

Respectfully submitted, 

GALLAGHER EVELIUS & JONES LLP 

 
       /s/ Joe Dugan    

Paul S. Caiola (AIS # 9512120109) 
Brian T. Tucker (AIS # 0306180261) 
Joe Dugan (AIS # 1812110109) 
Sarah R. Simmons (AIS # 1912180151) 
Tory S. Trocchia (AIS # 2211290231) 
218 North Charles Street, Suite 400 
Baltimore MD 21201 
Telephone:  410-727-7702 
Facsimile:  410-468-2786 
pcaiola@gejlaw.com 
btucker@gejlaw.com 
jdugan@gejlaw.com 
ssimmons@gejlaw.com 
ttrocchia@gejlaw.com 
Class Counsel 

Date:  November 12, 2024 
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Introduction 

Plaintiffs1 respectfully move for final approval of the class-wide settlement that the Court 

preliminarily approved on August 28, 2024.2  The Claims that are the subject of the Proposed 

Class Settlement relate to Plaintiffs’ allegations that the Law Firm and its founder, Peter 

Angelos, failed to move timely to enforce a 1994 settlement agreement with Baltimore-based 

asbestos installer MCIC, Inc., and failed timely to file settlement fraud claims in connection with 

that 1994 agreement.  After more than three years of hard-fought litigation and a months-long 

mediation process before a retired federal judge, the Honorable Paul W. Grimm, the parties 

agreed on a term sheet and, ultimately, the Proposed Class Settlement that the Court 

preliminarily approved. 

Through the Proposed Class Settlement, the Angelos Estate, with approval of the Law 

Firm and with a material contribution from an insurance policy that provided coverage for the 

Law Firm, will contribute $57 million to a common fund that will distribute payments to 

thousands of Defendants’ current and former clients.  These payments will provide fair, 

adequate, and reasonable relief for the families of Baltimore-area laborers, steelworkers, and 

asbestos installers, many of whom were represented by Peter Angelos and the Law Firm for 

 
1  Cynthia M. Clark, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Walter F. Kacala and Helen M. 
Kacala; Norman J. Loverde, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Stephen J. Loverde, Sr. 
and Mary Anna Loverde; and Maria M. McCarthy and William J. McCarthy, Jr., as personal 
representatives of the Estate of Anne Major and successor personal representatives of the Estate of 
Bernard L. Major, individually and on behalf of a Class of similarly situated Angelos clients. 
 
2  Pursuant to paragraph 35 of the Proposed Class Settlement Agreement, Defendants will not oppose 
entry by the Court of a Final Approval Order that approves the settlement and directs its implementation, 
and also approves incentive fees to the Class Representatives and Class Counsel’s application for 
attorneys’ fees and costs.  Defendants have not reviewed Plaintiffs’ filings in connection with final 
approval, though as the Court will recognize, substantial portions of the memorandum accompanying 
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Final Settlement Approval are similar or identical to material in Plaintiffs’ 
memorandum in support of preliminary approval, which Defendants did review. 
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decades.  The Court should grant final approval of the settlement, so the Settlement Class 

Members can take advantage of the substantial benefits it offers to them. 

Factual Background 

The MCIC Settlement Agreement 

In the early 1990s, Baltimore City was a hub for asbestos injury claims.  3d Am. Class 

Action Compl. (“3AC”) ¶¶ 44, 46, 50.  The Circuit Court for Baltimore City consolidated over 

8,500 of these claims in a trial, known as Abate I, in which “the cases of six illustrative plaintiffs 

were tried to full and final judgments, and certain common issues … were also tried.”  ACandS, 

Inc. v. Abate, 121 Md. App. 590, 602 (1998), overruled on other grounds by John Crane, Inc. v. 

Scribner, 369 Md. 369 (2002).  By the close of trial, only six defendants remained in the case, 

including McCormick Asbestos Company, also known as MCIC.  Id. at 603.  The jury returned 

multi-million-dollar verdicts in favor of three of the six illustrative plaintiffs, and also found that 

the defendants, including MCIC, were liable for asbestos injuries.  Id.  This liability verdict 

applied to all of Defendants’ clients who were common-issues plaintiffs in Abate I.  See Extract 

of June 3, 1993 Mem. Op. and Order at 2-3, 49, attached as Exhibit 1. 

Following the trial in Abate I, MCIC began settlement negotiations with the firms that 

had represented the thousands of common-issues plaintiffs.  Defendants represented the vast 

majority of these plaintiffs.  A sticking point in the negotiations was the amount of available 

insurance.  Although complete insurance contracts had not been preserved for the dozens of 

years for which MCIC had liability insurance coverage, MCIC and its insurers supplied an 

assortment of schedules, certificates of insurance, declarations pages, and other documents to 

substantiate MCIC’s coverage.  These materials became known in later litigation as the “Nagle 

Documents.”  3AC ¶ 58. 
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Because the Nagle Documents did not include complete policy contracts, and because 

Defendants and the other plaintiffs’ firms argued that they “needed to verify the limits of 

MCIC’s coverage or the total remaining coverage before agreeing to settle,” the parties “agreed 

that the insurers would provide affidavits that stated that MCIC’s total remaining coverage was 

approximately $13 million, that the [insurers] were tendering the limits of remaining unpaid 

funds, and that the [insurers] were not aware of any other applicable or available coverage.”  

Estate of Adams v. Cont’l Ins. Co., 233 Md. App. 1, 12-13 (2017) (emphasis omitted), cert. 

denied, 456 Md. 62 (2017); see 3AC ¶¶ 62-63.  These affidavits were essential to the settlement, 

which would not have been consummated had the insurers refused to place what they represented 

to be all available coverage on the table.  3AC ¶ 66.   

 

 

MCIC’s participating insurers stipulated to the asbestos exposure window and the disease 

category (mesothelioma, lung cancer, other cancer, or nonmalignant disease) for each settlement 

beneficiary.  MCIC Settlement Agreement § 2.1, attached as Exhibit 3.  MCIC and its insurers 

also agreed in Section 2.2 of the settlement agreement that “if in addition to the insurance 

coverage disclosed by Insurers and confirmed by their affidavits … other insurance is discovered 

which would be applicable to claims made, the Defendant will promptly notify Participating 

Plaintiffs’ Counsel and arrange for a pro rata distribution to them for payment to the Plaintiffs.”  

Id. § 2.2.  Section 2.2 of the MCIC Settlement Agreement forms a significant basis for Plaintiffs’ 

claims. 
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Operations Coverage:  The Insurance Industry’s Best-Kept Secret 

The MCIC Settlement Agreement was predicated on the insurers’ sworn representation 

that all policies were subject to aggregate limits—i.e., that regardless of the number of claims or 

occurrences in a policy period, the policy would pay a maximum amount as set forth on the 

policy declaration pages.  Once the aggregate limit was exhausted, the policy would pay nothing 

further. 

What the insurers arguably knew but did not disclose is that prior to the mid-1980s, 

standard liability insurance policies imposed aggregate limits for asbestos injuries arising from 

exposure to “completed operations” (i.e., products liability claims), but there were no aggregate 

limits for asbestos injuries arising during “operations” (i.e., during the performance of work by 

the insured).  See In re Wallace & Gale Co., 275 B.R. 223, 238-39 (D. Md. 2002) (“[T]o the 

extent that injuries, beginning with exposure, may be considered as occurring before operations 

were completed they would, by definition, be excluded from the completed operations clause.  

There would be no aggregate limit under the policies then in effect.”), vacated in part on other 

grounds, 284 B.R. 557 (D. Md. 2002), aff’d, 385 F.3d 820 (4th Cir. 2004). 

MCIC’s insurers understood that they could face significant exposure should a Court 

award recovery under policies with operations coverage.  E.g., Aug. 23, 1991 letter fr. W. Smiley 

to B. Chapper at 1, attached as Exhibit 4 (“Royal … specifically advised that … products 

liability and completed operations coverage were not included in the policies issued to MCIC by 

Royal.”).  As Judge Pierson explained in his summary judgment ruling finding the claims time 

barred in the Tort Action, “‘Fragmentary’ though they may have been, the policy-related 

materials made available to plaintiffs in 1993 … are consistent and clear in their treatment of the 

hazards that are subject to aggregate limits. … Aggregate limits … explicitly apply only to 
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liability for bodily injuries arising out of products-completed operations hazards.”  Extract of 

Nov. 20, 2012 Mem. at 30, attached as Exhibit 5.  While Plaintiffs and Defendants in the case at 

bar vigorously disputed, prior to achieving the Proposed Class Settlement, how successful 

recovery under a policy with operations coverage could have been, it remained an avenue for 

recovery.  That avenue was clarified following the Porter Hayden ruling. 

The Porter Hayden Decision 

In 1997, three years after the MCIC settlement was finalized, the Appellate Court of 

Maryland confirmed in Commercial Union Insurance Co. v. Porter Hayden Co. that an asbestos 

installer like MCIC “could be held liable for the manner in which it conducted its operations in 

installing the asbestos-containing products.  In that light, it is not solely covered by the ‘Products 

Hazard’ insurance” on which MCIC’s asserted aggregate limits had been based.  116 Md. App. 

605, 692 (1997) (emphasis omitted).  Porter Hayden thus opened the door to additional insurance 

coverage not subject to aggregate limits to pay the claims of plaintiffs who were injured during 

the installation or removal of asbestos products. 

Soon after Porter Hayden was decided, Peter Angelos wrote to MCIC’s president  

 

 

 

 

Soon after that filing, Defendants met with 

representatives of MCIC and its insurers for a settlement discussion and proceeded to demand 

millions of dollars in additional remuneration for their clients.  The parties did not settle, and the 

Maryland courts ultimately treated the Motion to Enforce as time-barred.  See Anderson v. Royal 
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Indem. Co., No. 1962, slip op. at 23 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. May 15, 2006), attached as Exhibit 8, 

cert. denied, 394 Md. 479 (2006). 

Following the adverse ruling on the Motion to Enforce, Defendants brought a new 

lawsuit alleging that during the 1994 negotiations, MCIC and its insurers had misrepresented the 

amount of available insurance.  3AC ¶¶ 110-12.  In this new Tort Action, Defendants claimed 

that certain documents they had received through discovery in the Motion to Enforce 

proceedings (the so-called “Chapper Documents”) revealed that “MCIC knew as early as 1985 

that [the settlement beneficiaries] had claims for operations coverage because many of the 

plaintiffs were exposed to asbestos during installation.”  Estate of Adams, 233 Md. App. at 20.  

After years of litigation, the Circuit Court for Baltimore City again found Defendants’ claims 

time-barred.  3AC ¶¶ 114-17.  The Appellate Court of Maryland affirmed the trial court decision, 

Estate of Adams, 233 Md. App. at 14-15, and the Supreme Court of Maryland denied further 

review. 

Procedural History 

In March 2018, approximately six months after the Supreme Court of Maryland denied 

certiorari in the Estate of Adams litigation, Defendants informed their clients about the adverse 

ruling in the Tort Action and invited them to “seek separate legal counsel concerning any further 

options [they] may have as to … a potential claim against the Firm by reason of its late filing.”  

Mar. 20, 2018 letter fr. A. Weiner to C. Clark at 2, attached as Exhibit 9 (the “March 2018 

Notice”).  Thereafter, Plaintiffs filed this class action in February 2021, alleging in Count I that 

Defendants breached their duty of care to Plaintiffs and the Class when they failed to move 

timely to enforce the MCIC Settlement Agreement, and alleging in Count II that Defendants 

breached their duty of care to Plaintiffs and the Class when they failed to pursue timely claims in 

the Tort Action.  Plaintiffs later amended their complaint to add Count III, which relates to 
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Defendants’ alleged failure to challenge timely a buyback by one of MCIC’s insurers, Reliance 

Insurance Co., of the coverage it had issued to MCIC (thereby allegedly depleting the pool of 

insurance available at the time of settlement). 

The litigation that followed was exceedingly hard fought, featuring many rounds of 

dispositive motion practice and discovery motions.  In early spring of 2024, with the class 

certification hearing on the horizon, the parties engaged the Honorable Paul W. Grimm, a retired 

federal judge, to lead them through a mediation effort.  The parties convened on April 19, 2024 

for a full-day mediation session.  At the conclusion of that session, the parties reached an 

agreement in principle pursuant to which the Angelos Estate, with the consent of the Law Firm 

and with a material contribution from an insurance policy that provided coverage for the Law 

Firm, would contribute $57 million to a common fund for settlement of the class claims. 

After reaching that agreement in principle, the parties continued extensive negotiations in 

the weeks that followed, conferring regularly with Judge Grimm, and exchanging at least 

eighteen drafts of a term sheet in which virtually every material term was subject to extensive 

negotiation.  The final version of the term sheet was executed as of June 3, 2024.  Thereafter, the 

parties devoted many hours to preparing and negotiating a long-form Proposed Class Settlement 

Agreement, attached hereto as Appendix A (inclusive of exhibits to the agreement), which the 

Court preliminarily approved on August 28, 2024. 

Through this adversarial process, the parties reached a proposed agreement that is fair, 

reasonable, and adequate with respect to the interests of the Class.  Judge Grimm, drawing on his 

years of service as a federal judge who has presided over many class actions and facilitated 

numerous class settlements, has opined that “this is one of the most successful class action 

settlements that [he has] seen, providing substantial economic benefit to the entire class, while at 
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the same time benefitting the defendants significantly.”  Decl. of Paul W. Grimm (“Grimm 

Decl.”) ¶ 7, attached as Exhibit 10.  Judge Grimm added that “the proposed class settlement … 

convincingly meets all the legal criteria for preliminary and final approval, and is noteworthy for 

its fairness to all parties, but especially to the proposed plaintiffs’ class.”  Id. ¶ 8. 

The Proposed Class Settlement 

The Settlement Class 

The Proposed Class Settlement is between a Class of clients represented by named 

Plaintiffs Cynthia M. Clark, Norman J. Loverde, William J. McCarthy, Jr., and Maria M. 

McCarthy, on the one hand, and the Law Firm and the Angelos Estate, on the other hand.  As 

discussed above, the agreement was reached following years of hotly contested litigation, which 

featured comprehensive discovery (with hundreds of thousands of pages exchanged among the 

parties); dozens of often legally complex motions; and a mediation process that took months to 

complete.  During that mediation process, the parties conferred regularly in groups and in 

separate meetings with Judge Grimm in an effort to achieve a fair and reasonable outcome.  The 

Law Firm and two former defendants (attorneys with the firm who were dismissed by the named 

Plaintiffs as a condition set forth in the term sheet) were ably represented by a team of lawyers 

from Stein Sperling Bennett De Jong Driscoll PC and Thompson Hine LLP, with the input of 

William J. Murphy of Zuckerman Spaeder LLP as Conservator for the Law Firm.  The Angelos 

Estate was represented by star Baltimore litigator Ben Rosenberg and his team at Rosenberg 

Martin Greenberg, LLP, and by Daniel M. Petrocelli, Chair of the Trial Practice Committee at 

O’Melveny & Myers LLP and one of the nation’s top trial lawyers.  On the other side of the “v,” 

Plaintiffs were represented by a team at Gallagher Evelius & Jones that has advocated for their 

clients’ best interests since the inception of the class.  The powerful advocacy on all sides 
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ensured a Proposed Class Settlement that maximizes value for the Class, while reasonably 

accounting for the perils of continued litigation. 

Unlike many class settlements, in which the number and identities of participants cannot 

be ascertained until after notice and a claims administration process, here each Class Member 

can be determined with a reasonable level of detail due to lists maintained by the Law Firm.  

Each of these individuals are subject to inclusion in the approved Class because of (i) their 

inclusion on the lists of participants in the 1994 MCIC settlement and (ii) the allegation that they 

suffered identical harm due to the alleged malpractice by Defendants.  Accordingly, the parties 

have crafted a settlement agreement through which each MCIC Settlement Beneficiary (or that 

settlement beneficiary’s estate) is entitled to a pro rata share of the new settlement pool based on 

their injury categories in the underlying litigation.3  This pro rata feature of the Proposed Class 

Settlement ensures that no member receives a disproportionate share, and it mirrors the relief 

Plaintiffs would have requested at trial. 

Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the parties have proposed the following Class: 

All persons (or their estate representatives or next of kin) represented at any time 
by Defendants in connection with the Motion to Enforce and/or the Tort Action 
who are identified on the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary List and the Surviving 
Family Member List. 
 

Proposed Class Settlement Agreement (Appx. A) ¶ 4; MCIC Settlement Beneficiary List and 

Surviving Family Member List, attached as Exhibits 1 and 2, respectively, to the Proposed Class 

Settlement Agreement (Appx. A).  Excluded from the Class are (i) all directors, officers, 

employees, and shareholders of the Law Firm, and their immediate family members; (ii) all 

attorneys for Defendants in the current matter, and their immediate family members; (iii) each 

 
3  As noted below, Surviving Family Members will not receive separate payments, as the MCIC 
Settlement Agreement contemplated a single payment per family unit for each primary asbestos injury 
claimant. 
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and every judge assigned to this action and all members of those judges’ staffs, and their 

immediate family members; (iv) those persons who previously settled or whose associated MCIC 

Settlement Beneficiary previously settled legal malpractice claims against Defendants equivalent 

to any of the Claims asserted in the Case; (v) for the avoidance of doubt, all persons listed on 

exhibit 3 to the third amended complaint in the Tort Action;4 and (vi) those persons who 

affirmatively opt out of the Class.  Id. ¶ 5. 

Settlement Benefits 

The proposed agreement includes several key features, including a significant monetary 

recovery for the Class: 

• Settlement payment.  Defendants will arrange for transfer of $57,000,000 into 
a settlement fund, a portion of which will be paid by insurance and the 
balance of which will be paid by the Angelos Estate.  Id. ¶ 8.  Each MCIC 
Settlement Beneficiary who participates in the Settlement Class will be 
entitled to pro rata distributions from this settlement fund, based on that 
MCIC Settlement Beneficiary’s injury category as set forth in the 1994 MCIC 
Settlement Agreement.  Id. ¶ 11.  In gross, mesothelioma claimants (an 
estimate of 90 claimants) will be entitled to approximately $48,547.61 each; 
lung cancer claimants (an estimate of 788 claimants) will be entitled to 
approximately $21,718.67 each; other cancer claimants (an estimate of 438 
claimants) will be entitled to approximately $7,665.41 each; and non-
malignancy claimants (an estimate of 6,293 claimants) will be entitled to 
approximately $5,110.27 each.  Id. ¶ 13.  These payments will be paid out 
over five annual installments, id. ¶ 15, and will be adjusted to account for 
whatever attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses, and incentive fees the Court may 
award, as well as the costs of class administration, id. ¶ 13.  Earnings on the 
$57,000,000 settlement fund will be paid to the Angelos Estate. 
 

• Incentive payments.  The Proposed Class Settlement Agreement includes a 
provision, subject to the Court’s approval, awarding $10,000 incentive 
payments to each named Plaintiff unit, i.e., Cynthia M. Clark; Norman J. 
Loverde; and William J. McCarthy, Jr. and Maria M. McCarthy.  Id. ¶ 18.  
The incentive payments are in consideration of the named Plaintiffs’ 
substantial efforts, including in discovery, and of their valuable contributions 

 
4  The persons listed on exhibit 3 to the third amended complaint in the Tort Action were clients of the 
Law Firm who did not participate in the MCIC Settlement Agreement but alleged that they would have 
pursued claims against MCIC had they known the truth about MCIC’s operations coverage.  These 
individuals are not, and never have been, within the scope of the proposed class action here. 
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to the overall strategy in this long-running case.  Plaintiffs’ participation and 
dedication to doing right by the absent Class Members were integral to the 
pursuit of the case and the proposed settlement. 

 
• Costs of administration.  All costs of administration will be paid from the 

$57,000,000 settlement fund.  Id. ¶¶ 10(a), 20. 
 
• Attorneys’ fees and expenses.  Plaintiffs are requesting an amount equal to 

33% of the settlement fund as attorneys’ fees in this matter, together with 
reimbursement of expenses.  Concurrently with this motion, Class Counsel are 
filing separate motions for (i) approval of Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and 
expenses; (ii) the above-mentioned incentive payments; and (iii) the proposed 
cy pres awards for the disposition of settlement funds where an eligible Class 
Member opted out or cannot be located. 

 
Efforts to Locate Class Members 

 
Because Class Counsel recognize the importance of the Notice process, Class Counsel 

have invested significant time coordinating with SCS around issues pertaining to contact 

information, opt-out requests, and communications with the absent Class Members.  Class 

Counsel initiated this effort long before the Court entered its Order preliminarily approving the 

Proposed Class Settlement.  Decl. of Paul Caiola (“Caiola Decl.”) ¶ 16, attached as Appendix C.  

More recently, Tory Trocchia has spearheaded this effort.  Id. 

In mid-2023, Class Counsel determined that counsel’s fact investigation should include 

contacting absent class members to survey them on information relevant to class certification and 

the merits of the case.  Id. ¶ 17.  Using public filings from the underlying 2005 Tort Action, 

Class Counsel ascertained the names and social security numbers of all 7,185 MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiaries who received payment in 1994 (the “1994 Payee Beneficiaries,” and together with 

the personal representatives of their estates, the “1994 Payees”), as well as the names and 

addresses of the personal representatives of the estates of many of the 1994 Payee Beneficiaries.  

Id. ¶ 18. 
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For the 1994 Payee Beneficiaries for whom the public filings in the Tort Action did not 

list addresses or personal representative information, Class Counsel undertook additional efforts 

to ascertain this information.  Specifically, between March and September 2023, a group of 

Gallagher administrative assistants and paralegals conducted searches using Thompson Reuters 

PeopleMap and the Maryland Register of Wills website to determine: which 1994 Payee 

Beneficiaries were still alive; the addresses of the living 1994 Payee Beneficiaries; and the 

names and addresses of the personal representatives of the deceased 1994 Payee Beneficiaries.  

Id. ¶ 19. 

Once Class Counsel had generated a list of addresses for all 7,185 1994 Payees, counsel 

engaged Jeffrey Izes and his firm, Izes Consulting Services (together with Jeffrey Izes, “ICS”), a 

full-service call center consulting company, to “skip-trace” the data to obtain current address 

information.  Id. ¶ 20.  ICS first arranged for the data of a sample group of approximately 800 

1994 Payees to be “skip-traced” in September 2023, and later arranged for the data of the 

remaining 1994 Payees to be skip-traced in October 2023.  Id. 

Class Counsel also engaged ICS to act as a call center.  In September 2023, using the skip 

traced data, counsel mailed a letter (the “Pilot Mailing”) to a sample group of approximately 800 

1994 Payees.  Id. ¶ 21.  In this letter, counsel informed recipients of the filing of this lawsuit and 

asked them to call the ICS call center during the weeks of October 2 and October 9, 2023 if they 

were willing to provide our firm with information related to the case.  Id.  ICS received calls 

from approximately 150 1994 Payees who received the Pilot Mailing, asked callers a specified 

list of questions drafted by Class Counsel regarding their or their loved one’s exposure to 

MCIC’s asbestos products and their contact information, and shared callers’ answers to these 

questions with Class Counsel.  Id. 
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Following the Pilot Mailing, Class Counsel decided to cease using the ICS call center and 

to instead collect additional information from 1994 Payees via a written questionnaire.  Id. ¶ 22.  

In November 2023, counsel mailed a letter to all 1994 Payees who either had not received the 

Pilot Mailing or had received the Pilot Mailing but had not called the call center to answer our 

questions.  Id.  Enclosed with this Second Mailing was a copy of Plaintiffs’ Third Amended 

Class Action Complaint in this case, a questionnaire, and an authorization for release of 

information.  Id.  The letter requested that willing recipients complete the survey and 

authorization and return it to Class Counsel via mail or email.  Id. 

For 1994 Payees whose Second Mailings were returned as undeliverable and for 

addresses for which Class Counsel received reports that the intended recipient was no longer 

residing there, counsel’s legal administrative assistants used Thompson Reuters PeopleMap and 

the Maryland Register of Wills website to attempt to identify new addresses or, in the case of 

deceased 1994 Payees, the names and addresses for alternate personal representatives or 

appropriate next of kin.  Id. ¶ 23.  In cases where Class Counsel were successful in identifying 

new addresses, counsel mailed copies of the Second Mailing to those addresses.  Id.  In cases 

where counsel were unsuccessful, the addresses on record were marked as bad addresses for 

recordkeeping purposes.  Id. 

Even now, many months later, Class Counsel continue to receive occasional calls, emails, 

and completed questionnaires and authorizations in response to the Second Mailing.  Id. ¶ 24.  

Through these calls, emails, and returned questionnaires and surveys, counsel have been able to 

confirm as good the addresses for more than 1,200 Class Members.  Id. 

After Class Counsel identified SCS as Administrator, the parties provided SCS with lists 

of vetted addresses.  Id. ¶ 26.  The address list included information about which addresses had 
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been confirmed as good and which had been confirmed as bad by prior skip-tracing efforts, 

returned mail, and caller reports.  Id.  SCS skip-traced all of the addresses provided and ran them 

through the United States Postal Service National Change of Address Service to obtain current 

address information.  Id.  In cases where the Law Firm’s contact information for a Class Member 

conflicted with Gallagher’s and neither was ruled out by SCS’s address updating procedures, 

SCS sent the Notice to both sets of addresses.  Id. ¶ 26. 

In October 2024, SCS provided Class Counsel with a list of several hundred Class 

Members for whom it determined that all addresses were undeliverable.  Id. ¶ 27.  Counsel 

undertook efforts to find alternate addresses for these Class Members via Thomson Reuters 

PeopleMap and Accurint, which resulted in new addresses being identified for, and new Notices 

mailed to, 245 Class Members.  Id. 

Notice to the Class Comported with the Court’s August 28, 2024 Order and 
Maryland Rule 2-231(f) 

 
The Court’s August 28, 2024 Order Preliminarily Approving Settlement, Certifying Class 

for Settlement Purposes, and with Respect to Notice, Settlement Hearing, and Administration 

appointed Strategic Claims Services, Inc. (“SCS”) as Settlement Administrator and directed SCS 

to give Notice of the Proposed Class Settlement and the Final Approval Hearing by mailing a 

copy of the Notice substantially in the form attached as exhibit 4 to the Proposed Class 

Settlement Agreement. 

As discussed in the Declaration of Cornelia Vieira Concerning the Mailing of the Notice 

to Settlement Class Members and Report on Objections, attached as Appendix B, SCS complied 

with the Court’s directive.  As Ms. Vieira explains, in preparation for Notice mailing, SCS 

received multiple excel spreadsheets from Defendants and Class Counsel listing names, 

addresses, and expected payment subgroups corresponding to the Class Members’ disease 
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categories included in the MCIC Settlement Agreement.  Id. ¶ 4.  Based on the class lists 

received, 7,609 Class Members and 2,606 Surviving Family Members were identified to receive 

Notice.  Id.  Pursuant to the Preliminary Approval Order, on September 11, 2024, SCS caused 

the Notice to be mailed, by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the 7,609 Class Members and 

2,606 Surviving Family Members.  Id. 

In an effort to reach all Class Members and Surviving Family Members, a number of 

Notices were mailed to multiple addresses and multiple potential Personal Representatives, for a 

total of 14,161 Notices mailed as of November 7, 2024.  Id. ¶ 5.  Prior to mailing, the class data 

was “skip-traced” and run through the United States Postal Service National Change of Address 

service to obtain current address information.  Id.  Of the 14,161 Notices mailed, 1,451 were 

returned as undeliverable.  Id. ¶ 6. Of these, the United States Postal Service provided 

forwarding addresses for five, and SCS immediately mailed another Notice to the Class 

Members or Surviving Family Members at the updated addresses.  Id.  Out of the remaining 

1,446 Notices returned as undeliverable, only 458 represented Notices returned from recipients 

where only one Notice was sent or where all Notices sent to the same recipient were returned, 

and for which SCS therefore did not have a valid address on file.  Id.  Following additional 

efforts by Class Counsel to find alternate addresses via Thomson Reuters PeopleMap (as 

discussed above), SCS remailed 245 Notices on October 18, 2024 to updated addresses obtained 

by Class Counsel.  Id. 

SCS and Class Counsel recently have engaged in discussions regarding the appropriate 

process for identifying addresses for the approximately 200 payee Settlement Class Members for 

whom all known addresses have been determined to be undeliverable, as well as for any payee 

Settlement Class Members for whom SCS later determines that all addresses on file are bad.  
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Caiola Decl. (Appx. C) ¶ 28.  SCS and Class Counsel preliminarily have agreed that, in order to 

maximize the number of Settlement Class Members who receive settlement payments, SCS will 

run searches on the Maryland Register of Wills website to identify new contact information and 

addresses where possible.  Id.  The costs of this effort will be charged to the subset of Class 

Members who require additional effort to find them, rather than to the full Class.  Id. 

Administration of Settlement Benefits 

Because the identities of the MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries and Surviving Family 

Members represented by the Law Firm (and, thus, the identities of the Class Members) are 

known, the Proposed Class Settlement Agreement does not require absent Class Members to 

submit a claim form or take any other cumbersome steps to participate in the Class.  Instead, all 

MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries who did not opt out will receive payments, provided their current 

contact information can be ascertained by Plaintiffs with commercially reasonable efforts.  

Surviving Family Members will not receive separate payments, as the MCIC Settlement 

Agreement provided a single payment per family unit for each primary asbestos injury claimant. 

Finally, because Class Counsel and the Settlement Administrator may be unable to locate 

some Class Members despite reasonable efforts, settlement payments corresponding to those 

members who cannot be located will (subject to Court approval) be paid to five deserving 

organizations that serve Baltimore and the greater Mid-Atlantic region:  the University of 

Maryland Francis King Carey School of Law, to sponsor the clinical law program (23.5%); the 

University of Baltimore School of Law, to sponsor the Fannie Angelos Program for Academic 

Excellence (23.5%); Public Justice Center, Inc. (23.5%); Associated Catholic Charities Inc., for 

use by the Esperanza Center (23.5%); and Franciscan Center, Inc. d/b/a The Franciscan Center of 
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Baltimore (6%), a community soup kitchen and social services provider.  Proposed Class 

Settlement Agreement (Appx. A) ¶ 17(c) 

Any funds that cannot be delivered to the Settlement Class after one hundred twenty 

(120) calendar days following distribution of a Payment Installment will become cy pres funds.  

Id. ¶ 17(b).  If the Administrator is unable to deliver the First Annual Installment to any 

Settlement Class Member after 120 days, the remaining payments due to that MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiary under subsequent Payment Installments will automatically become cy pres funds on 

or about each installment date, unless Class Counsel or the Administrator later learn of the 

location of an MCIC Settlement Beneficiary.  Id. 

Legal Standard 

Class action settlements must be approved by the Court pursuant to Maryland Rule 

2-231.  Because Rule 2-231 is similar to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23, and given the 

limited body of Maryland case law in the class action context, Maryland courts generally rely on 

federal court decisions when analyzing class-related motions.  E.g., Philip Morris Inc. v. 

Angeletti, 358 Md. 689, 724 (2000) (“There is a dearth of authority in Maryland analyzing the 

specific requirements of Maryland Rule 2–231.  We need not consider the application of these 

requirements in a void, however, as there exists an abundance of cases from other jurisdictions, 

federal and state, that have analyzed class action rules either identical to or similar to Maryland’s 

rule.”).  Accordingly, this memorandum includes a discussion of federal law in support of 

Plaintiffs’ position. 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(e)(2) governs approval of class action settlements and 

requires a court to hold a hearing and make a finding that the class action settlement is “fair, 

reasonable, and adequate.”  The finding of fairness, reasonability, and adequacy is based on 

whether: 
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(A) the class representatives and class counsel have adequately 
represented the class; 

(B) the proposal was negotiated at arm’s length; 
(C) the relief provided for the class is adequate, taking into account: 

(i) the costs, risks, and delay of trial and appeal; 
(ii) the effectiveness of any proposed method of 

distributing relief to the class, including the method of processing 
class-member claims; 

(iii) the terms of any proposed award of attorney’s fees, 
including timing of payment; and 

(iv) any agreement required to be identified under Rule 
23(e)(3); and 

(D) the proposal treats class members equitably relative to each other. 
 

Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 23(e)(2).  In reviewing class settlements, courts often follow a two-step 

process.  First, courts look to the procedural fairness of the settlement process.  A settlement is 

procedurally fair where it features arm’s-length bargaining and an absence of collusion.  Shenker 

v. Polage, 226 Md. App. 670, 687 (2016).  The Courts consider the “extent of discovery that has 

taken place, the stage of the proceedings, the want of collusion in the settlement, and the 

experience of counsel who may have represented the plaintiffs in the negotiation.”  Id. at 687 

(citation omitted).  Second, courts will examine the substantive fairness, reasonableness, and 

adequacy of the proposed settlement.  Id. at 683–84. 

The same factors that informed the Court’s analysis at the preliminary approval stage will 

help the Court evaluate the settlement at this final approval stage.  E.g., Amador v. Baca, No. CV 

10-01649, 2019 WL 13104946, at *2 (C.D. Cal. Sept. 23, 2019). 
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Argument 

I. The Proposed Class Settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate. 

A. The Proposed Class Settlement is procedurally fair. 
 

1. Class Counsel and the Class Representatives adequately represented 
the Class, and settlement occurred only after all parties had a 
thorough understanding of the strengths and weaknesses of Plaintiffs’ 
claims and Defendants’ defenses. 

Class Counsel and the Class Representatives zealously advocated, each step of the way, 

for the rights of the absent Class Members in this hotly contested litigation.  Class Counsel 

devoted thousands of hours and millions of dollars of time value to build and litigate the case.  

Class Counsel’s efforts included: 

• Researching and drafting three lengthy complaints, and successfully avoiding 
motions to dismiss as to each; 
 

• Defeating an early motion to strike Plaintiffs’ class allegations, successfully 
moving to dismiss Defendants’ subsequent interlocutory appeal, and 
successfully resisting Defendants’ petition for a writ of certiorari to the 
Maryland Supreme Court; 

 
• Obtaining over 470,000 pages of discovery material from Defendants 

following three successful motions to compel; 
 
• Coordinating with an industry expert to analyze the Class damages and 

determine the settlement value of asbestos injury claims in the absence of 
insurance limits; and 

 
• Conducting fact investigation outreach to absent Class Members, receiving and 

reviewing more than 1,000 questionnaires from absent Class Members, and avoiding 
Defendants’ attempt to restrain that outreach through a TRO motion. 

 
Caiola Decl. (Appx. C) ¶ 14. 

At the August 28, 2024 hearing on the parties’ Consent Motion for Preliminary 

Approval of the Class Settlement (the “Preliminary Approval Hearing”), the Court found 

that this factor “weighs heavily in favor of preliminary approval”: 



20 
903290 

[T]his matter has been intensely litigated for several years. Plaintiffs have 
engaged in extensive discovery including obtaining thousands of pages of records.  
They have filed and responded to numerous motions and appeared and argued 
before this Court and before many of my colleagues on numerous occasions. The 
named plaintiffs have sat for depositions, answered interrogatories. This factor 
weighs heavily in favor of preliminary approval. 

 
Extract of Tr. of Aug. 28, 2024 Hearing on Consent Motion for Preliminary Approval 

(“Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing”) at 14:10-17, attached as Exhibit 11.   

Indeed, Class Counsel left no stone unturned in the investigation and prosecution of 

Plaintiffs’ claims.  Counsel painstakingly reviewed the Nagle and Chapper Documents and briefs 

and discovery material from the underlying proceedings.  Caiola Decl. (Appx. C) ¶ 15.  Counsel 

engaged no fewer than seven experts to assist with various aspects of the case.  Id.  Counsel 

served a total of sixty interrogatories and 158 requests for admission, and took or defended nine 

depositions.  Id.  Counsel also prepared a 46-page class certification brief and 92-page reply, the 

latter of which was filed shortly before the parties entered mediation.  By that time, “all parties 

had a clear view of the strengths and weaknesses of their respective positions, and sufficient 

information about the claims and defenses at the time they began exploring the possibility of 

settlement.”  Boyd v. Coventry Health Care Inc., 299 F.R.D. 451, 460 (D. Md. 2014). 

Moreover, although Class Counsel did not have extensive prior experience prosecuting a 

class action, counsel’s collective professional experience and skill enabled counsel to craft a 

winning strategy in this complex case.  Plaintiffs’ counsel have extensive experience with 

complex commercial litigation matters, including in cases involving insurance coverage disputes 

(subject matter that, obviously, is relevant to this case).  Caiola Decl. (Appx. C) ¶¶ 2-13.  

Members of Plaintiffs’ litigation team have participated in some of the highest profile cases in 
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the state in recent years, including a series of cases pertaining to unemployment benefits5 and a 

certified question proceeding at which the Maryland Supreme Court announced a new test for the 

application of the religious employer exemption in Maryland’s equivalent to Title VII.6   

The Class Representatives, together with Class Counsel, proudly advocated for the rights 

of the Class.  Moreover, the Class Representatives’ interests are precisely aligned with the 

interests of the absent Class Members.  Because each MCIC Settlement Beneficiary is entitled, 

under section 2.2 of the 1994 MCIC Settlement Agreement, to a pro rata share of the total sum 

of any additional insurance proceeds corresponding to the Abate I claims, each settlement 

beneficiary would have to prove the total insurance “pie” in individual litigation before 

establishing his or her individual “slice.”  The alternative to class treatment would be many trials 

for individual claimants or groups of claimants.  Class certification better serves the interests of 

the absent Class Members, whose claims may not be worth enough individually to justify the 

costs of their individual cases. 

In furtherance of their duties to the Class, named Plaintiffs Cynthia Clark, Norman 

Loverde, and William McCarthy (as the lead spokespersons for each family unit) each 

participated in the litigation and advocated for the Class’s interests.  They collected and 

produced documents, answered interrogatories, and appeared for depositions at which they 

 
5  See Ovetta Wiggins, Judge Blocks Hogan’s Plan to Pull Maryland Out of Federal Unemployment 
Program, Wash. Post (July 13, 2021, 10:37 a.m.), https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/md-
politics/maryland-unemployment-judge-hogan-injunction-/2021/07/13/81f7ed5a-e3db-11eb-8aa5-
5662858b696e_story.html; Settlement Spurs Significant Reforms to Maryland's Broken Unemployment 
System, Pub. Just. Ctr. (Dec. 16, 2022), https://www.publicjustice.org/en/news/settlement-spurs-
significant-reforms-to-marylands-broken-unemployment-system/. 
 
6  See Hugo Kugiya, Maryland Supreme Court Rules on Intent of Employment Discrimination Laws, 
Balt. Banner (Aug. 15, 2023, 10:49 p.m.), https://www.thebaltimorebanner.com/politics-power/state-
government/maryland-supreme-court-rules-state-job-protection-laws-do-not-apply-to-sexual-orientation-
65SSY65AUJH4VDYJSNWWMASZYI/. 
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expressed an appropriate understanding of the claims and, perhaps more importantly, their 

motivations for pursuing them.  Mr. McCarthy testified that he “saw the Complaint before it was 

filed and … saw the Amended Complaints before they were filed.”  Extract of Tr. of Oct. 13, 

2023 Dep. of W. McCarthy at 26:2-4, attached as Exhibit 12.  He understood that “the people 

that participated in the settlement of the MCIC case would have had more resources available to 

be part of the global settlement of that case had these insurance coverages and these insurance 

policies been included in the pool of the global settlement.”  Id. at 64:1-7.  To Mr. McCarthy, it 

was appropriate to pursue this litigation both because of his fiduciary “responsibility to pursue 

actions on behalf of the estate” and because, “thinking of Uncle Bernie and the other people, his 

peers, his colleagues, people that he worked with over the years, that have been harmed … it was 

the right thing to do.”  Id. at 55:21 – 56:5. 

Similarly, Mr. Loverde understood, upon receiving the March 2018 Notice, that 

Defendants “had tried to get the court to allow them to … file against MCI[C] because they had 

located some other insurances that weren’t disclosed, insurance policies, but that the court had 

thrown that out, and that they said that Angelos’s firm didn’t file in a timely fashion.”  Extract of 

Tr. of Nov. 15, 2023 Dep. of N. Loverde at 21:15 – 22:1, attached as Exhibit 13.  Likewise, Ms. 

Clark understood that Defendants had “lost a dispute regarding the insurance …. They said they 

disagreed with the Court’s decision and they were unable to recover any money.”  Extract of Tr. 

of Nov. 14, 2023 Dep. of C. Clark at 37:12-15, attached as Exhibit 14.  She explained: “there 

was a sum of money that should have been obtained from these insurance companies.”  Id. at 

42:11-13.  Ms. Clark understood that “there are 10,000 people affected by these mistakes and 

things that happened in this case, almost 10,000 …. I’m not the only one, along with the other 

plaintiffs who have suffered damages, a loss because of this.”  Id. at 51:13-19. 
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2. The Proposed Class Settlement was negotiated at arm’s length. 

Plaintiffs and their counsel zealously advocated on behalf of the Class, ensuring a 

procedurally fair litigation process.  The mediation and settlement process also was procedurally 

fair.  The parties’ arm’s-length negotiations and related legal work took many weeks and 

hundreds of hours of attorney time, and the parties collectively exchanged at least eighteen drafts 

of a term sheet as part of that process.  Along the way, counsel for Plaintiffs, for the Law Firm, 

and for the Angelos Estate repeatedly engaged with retired federal judge Hon. Paul Grimm as 

mediator. 

As Judge Grimm recounted in his Declaration, the settlement was negotiated by 

“superbly competent counsel who were thoroughly familiar with the background facts, having 

conducted substantial pretrial discovery.  The issues associated with class certification and the 

merits of the claims were extremely well developed, and counsel for all parties were completely 

conversant with the governing law.”  Grimm Decl. (Ex. 10) ¶ 5.  Judge Grimm observed that 

“while all counsel agreed that settlement was the desired outcome, this was a challenging and 

difficult case to settle,” with tough negotiations and “many areas of disagreement” that “had to 

be worked through.”  Id. ¶ 6.  As he worked with the parties, Judge Grimm “paid particular 

attention to the substantive terms that defined what relief the class plaintiffs would receive, the 

benefits the defendants would receive, and the proposed compensation for plaintiffs’ counsel.”  

Id. ¶ 7.  Judge Grimm concluded that the proposed settlement “convincingly meets all the legal 

criteria for both preliminary and final approval, and is noteworthy for its fairness to all parties, 

but especially to the proposed plaintiffs’ class.”  Id. ¶ 8. 

At the Preliminary Approval Hearing, the Court agreed, finding that “[t]his factor also 

weighs heavily in favor of preliminary approval” because “the proposal in this case results from 

good faith bargaining among the parties”: 
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The parties participated in an extensive mediation settlement process before the 
Honorable Paul Grimm, one of the most well-respected federal judges here in the 
State of Maryland.  The records indicates, I believe, that there were 18 drafts of a 
term sheet exchanged among the parties. This factor also weighs heavily in favor 
of preliminary approval.  
 

Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 14:19-26, 15:1-2. 

B. The Proposed Class Settlement is substantively fair. 
 

1. The relief provided for the Class is adequate. 

Apart from procedural fairness, the Court must consider whether the terms of the 

proposed settlement are substantively fair and adequate, accounting for “the likelihood of the 

plaintiff’s recovery on the merits against the amount offered in settlement.”  Shenker, 226 Md. 

App. at 688 (citation omitted).   

In doing so, the court should consider:  (1) the relative strength of the plaintiffs’ 
case on the merits, (2) the existence of any difficulties of proof or strong defenses 
the plaintiffs are likely to encounter if the case goes to trial, (3) the anticipated 
duration and expense of additional litigation, (4) the solvency of the defendants 
and the likelihood of recovery on a litigated judgment, and (5) the degree of 
opposition to the settlement. 

Id. (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).  Additional factors set forth in Federal Rule 

of Civil Procedure 23(e)(2)(C) include the effectiveness of any proposed method of distributing 

relief to the Class, and the terms and timing of payment of counsel fees.  Each of these factors 

weighs in favor of approval.  

Relative strength of Plaintiffs’ case and difficulties of proof.  While Plaintiffs believe 

they have a strong case for liability and a reasonable expert-based theory for damages, Plaintiffs 

would have faced significant obstacles had litigation proceeded.  As of the May 16, 2024 stay of 

litigation to facilitate settlement negotiations, Defendants’ three summary judgment motions 

remained pending, and Defendants also had moved to strike Plaintiffs’ principal damages expert.  

Plaintiffs suspect, had litigation proceeded, that Defendants would have maintained their 
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objection (even following class certification, in the event the Court approved a contested Class) 

to producing the contents of the Law Firm’s client database, a request that had been sought and 

denied twice in motions to compel at the pre–class certification stage.  Without that material, 

Plaintiffs may not have been in a position to prevail on their damages assessment based on the 

actual number of Angelos clients who were exposed to MCIC’s asbestos operations, which 

would have complicated Plaintiffs’ presentation at trial.  Class Counsel and the Class 

Representatives considered these challenges in determining an appropriate settlement range.  The 

$57 million settlement amount is over 60% of the base case for damages that Plaintiffs 

developed in discovery—a base case that was predicated on the unproven assumptions that 100% 

of MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries were exposed to MCIC’s asbestos operations and that 

operations coverage was available to MCIC for each year in the settlement beneficiaries’ 

exposure windows.  Since those assumptions might not have held up in light of further discovery 

and motion practice, a discount of that base case to 60% for settlement purposes is reasonable. 

Anticipated expense and duration of litigation.  Class Counsel and the Class 

Representatives also considered the likely cost of further litigation for both sides.  At the 

Preliminary Approval Hearing, the Court noted that it was “mindful of the strengths of Plaintiffs’ 

case, but also the potential difficulties they would face if this litigation moved forward, including 

the enormous costs of continued discovery, dispositive motions practice including motions 

regarding expert witnesses, trial, and appeal.”  Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 

15:11-16.  Absent settlement, further discovery disputes were a near certainty, and the parties 

also would have undertaken extensive expert discovery (including through as many as eight 

expert depositions that had not yet occurred as of the mediation).  Trial would have required two 

weeks or longer, and given the novelty of some of the issues, appellate proceedings would have 
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been likely regardless of the trial outcome.  Inevitably, counsel would have invested millions of 

dollars of additional time and litigation expenses had the case not settled—depleting much or all 

of the remaining coverage available on the $10 million liability policy responding to the case on 

behalf of Defendants.   

Solvency and likelihood of collection after judgment.  In the event that Plaintiffs were to 

prevail at trial and on appeal and secure a judgment for the Class, Plaintiffs might have 

encountered uncertainty around collection, given major events that have taken place at the Law 

Firm and in the Angelos family since this case was filed (including the death of Peter Angelos, 

the publicly announced sale of the Law Firm, and the transfer of the Angelos family’s ownership 

interest in the Baltimore Orioles to a new ownership group).  At minimum, collection potential 

would have been less straightforward under these circumstances than it would have been in a 

world in which Peter Angelos was still alive and in control of his firm. 

Degree of opposition.  Under the Proposed Class Settlement, the absent Class Members 

had a forty-five day window, following mailing of the Notice, to submit an opt-out request or a 

notice of objection pursuant to the instructions in the Notice.  See Proposed Class Settlement 

Agreement (Appx. A) ex. 4 at 14-16.  The Administrator, SCS, received a total of fourteen 

valid/timely opt-out requests, as well as two untimely opt-out requests that the parties 

nevertheless have agreed to treat as valid.  Caiola Decl. (Appx. C) ¶ 46.  Fifteen of the opt-out 

requests were from MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries, while one was from a Surviving Family 

Member.  Id.  SCS also received one valid/timely objection.  Id.  This is out a Class of 10,215 

MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries and Surviving Family Members.  Id.  That works out to a little 

over one-tenth of one percent.  Some of the opt-out requestors stated that they simply did not 
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want to go to the trouble of reopening an estate.7  Meanwhile, the sole objector, whose objection 

is attached hereto as Exhibit 15, took issue only with the incentive payments (which, at $30,000, 

represent about half of one-tenth of one percent of the $57 million settlement).  Yet, as discussed 

in the contemporaneously filed Motion for Incentive Award, the $10,000 payments are well 

within the range of what courts approve in complex class actions.  The sole objector may not 

appreciate that fact, but that is no reason for the Court not to approve a settlement that virtually 

all Class Members evidently find satisfactory. 

Effectiveness of method of distributing relief.  Since the identities of all settlement 

beneficiaries who make up the Class are known to the parties, and since their contact information 

should in most instances either be known to the Law Firm or ascertainable from public records, 

no claim process is needed in this case.  For all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries with confirmed 

addresses, SCS will issue payment beginning in or about January 2025.  Proposed Class 

Settlement Agreement (Appx. A) ¶ 15(a).  For MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries whose addresses 

are unconfirmed, SCS will take further action to attempt to confirm the addresses before issuing 

payment.  The Proposed Class Settlement Agreement allows for a 120-day window following 

distribution of a Payment Installment before funds are deemed cy pres funds, id. ¶ 17, so SCS 

should have adequate time to maximize distribution to the Settlement Class Members. 

Terms and timing of payment of counsel fees.  Concurrently with this memorandum, 

Class Counsel are filing a petition for an award of attorneys’ fees in the amount of 33% of the 

gross settlement proceeds.  Class Counsel also are requesting reimbursement of their expenses.  

The requested award mirrors the one-third fee that the Law Firm collected from its clients, many 

 
7  Because only sixteen Class Members opted out of the settlement, the termination clause in paragraph 34 
of the Proposed Class Settlement Agreement was not triggered, and accordingly the Angelos Estate has 
no ability to cancel the settlement. 
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of whom it represented in multiple asbestos injury settlements over the course of decades.  As 

further discussed in Class Counsel’s fee petition, the proposed fee will be comfortably within the 

range of fees that courts approve in high-value class actions.  Compare Decohen v. Abbasi, LLC, 

299 F.R.D. 469, 481 (D. Md. 2014) (“the majority of courts … use the percentage of recovery 

method in common fund cases”), with Muhammad v. Nat’l City Mortg., Inc., No. 2:07-0423, 

2008 WL 5377783, at *8 (S.D. W. Va. Dec. 19, 2008) (recognizing the “presumptive 

reasonableness of an attorneys’ fee equal to one-third of a recovery”), McDaniels v. Westlake 

Servs., LLC, No. ELH-11-1837, 2014 WL 556288, at *13 (D. Md. Feb. 7, 2014) (“Particularly in 

light of the complexity of the case, the risk undertaken by counsel given the chance that plaintiffs 

would not prevail, and in view of the various factors considered with respect to the 

reasonableness of the settlement, such as the time devoted to litigating and settling, 33[.3] 

percent appears to be a reasonable percentage of the recovery in this case.”), and Kruger v. 

Novant Health, Inc., No. 1:14CV208, 2016 WL 6769066, at *5 (M.D.N.C. Sept. 29, 2016) 

(collecting cases for the proposition that courts generally deem lodestar multipliers between 2 

and 4.5 reasonable and “routinely approve fee awards with higher lodestar multipliers”); see also 

Grimm Decl. (Ex. 10) ¶ 7 (“[T]he proposed attorney’s fees for counsel for the plaintiffs are fair, 

and fall squarely within the legal criteria for approval, whether judged by the difficulty of the 

case, the number of hours spent in the investigation and pretrial phase of the case, or the 

excellent result obtained.”). 

Moreover, Class Counsel’s fee will be paid out pursuant to the same distribution schedule 

as the payments to the Class, with Class Counsel receiving 33% of each payment.  See Proposed 

Class Settlement Agreement (Appx. A) ¶ 19.  This feature of the agreement adds to the fairness 

of the proposed fee arrangement. 
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2. The Proposed Class Settlement treats Class Members equitably 
relative to one another. 

As the Notice explains, the 1994 MCIC Settlement Agreement established a pro rata 

payment schedule based on injury category, with the largest group of settlement beneficiaries 

(those with non-malignant conditions) receiving $1,000, and the smallest group (those with 

mesothelioma) receiving $9,500.  See Proposed Class Settlement Agreement (Appx. A) ex. 4 at 

10-11.  The Proposed Class Settlement Agreement mirrors the structure of the 1994 agreement, 

with the net settlement proceeds divided pro rata based on the injury categories of the MCIC 

Settlement Beneficiaries as set forth in that original agreement.  This approach makes the most 

sense and is the most equitable approach to payment, because the underlying litigation involved 

efforts to enforce the Class Members’ rights in connection with the MCIC Settlement 

Agreement.  See Cymbalista v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., No. 20 CV 456 (RPK)(LB), 2021 

WL 7906584, at *9 (E.D.N.Y. May 25, 2021) (“Pro rata distribution schemes are sufficiently 

equitable ....”).  At the Preliminary Approval Hearing, the Court agreed that “the proposal treats 

class members equitably and the method of distributing relief is effective” because “[t]he MCIC 

settlement agreement and the underlying litigation entitle the beneficiaries to a pro rata share of 

additional insurance proceeds,” and “[t]he identity of all beneficiaries are known to the parties or 

obtainable through public records as they were litigants again in the underlying litigation.”  Tr. 

of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 15:17-23. 

In summary, all of the applicable settlement factors support the adequacy of the proposed 

settlement.  And, as the federal court in Maryland observed in Decohen, there is a “strong 

presumption in favor of finding a settlement fair.”  299 F.R.D. at 479 (citation omitted).  The 

Proposed Class Settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate, and the Court should approve it. 
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II. The Proposed Class Settlement Meets the Requirements of Maryland Rule 2-231(b) 
and (c)(3). 

Not only is the Proposed Class Settlement fair, reasonable, and adequate; it also satisfies 

the implicit requirements for class certification, as well as the elements set forth in Maryland 

Rule 2-231(b) and (c)(3), for purposes of judgment on the proposal. 

A. The Class meets the implicit requirements for class certification and the 
Maryland Rule 2-231(b) requirements for class certification. 

 
A class action must comply with the four prerequisites set forth in Maryland Rule 

2-231(b): (1) numerosity of members; (2) commonality of issues; (3) typicality of claims; and (4) 

adequacy of representation.  Courts have recognized “two additional criteria, often referred to as 

the ‘implicit requirements’ of class certification:  that the class be ‘definite’ or ‘ascertainable’ 

and that the class representative be a member of the class.”  1 William B. Rubenstein, Newberg 

& Rubenstein on Class Actions § 3:1 (6th ed.) (footnotes omitted) [hereinafter Newberg].8  Even 

at the contested class certification stage, Defendants did not dispute that Plaintiffs could satisfy 

ascertainability, numerosity, and commonality.  And as all parties now agree, the proposed 

Settlement Class satisfies each requirement for class certification. 

Ascertainability.  In determining whether a class is ascertainable, “[a] court must analyze 

whether the members of a proposed class are readily identifiable in the context of the class 

proceedings at issue.  The relevant inquiry is whether ‘the administrative burden of identifying 

class members in the [instant case] would render class proceedings too onerous.’”  J.O.P. v. U.S. 

Dep’t of Homeland Sec., 338 F.R.D. 33, 52 (D. Md. 2020) (alterations in original) (citations and 

emphasis omitted), appeal docketed, No. 21-1187 (4th Cir. Feb. 19, 2021).  The proposed Class 

comprises all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries (or their estate representatives or next of kin) 

 
8  Plaintiffs’ membership in the proposed Class is discussed below as part of the typicality analysis. 
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represented by Defendants in connection with the Motion to Enforce and the Tort Action, 

together with their Surviving Family Members.  Because the Class Members are identified on 

existing lists, the proposed Class satisfies the flexible ascertainability requirement.  See In re 

Marriott Int’l, Inc. Customer Data Sec. Breach Litig., 341 F.R.D. 128, 146 (D. Md. 2022) 

(“While the potential class sizes here are large and review of individual files will be required, 

Plaintiffs have adequately shown … that any review in this case is administratively feasible and 

not the kind of administrative review that would preclude ascertainability.”), vacated and 

remanded on other grounds, 78 F.4th 677 (4th Cir. 2023), class certification reinstated, 345 

F.R.D. 137 (D. Md. 2023).  At the Preliminary Approval Hearing, the Court found that “the class 

is readily ascertainable as the settlement beneficiaries were represented by the law firm and are a 

matter of public record.”  Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 16:3-6.  The 

ascertainability requirement is satisfied. 

Numerosity.  The same evidence showing that the Class is ascertainable also shows that 

the Class is sufficiently numerous to satisfy the first prerequisite in Maryland Rule 2-231(b).  As 

the Supreme Court of Maryland explained in Philip Morris, 358 Md. at 732, the numerosity 

requirement, which “helps to promote the objectives of judicial economy and access to the legal 

system,” depends on a “court’s practical judgment, given the facts of a particular case.  Plaintiffs 

need not state a number with specificity; a good faith estimate is ordinarily sufficient.”  (citations 

omitted).  Moreover, “a class consisting of hundreds, or thousands, of members is likely to 

satisfy this requirement.”  Id.; see 1 Newberg § 3:12 (“As a general guideline … a class of 40 or 

more members raises a presumption of impracticability of joinder based on numbers alone.” 

(footnotes omitted)).  As the Court found at the Preliminary Approval hearing, here, “the [C]lass 

is so numerous that joinder would be impractical as there are over 10,000 MCIC settlement 
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beneficiaries and surviving family members.”  Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 16:6-

8.  Accordingly, the numerosity requirement is satisfied. 

Commonality.  Maryland Rule 2-231(b)(2) requires, for class certification, that “there are 

questions of law or fact common to the class,” although “[t]he commonality test is more 

qualitative than quantitative, and thus, there need be only a single issue common to all members 

of the class,” 1 Newberg § 3:20.  As part of the commonality analysis, “courts must do more than 

look at the class members’ shared factual and legal question in the abstract.  What matters is how 

these questions would be answered—how the parties would go about making their case—at 

trial.”  Silver v. Greater Balt. Med. Ctr., Inc., 248 Md. App. 666, 693 (2020).  Questions are 

“‘common’ when they are ‘susceptible to generalized, class-wide proof’—when class members 

may use the same evidence to answer them.”  Id. (citations omitted). 

In Bobbitt v. Milberg LLP, 338 F.R.D. 607 (D. Ariz. 2021), a legal malpractice class 

action that was itself based on an underlying class action gone wrong, the court found 

commonality satisfied where the facts relating to the alleged malpractice were common:  

“Milberg missed the expert witness deadline, so the [underlying] class was decertified, and 

Milberg failed to notify the putative class.”  Id. at 620.  The underlying case-within-a-case also 

presented a common substantive issue, concerning the legal effect of a life insurance company’s 

failure to disclose tax redundancy in its prospectuses.  “Because commonality requires only some 

issues are the same among all class members,” the court found that this element “weighs in favor 

of class litigation.”  Id. 

In this case, by comparison, common issues abound, and material issues would be 

resolved by common proof, as Table 1 illustrates: 
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discovery in the underlying 
proceedings; expert analysis; and 
comparator evidence to establish 
claim value and block/global 
settlement practices 

Negligence theory:  What duty of care is owed by 
counterparties (including insurers) to a settlement? 

Pure legal issue to be resolved by 
the Court 

Negligence theory:  Did the insurers make false 
representations about the scope of coverage in 1994? 

Nagle and Chapper Documents, 
and other documents produced in 
discovery in the underlying 
proceedings; fact or expert 
testimony about liability insurance 
coverage during the relevant 
timeframe 

Negligence theory:  Did the insurers negligently make 
false representations? 

Chapper Documents, and other 
documents produced in discovery 
in the underlying proceedings:  
common to Subclass B 

Negligence theory:  Did the insurers intend to induce 
reliance, and did Defendants reasonably rely on the 
insurers’ representations?  

Chapper Documents, and other 
documents produced in discovery 
in the underlying proceedings; fact 
question in light of the underlying 
record 

Negligence theory:  Does Defendants’ reliance pass 
through to their clients? 

Pure legal issue to be resolved by 
the Court 

Negligence theory:  What are the Class Members’ 
damages? 

Nagle and Chapper Documents, 
and other documents produced in 
discovery in the underlying 
proceedings; expert analysis; and 
comparator evidence to establish 
claim value and block/global 
settlement practices 

Were punitive damages more likely than not in the 
underlying Tort Action? 

Fact question for trial 

To what extent are punitive damages that would have 
been recovered in the case-within-a-case recoverable in 
this action as part of the Plaintiffs’ legal malpractice 
damages? 

Legal issue to be resolved by the 
Court (with jury to make 
corresponding damage 
determination) 

What amount of pre-judgment interest, which would 
have been recovered in the case-within-a-case, may be 
compensable as legal malpractice damages? 

Legal issue to be resolved by the 
Court (with jury to make 
corresponding damage 
determination) 

What amount of post-judgment interest, which would 
have been recovered in the case-within-a-case, may be 
compensable as legal malpractice damages? 

Legal issue to be resolved by the 
Court (with jury to make 
corresponding damage 
determination) 
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Rochkind v. Stevenson, 471 Md. 1 (2020)) for 
admissibility of expert testimony? 

Table 1:  Examples of common issues in class action 

A single factual or legal issue common to a class sometimes will satisfy the commonality 

element.  1 Newberg § 3:20.  Plaintiffs have identified dozens of common questions.  At the 

Preliminary Approval Hearing, the Court found that “there are questions of law [and] fact 

common to the [C]lass including questions regarding the defendants’ breach of the duty of care 

and causation.”  Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 9-12.  The commonality 

requirement is satisfied. 

Typicality.  Before plaintiffs may serve as representatives of a class, the court must find 

that their claims “are typical of the claims of the class.”  Md. Rule 2-231(b)(3).  “The typicality 

requirement seeks to make certain that the representative parties be squarely aligned in interest 

with the class members.  It is also intended to ensure that class representatives will represent the 

best interests of class members who take a less active part in managing the litigation.”  Philip 

Morris, 358 Md. at 737 (alterations, internal quotation marks, and citations omitted).  “The test 

for typicality is not demanding.  A plaintiff’s claim is typical if it arises from the same event, 

practice, or course of conduct that gives rise to the claims of other class members and if his or 

her claims are based on the same legal theory.”  1 Newberg § 3:29 (footnotes omitted). 

As the Court found at the Preliminary Approval Hearing, here, “the claims of the named 

[P]laintiffs are typical of class claims, if not almost identical.”  Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing 

(Ex. 11) at 16:12-13.  Plaintiffs’ decedents were beneficiaries of the MCIC Settlement 

Agreement and also participants (individually or through estate representatives) in the Tort 

Action.  See Extract of List of MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries, attached as Exhibit 16; Extract of 

List of Tort Action Plaintiffs, attached as Exhibit 17.  Plaintiffs and the absent Class Members 

allegedly suffered the same harm from Defendants’ alleged late filing of the Motion to Enforce 
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and the Tort Action, and Defendants’ lack of any challenge to the allegedly collusive Reliance 

Insurance buyback.  The typicality requirement is satisfied. 

Adequacy.  Maryland Rule 2-231(b)(4) requires that “the representative parties will fairly 

and adequately protect the interests of the class.”  Although the rule only refers to “parties,” a 

“certifying court will analyze the adequacy of both the proposed class representatives and class 

counsel.”  1 Newberg § 3:52. The foregoing discussion, concerning typicality, demonstrates that 

Plaintiffs are adequate representatives, as their claims are typical of the claims of the absent 

Class Members, and as no conflicts appear to exist between Plaintiffs and the rest of the Class.  

See 1 Newberg § 3:57 (“[I]f a class representative’s claims are typical of those of the class, then 

the central component underlying the theory of representative litigation is already in place: by 

pursuing her own interests, the representative will necessarily promote the interests of absent 

class members as well.” (footnotes omitted)).  Courts applying the corresponding federal rule 

have recognized that “[a]bsent any conflicts between the interests of the representative and other 

[class members], and absent any indication that the representative will not aggressively conduct 

the litigation, fair and adequate protection of the class may be assumed.”  Fleischman v. Albany 

Med. Ctr., No. 1:06-CV-765, 2008 WL 2945993, at *3 (N.D.N.Y. July 28, 2008) (alterations 

added and in original) (citations omitted). 

Class Counsel, likewise, will adequately protect the interests of the Class.  Class Counsel 

have extensive experience with commercial litigation generally and complex insurance coverage 

disputes in particular, and are well-equipped to represent the interests of the Class in this legal 

malpractice class action in which insurance coverage issues are central in the case-within-a-case.  

See Caiola Decl. (Appx. C) ¶¶ 2-13.  Plaintiffs’ counsel zealously have advocated for the 

interests of the Class from the inception of these proceedings, devoting thousands of hours, and 
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millions of dollars of time value and hard costs, to vindicate the rights of Plaintiffs and the absent 

Class Members.  At the Preliminary Approval Hearing, the Court found that “the named 

[P]laintiffs and their counsel will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.”  Tr. of 

Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 16:15-16.  The adequacy requirement is satisfied. 

B. The Class meets the Maryland Rule 2-231(c)(3) requirements for class 
certification. 

 
Predominance.  In a case like this one, where Plaintiffs seek to litigate claims for 

damages on a class-wide basis due to the similarity of the claims, Maryland Rule 2-231(c)(3) 

imposes additional requirements of predominance and superiority.  While the threshold 

commonality inquiry involves classifying issues as common or individual, the predominance 

inquiry requires “balancing of issues involved in a case to decide which predominate.”  Silver, 

248 Md. App. at 692 (emphasis in original).  Common issues “need not be ‘dispositive of the 

action or determinative of the liability issues,’” and courts conducting a predominance inquiry 

“need only decide that common issues ‘constitute a significant part of the individual cases.’”  Id. 

at 694 (citations omitted); see id. (“A single overriding common issue may be enough to tip the 

scale in favor of certification.”). 

In this case, common questions of law and fact predominate.  The key to commonality 

(and predominance) is the pro rata distribution framework set forth in Section 2.2 of the MCIC 

Settlement Agreement: 



40 
903290 

 

Figure 1:  Extract of MCIC Settlement Agreement (Ex. 3). 

Whatever additional insurance coverage might have been available had Defendants successfully 

moved to enforce the MCIC Settlement Agreement, that additional insurance coverage would 

have been distributed pro rata among the settlement beneficiaries.   

 

. 

Because determination of any given MCIC Settlement Beneficiary’s pro rata share of 

additional insurance would require computation of the total pool that could be distributed, the 

damages analysis in this case necessarily is common and suitable for resolution on a class-wide 

basis.  See, e.g., Zwicky v. Diamond Resorts Mgmt. Inc., 343 F.R.D. 101, 124 (D. Ariz. 2022) 

(predominance satisfied where agreement provided a “uniform pro rata apportionment formula,” 

whereby each member would receive a percentage of the settlement fund based on that class 

member’s pro rata share of timeshare assessments against the class members during a particular 

period of time); In re Cablevision Consumer Litig., No. 10-CV-4992 (JS)(AKT), 2014 WL 

1330546, at *10 (E.D.N.Y. March 31, 2014) (predominance satisfied where plaintiffs alleged 

that “Terms of Service obligated Cablevision to provide a uniform pro rata credit of monthly 

subscriber fees for the disruption of [certain] Channels”). 
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Plaintiffs developed their class-wide damage methodology in collaboration with 

Christopher Makuc, an expert with decades of experience in the asbestos claims industry.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Plaintiffs have demonstrated that damages can be established on a class-wide basis.  All 

other material issues, from the proper construction of the MCIC Settlement Agreement to the 

existence of operations coverage without aggregate limits to Defendants’ alleged conduct, are 

uniform within the Class.  As the Court found, because “there are common questions of law 

[and] fact that predominate over any individual issues,” Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) 

at 16:17-18, the predominance requirement is satisfied. 

Superiority.  Unlike other requirements for class certification, the final requirement for a 

Maryland Rule 2-231(c)(3) class—superiority—specifies factors that the Court must consider: 

(A) the interest of members of the class in individually controlling the prosecution 
of separate actions, (B) the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the 
controversy already commenced by members of the class, (C) the desirability or 
undesirability of concentrating the litigation of the claims in the particular forum, 
[and] (D) the difficulties likely to be encountered in the management of a class 
action. 
 

Each of these factors is satisfied in this case.  First, because common issues predominate over 

any individual issues, the proof in separate trials would be duplicative, and the Class Members 
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arguably have little interest in controlling the prosecution of separate actions.  See Coleman ex 

rel. Bunn v. District of Columbia, 306 F.R.D. 68, 87-88 (D.D.C. 2015) (“‘If there are genuinely 

common issues, issues identical across all the claimants, issues … the accuracy of the resolution 

of which is unlikely to be enhanced by repeated proceedings, then it makes good sense, 

especially when the class is large, to resolve those issues in one fell swoop.’  In these situations, 

it is reasonable to assume that ‘the class members’ interests in individually controlling the 

prosecution or defense of separate actions’ are limited because their ‘claims may be so closely 

related to the claims of others that litigation by others will achieve their ends without the need 

for their involvement.’” (citations omitted)).  The facts that only sixteen Class Members out of a 

Class of more than 10,000 opted out, and that none of those sixteen opt-outs indicated that they 

intend to pursue separate litigation against Defendants, are further indication that the Class 

Members are not interested in controlling the litigation. 

Second, apart from this class action, only two other cases have been filed making similar 

allegations—Estate of Roche v. Doe Atty 1, No. C-03-CV-19-005012 (Balt. Cty. Cir. Ct.), a case 

brought by one family that settled shortly after filing; and Estate of Cheatom v. Angelos, No. 

24-C-21-001240 (Balt. City Cir. Ct.), a case litigated on behalf of a handful of estates managed 

by a single estate representative that resolved in 2022.  “[M]any courts have held that a complete 

lack of other litigation concerning the matter at hand supports the conclusion that a class action 

would be superior to individual litigation,” and the “presence of a few other suits does not 

undercut that conclusion as the filing of but a few cases indicates that a minute percentage of the 

class has an interest in individual litigation.”  2 Newberg § 4:70 (footnotes omitted). 

Third, there is no better forum for litigating Plaintiffs’ claims than the Circuit Court for 

Baltimore City—the same court where Abate I was litigated more than thirty years ago; where 
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the Motion to Enforce and the Tort Action were litigated; and where the overwhelming majority 

of asbestos cases in Maryland and, indeed, a large share of such cases nationwide, likewise have 

been litigated.  See Michelle Potter & Megan Shockley, Baltimore City, MD:  A Jurisdiction in 

the Asbestos Litigation Unlike Any Other, KCIC (Jan. 6, 2020), https://www.kcic.com/trending

/feed/baltimore-city-md-a-jurisdiction-in-the-asbestos-litigation-unlike-any-other/. 

Fourth, while the elements of legal malpractice and the underlying tort and contract 

claims may not be difficult for the Court to manage in a class action, serial trials would be 

cumbersome and potentially wasteful.  Because Section 2.2 of the MCIC Settlement Agreement 

requires all additional insurance proceeds to be distributed pro rata within the Class of 

settlement beneficiaries, there is no efficient way for a court, while remaining faithful to the text 

of the MCIC Settlement Agreement, to allow an individual damage methodology that does not 

involve proof of the full damage “pie”.  Yet separate efforts by individual plaintiffs to prove up 

the total pool of additional insurance proceeds or tort damages would be resource-intensive and 

expensive and would result in cumulative evidence and, potentially, inconsistent findings from 

case to case. 

Finally, because Defendants’ 2004-05 malpractice coverage (the only coverage year for 

which a carrier stepped up to provide a defense) is limited to a $10 million “wasting” policy, 

where defense costs deplete coverage, even a handful of cases would severely erode that 

coverage.  See Declarations Page, Lawyers Prof’l Liab. Policy, attached as Exhibit 18 (“THE 

LIMIT OF LIABILITY AVAILABLE TO PAY DAMAGES OR SETTLEMENTS SHALL BE 

REDUCED AND MAY BE EXHAUSTED BY ANY PAYMENT OF ‘DEFENSE 

EXPENSES.’”).  Indeed, nearly half of the proceeds of that policy were spent down as of the 

mediation, principally in connection with the defense of this action.  Class certification will 
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avoid depletion of limited insurance in favor of claimants who race to the courthouse, and will 

ensure that all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries receive a fair share.  As the Court found at the 

Preliminary Approval Hearing, “the class action is superior to any other available method of fair 

and efficient adjudication of this controversy, taking into account all the factors set forth in 

[Maryland Rule 2-231(c)(3)].”  Tr. of Prelim. Approval Hearing (Ex. 11) at 16:19-22. 

Conclusion 

The Court should grant final approval of the Proposed Class Settlement and enter the 

attached Final Judgment Approving Settlement and Certifying Settlement Class.  A proposed 

Final Judgement Approving Settlement and Certifying Settlement Class is attached.  Assuming 

the Court grants this motion, Plaintiffs would appreciate the Court entering the attached Order on 

the date of the hearing. 
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GALLAGHER EVELIUS & JONES LLP 
 

       /s/ Joe Dugan    
Paul S. Caiola (AIS # 9512120109) 
Brian T. Tucker (AIS # 0306180261) 
Joe Dugan (AIS # 1812110109) 
Sarah R. Simmons (AIS # 1912180151) 
Tory S. Trocchia (AIS # 2211290231) 
218 North Charles Street, Suite 400 
Baltimore MD 21201 
Telephone:  410-727-7702 
Facsimile:  410-468-2786 
pcaiola@gejlaw.com 
btucker@gejlaw.com 
jdugan@gejlaw.com 
ssimmons@gejlaw.com 
ttrocchia@gejlaw.com 
Class Counsel 

Date:  November 12, 2024 
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AN IMPORTANT MESSAGE FROM  

GALLAGHER EVELIUS & JONES LLP,  

THE LAW OFFICES OF PETER G. ANGELOS, P.C., AND  

THE ESTATE OF PETER G. ANGELOS 

 

September 11, 2024 

 

Mail ID: [addressID] 

[addressname1] 

[addressname2] [addressname3] 

[addressCareOf] 

[addresspart1] [addresspart2] 

[addresscity], [addressState] [addresszip] 

 

 

Re: Proposed class action settlement    

 

Dear [addressname1]: 

 

If you are receiving this packet of information, you or your family member (or a person 

whose estate you represent) has been identified as a member of a class of clients of The Law 

Offices of Peter G. Angelos, P.C., with the right to participate in a class action settlement.  The 

Court in Cynthia M. Clark ex rel. Estates of Walter F. Kacala & Helen M. Kacala, et al. v. Peter 

G. Angelos, et al., No. 24-C-21-000847 (Balt. City Cir. Ct.), has certified a class in a case 

involving allegations of legal malpractice in connection with a 1994 settlement agreement with 

Baltimore-based asbestos installer MCIC, Inc. and its insurers.  The Court also has preliminarily 

approved a class settlement, which will entitle eligible participants to receive thousands of 

dollars, depending on their injury category in that 1994 settlement. 

 

Although the Angelos Firm and the Estate of the late Peter G. Angelos deny liability, 

they have determined that a class settlement is an appropriate outcome of this litigation, as the 

settlement recognizes Peter Angelos’s legendary devotion to his clients and his determination to 

achieve the best possible outcomes for the thousands of workers he represented who were 

impacted by exposure to asbestos.  Gallagher Evelius & Jones LLP, the law firm that has 

represented the lead plaintiffs and that will serve as class counsel, also has determined that the 

proposed settlement is fair and reasonable and will benefit thousands of class members. 

 

Please review the enclosed materials carefully.  These materials explain how much 

money you or your eligible family member may receive and the timing of those payments.  The 

materials also explain your right to opt out of the proposed settlement if you so desire, but we 

strongly urge you not to opt out.  All lawyers involved in the litigation believe the proposed 

settlement is the best way to ensure that you or your family receive adequate compensation for 

the claims asserted in the class action.  If you were to opt out, the cost of individual litigation 

easily could exceed the value of any recovery, and you might encounter obstacles such as a time 

bar due to the statute of limitations. 

 

Be assured that by participating in the class settlement, you run no risk of losing any ongoing 

representation by the Angelos Firm.  The Firm and its lawyers are pleased to have reached a fair 

and reasonable resolution of this dispute. 
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SENT BY ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 

FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

 

If you or your loved one was represented by The Law 

Offices of Peter G. Angelos, P.C. in connection with a 1994 

settlement agreement with MCIC, Inc. (McCormick 

Asbestos Company), you could be part of a class action 

settlement. 

 
The Circuit Court for Baltimore City authorized this Notice. 

This is not a solicitation from a lawyer. 

 

• Through a proposed class action settlement, several individuals1 (the “Class 

Representatives” or “Plaintiffs”2), on the one hand, and the Estate of Peter G. Angelos, 

through its duly appointed personal representative (the “Angelos Estate”), and The Law 

Offices of Peter G. Angelos, P.C. (the “Angelos Law Firm”) (collectively, “Defendants,” 

and together with Plaintiffs, the “Parties”), on the other hand, have agreed to settle a class 

action lawsuit. 

• The lawsuit resolved by the Class Settlement is Cynthia M. Clark ex rel. Estates of 

Walter F. Kacala & Helen M. Kacala, et al. v. Peter G. Angelos, et al., Case No. 24-C-21-

000847 (the “Case”), pending in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City (the “Court”). 

• In the Case, the Class Representatives alleged that Defendants committed legal 

malpractice when they failed to pursue claims timely against MCIC, Inc. (“MCIC”) and 

certain of its insurers, thereby costing the beneficiaries of a 1994 settlement with MCIC 

millions of dollars in additional insurance proceeds that they likely would have recovered 

but for the malpractice. 

• Defendants deny Plaintiffs’ allegations but have agreed to the Class Settlement to avoid 

the cost and uncertainty of litigation.  Defendants have agreed to pay a combined total of 

$57 million into a Qualified Settlement Fund, which will be distributed in gross to 

eligible Settlement Class Members in five annual installments following final approval of 

the Class Settlement by the Court.  There are more than 7,000 MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiaries in the Class who may receive payments under the Settlement Agreement. 

 
1  The Class Representatives are: Cynthia M. Clark, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Walter F. 

Kacala and Helen M. Kacala; Norman J. Loverde, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Stephen J. 

Loverde, Sr. and Mary Anna Loverde; and Maria M. McCarthy and William J. McCarthy, Jr., as personal 

representatives of the Estate of Anne Major and successor personal representatives of the Estate of Bernard L. 

Major. 

 
2  Capitalized terms not defined in this Notice are defined in the Settlement Agreement, a copy of which can be 

found at www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com. 
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• The Class Settlement also provides that the Settlement Class is releasing Defendants, as 

well as Former Defendants Gary J. Ignatowski and Armand J. Volta, Jr., from all Claims 

that the Class Representatives brought or could have brought in the Case relating to the 

MCIC Settlement Agreement.  The Release is Paragraph 41 of the Settlement Agreement, 

which is posted on www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com. 

• Court-appointed lawyers for the Class also will ask the Court to approve an attorneys’ fee 

award equal to 33% of the Qualified Settlement Fund plus out-of-pocket litigation 

expenses for investigating the facts, litigating the Case, and negotiating the Class 

Settlement; and the three Class Representative families will ask the Court to approve an 

incentive payment of $10,000 each in consideration of their representation of the Class in 

this Case. 

• The two sides disagree on whether Plaintiffs would have won; or how much, if any, 

money could have been won if the Case had proceeded to trial. 

• Details of the background of the Case against Defendants, as well as specifics regarding 

the proposed Class Settlement, can be found at www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com. 

• Your legal rights are affected whether you act or don’t act.  Read this Notice carefully.  

Here are your choices: 

DO NOTHING 

 

If you do nothing, you will remain a member of the Class, and 

you or the appropriate representative of an MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiary will receive payments from the Qualified 

Settlement Fund.  You will give up your right to separately 

pursue Defendants and Former Defendants for the claims raised 

in this Case or for other claims relating to the subject matter of 

the Case. 

OPT OUT 

 

Get no settlement benefits.  This is the only option that may 

allow you to file your own lawsuit against Defendants and/or 

Former Defendants for the legal malpractice claims in this 

Case.  You may have very little time to act before any 

remaining claims expire due to the statute of limitations. 

OBJECT 

 

Write to the Court about why you don’t like the Class 

Settlement. 

ATTEND A HEARING 

 

Ask to speak in open court about the fairness of the Class 

Settlement.  
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• These rights and options—and the deadlines to exercise them—are explained in this 

Notice. 

• The Court in charge of this case still has to decide whether to approve the Class 

Settlement.  Payments will be made to the Settlement Class if the Court approves the 

Class Settlement and after any appeals are resolved.  Please be patient. 

• Any questions?  Read on, call the Settlement Administrator at 1-866-274-4004, or visit 

the official website for this Class Settlement: www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com.  

In responding to inquiries, the Administrator (who is not an attorney) will not be deemed 

to be providing legal advice or entering into an attorney-client relationship with the 

inquirer. 

• Please note that, as of the mailing of this Notice, the Court expects to hold the final 

hearing on the fairness of the Class Settlement via Zoom.  HOWEVER, the Court may 

decide to hold the final hearing at the Baltimore City Circuit Court’s Mitchell 

Courthouse, or some other location.  Please check the website 

www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com frequently for updates and additional 

information. 
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BASIC INFORMATION 

1. Why did I get this Notice? 

Defendants’ records show that you were—or someone in your family, someone whose estate you 

represent, or someone for whom you are next of kin was—a beneficiary of the 1994 MCIC 

Settlement Agreement between MCIC and a number of its insurers, on the one hand, and the 

Angelos Law Firm and several other firms, on the other hand; and that attorneys from the 

Angelos Law Firm represented you in pursuing claims against MCIC. 

The Court authorized this Notice because you have a right to know about a proposed settlement 

of a class action lawsuit, and about all of your options, before the Court decides whether to 

approve the Class Settlement.  If the Court approves the Class Settlement, the Administrator 

appointed by the Court will provide the benefits that the Class Settlement allows. 

This Notice explains the lawsuit, the Class Settlement, your legal rights, what benefits are 

available, who is eligible for them, and how to get them. 

The Court in charge of the Case is the Circuit Court for Baltimore City.  The Honorable John S. 

Nugent is overseeing this Class Settlement.  The asbestos victims who sued in this Case are 

called the Plaintiffs, and the lawyer and law firm that they sued—the Angelos Estate and the 

Angelos Law Firm—are called the Defendants. 

2. What is this Case about? 

In 1994, the Angelos Law Firm reached a settlement agreement with a Baltimore-based asbestos 

installer named MCIC, Inc. (formerly known as McCormick Asbestos Company) and its 

insurers, settling thousands of its clients’ asbestos injury claims against MCIC for between 

$1,000 and $9,500 each (depending on the progress of disease at that time).  In the MCIC 

Settlement Agreement, MCIC and its insurers agreed that the settlement was for all available 

insurance, and they promised that if any additional insurance was discovered that was applicable 

to the settlement beneficiaries’ claims, they would arrange to distribute that additional insurance 

to the beneficiaries on a pro rata basis. 

Some time during or before 1998, Defendants discovered that there was, in fact, substantial 

additional insurance applicable to the claims.  Defendants demanded that MCIC and its insurers 

honor their agreement to distribute that additional insurance, and when they failed to do so, 

Defendants brought two actions in court in Maryland—a Motion to Enforce the MCIC 

Settlement Agreement filed in 2002, and a Tort Action filed in 2005.  Unfortunately, the 

Maryland courts determined that Defendants had waited too long to bring these actions, and both 

actions were dismissed as time barred. 

This Case alleges the following three claims for legal malpractice against all Defendants:  

1. In Count I, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants did not move timely to enforce their rights 

and the rights of thousands of similarly situated Angelos Law Firm clients under the 

MCIC Settlement Agreement.   
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2. In Count II, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants did not pursue timely fraud and negligent 

misrepresentation claims on behalf of Plaintiffs and thousands of similarly situated 

Angelos Law Firm clients against MCIC and its insurers. 

 

3. In Count III, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants failed to challenge a buyback by Reliance 

Insurance Co., prior to the 1994 settlement, of insurance coverage it had issued to MCIC, 

thereby depleting the pool of coverage for the settling claimants. 

Defendants deny that they committed legal malpractice. 

Additional information about the Case is available in the Court files, which are kept at the clerk’s 

office for the Circuit Court of Baltimore City, located at 111 North Calvert Street, Room 412, 

Baltimore, Maryland 21202.  You may view any unsealed records in person at the clerk’s office 

by providing the clerk with the Case number (24-C-21-000847) and requesting to view the Case 

records.  You may also request a copy of unsealed documents in the file.  There is a fee for 

copies. 

3. Why is this a class action? 

In a class action lawsuit, one or more people called “class representatives” or “named plaintiffs” 

sue on behalf of other people who have similar claims.   

The Class Representatives in this case are: Cynthia M. Clark, as successor personal 

representative of the Estates of Walter F. Kacala and Helen M. Kacala; Norman J. Loverde, as 

successor personal representative of the Estates of Stephen J. Loverde, Sr. and Mary Anna 

Loverde; and Maria M. McCarthy and William J. McCarthy, Jr., as personal representatives of 

the Estate of Anne Major and successor personal representatives of the Estate of Bernard L. 

Major. 

Together, the Class Representatives and the MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries and Surviving 

Family Members they represent are a “Class” or “Class Members.”  One court resolves the issues 

for everyone in the Class—except for those people who choose to opt out of the Class. 

In order for a case to proceed as a class action, the court overseeing the case must “certify” the 

class—i.e., the court must rule that the case can proceed as a class action, rather than as many 

individual cases or as one case with many plaintiffs.  There are many factors a court must 

consider when determining whether or not a class should be certified.   

At the time the Parties agreed to the proposed Class Settlement in this Case, the Court had not 

yet certified the Class.  However, the Court now has conditionally certified the Class for 

purposes of the Class Settlement.  If the Class Settlement is not ultimately given final approval 

by the Court, the conditional certification will no longer stand, and the Parties will have to 

litigate whether the Class should be certified in this Case. 
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4. Why is there a Class Settlement? 

The Court did not decide in favor of Plaintiffs or Defendants.  The Class Representatives think 

the Class could have recovered a substantial amount if the Class won at trial.  The Defendants 

think they would have prevailed in the Case.  But there was no trial.  Instead, both sides agreed 

to a Class Settlement.  That way, they avoid the cost and uncertainty of a trial, and the people 

affected will get compensation.  The Class Representatives and Class Counsel think the Class 

Settlement is best for all Class Members. 

 

 

WHO IS IN THE CLASS SETTLEMENT? 

5. How do I know if I am part of the Class Settlement? 

The Circuit Court for Baltimore City has decided for purposes of the proposed Class Settlement 

that everyone who fits this description is a Class Member: 

All persons (or their estate representatives or next of kin) represented at any time by 

Defendants in connection with the Motion to Enforce and/or the Tort Action who are 

identified on the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary List and the Surviving Family Member 

List. 

“MCIC Settlement Beneficiary” means an individual listed on the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary 

List, or such a person’s estate representative.  “Surviving Family Member” means an individual 

listed on the Surviving Family Member List, or such a person’s estate representative.   

Both the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary List and the Surviving Family Member List are attached 

to the Settlement Agreement, which can be found at www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com. 

If you are the recipient listed on this Notice, Class Counsel have determined that you fit the Class 

Member description and therefore are a Class Member, subject to the exclusions listed below. 

6. Are there exceptions to being included? 

Yes.  Excluded from the Class are: 

 

a. All directors, officers, employees, and shareholders of the Angelos Law Firm, and 

their immediate family members; 

 

b. All attorneys for the Defendants in the current matter, and their immediate family 

members;  

 

c. Each and every judge assigned to this action and members of those judges’ staffs, and 

their immediate family members; 

 

d. Those persons who previously settled or whose associated MCIC Settlement 
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Beneficiary previously settled legal malpractice claims against Defendants equivalent 

to any of the Claims asserted in the Case; 

 

e. For the avoidance of doubt, all persons listed on exhibit 3 to the third amended 

complaint in the Tort Action (a list of persons who did not participate in the MCIC 

Settlement Agreement, which is available for viewing at 

www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com); and 

 

f. Those persons who affirmatively opt out of the Class. 

 

7. I am still not sure if I am included. 

If you are not sure whether you are included, you can ask for free help.  You can call 1-866-274-

4004 or visit www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com for more information.  In responding to 

inquiries, the Administrator, who is not an attorney, will not be deemed to be providing legal 

advice or entering into an attorney-client relationship with the inquirer. 

 

 

THE SETTLEMENT BENEFITS—WHAT YOU GET 

8. What does the Class Settlement provide? 

Defendants have agreed to pay a total of $57 million (the “Settlement Payment”) to the Class.  

This money will be paid into a Qualified Settlement Fund and then distributed in gross to certain 

of the Settlement Class Members in five annual installments, following final approval of the 

Class Settlement by the Court.   

A. Which Settlement Class Members will receive payment? 

Every Settlement Class Member’s family is eligible to receive payments from the Qualified 

Settlement Fund, but not every individual Settlement Class Member is eligible to receive 

payments. 

 

Every Settlement Class Member is either an MCIC Settlement Beneficiary or a Surviving Family 

Member of an MCIC Settlement Beneficiary (or an estate representative of the foregoing). 

 

Only MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries are eligible to receive payments from the Qualified 

Settlement Fund.  If you are a Surviving Family Member, you personally will not be the member 

of your family who receives the settlement checks.  However, so long as the MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiary with whom you are associated does not opt out of the Class Settlement, your family 

will be compensated. 

 

B. Why are Surviving Family Members not eligible for their own payment? 

Surviving Family Members are not eligible for separate payment because the MCIC Settlement 

Agreement provided payment for principal asbestos victims only, and not for family members 
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who released derivative claims such as loss of consortium and wrongful death in consideration of 

an MCIC Settlement Beneficiary’s payment. 

 

C. The MCIC Settlement Beneficiary’s Expected Payment Subgroup 

For the purposes of receiving a share of the Settlement Payment, MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries 

will be divided into the following four subgroups, corresponding to the disease categories 

included in the MCIC Settlement Agreement: 

 

• Subgroup A includes all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries who participated in the 1994 

settlement as a result of their non-malignant condition (e.g., asbestos lung disease). 

• Subgroup B includes all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries who participated in the 1994 

settlement as a result of their cancer other than lung cancer. 

• Subgroup C includes all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries who participated in the 1994 

settlement as a result of their lung cancer. 

• Subgroup D includes all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries who were participated in the 

1994 settlement as a result of their mesothelioma. 

According to Defendants’ records, the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary with whom you are 

associated is identified as a member of Subgroup [insert subgroup letter], for purposes of 

receiving payments from the Settlement Fund. 

 

This is because Defendants’ records show that the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary in your family 

was an MCIC Settlement Beneficiary as a result of [insert disease category]. 

 

We understand that the asbestos disease from which the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary suffered 

may have progressed since the time of the 1994 MCIC Settlement Agreement.  However, that is 

not relevant for purposes of this Class Settlement.  MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries are eligible 

for payments based on their disease category at the time of the MCIC Settlement Agreement.  

That is what the MCIC Settlement Agreement requires. 

D. Approximate Payment to Each MCIC Settlement Beneficiary 

Every MCIC Settlement Beneficiary within each Subgroup will receive a pro rata share of the 

Settlement Payment based on their injury category at the time of the MCIC Settlement 

Agreement.  MCIC and its insurers paid the following amounts to the beneficiaries of the MCIC 

Settlement Agreement, based on disease category: 

 

Disease Category per MCIC 

Settlement Agreement 

1994 Payment 

per Case 

Non-Malignancies (e.g., asbestos lung 

disease) 

$1,000.00 

Other Cancers $1,500.00 

Lung Cancer $4,250.00 

Mesothelioma $9,500.00 
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In addition to what they received in 1994, and based on the pro rata schedule established in the 

MCIC Settlement Agreement, each MCIC Settlement Beneficiary can expect to receive 

approximately the following amounts, which are net of attorneys’ fees and expenses that the 

Court will be asked to approve, administrative costs, and incentive fees to the Class 

Representatives: 

 

Disease Category per MCIC 

Settlement Agreement 

Subgroup in this 

Class Settlement 

Total Class Settlement Payment 

per Settlement Class Member 

Non-Malignancies (e.g., 

asbestos lung disease) 

A $3,340.51  

Other Cancer B $5,010.76  

Lung Cancers C $14,197.15  

Mesothelioma D $31,734.80  

 

These amounts will be divided into five annual Payment Installments, the first of which is 

largest.  Thus, each MCIC Settlement Beneficiary can expect to receive five payments in total, 

in approximately the following amounts: 

 

Subgroup Payment 1 Payment 2 Payment 3 Payment 4 Payment 5 

A $846.71  $623.45  $623.45 $623.45  $623.45  

B $1,270.04  $935.18 $935.18  $935.18  $935.18  

C $3,598.43  $2,649.68  $2,649.68  $2,649.68  $2,649.68  

D $8,043.56  $5,922.81  $5,922.81  $5,922.81  $5,922.81  

 

These amounts are estimates only.  Because some Class Members may opt out of the Class 

Settlement, and because the costs of administration are not yet final, these dollar amounts may be 

adjusted up or down. 

 

E. Additional Amounts to be Paid from the Settlement Fund 

The following costs and expenses will also be paid from the $57 million Qualified Settlement 

Fund: 

 

I. Counsel Fees and Expenses 

Class Counsel have prosecuted the Case for more than three years without receiving any 

attorneys’ fees, and without any assurance of receiving attorneys’ fees, and also have advanced 

all of the costs necessary to prosecute the Case.  In these circumstances, Class Counsel will ask 

the Court to award them 33% of the gross Qualified Settlement Fund as attorneys’ fees, plus 

reimbursement of out-of-pocket costs.  The requested fee award is typical of many cases in 

which plaintiffs’ firms represent their clients on a contingency basis.  Counsel fees and expenses 

are subject to Court approval. 
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II. Payment of Administrative Costs of the Class Settlement 

All costs associated with the administration of the Class Settlement will be paid from the 

Qualified Settlement Fund.  Given the thousands of members of the Class, and the cost, in some 

instances, associated with locating members with whom the Angelos Law Firm has not 

communicated recently, the Settlement Administration Expenses are estimated to total at least 

$500,000. 

 

III. Incentive Payment for Class Representatives 

Class Counsel will seek an incentive payment of $10,000 for each of the three Class 

Representatives—Ms. Clark, Mr. Loverde, and the McCarthys—to compensate them for the 

substantial time they devoted to the pursuit of this Case.  The incentive payments ($30,000 in the 

aggregate) will be funded from the Qualified Settlement Fund and will be paid in five equal 

installments over the course of five years.  The incentive payments are subject to Court approval. 

 

F. Remaining Funds / Cy Pres 

The Settlement Agreement recognizes and accounts for the possibility that some Settlement 

Class Members cannot be located or have died, and therefore there may be some money 

remaining in the Qualified Settlement Fund each year after all Settlement Class Members who 

can be located are paid.  If any money is remaining in the Qualified Settlement Fund in a given 

year following that year’s payment to all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries in the Settlement Class, 

then the balance will be paid into a Cy Pres Fund that will distribute monies annually to not-for-

profit organizations that serve the greater Baltimore community where many of the MCIC 

Settlement Beneficiaries and Surviving Family Members once lived or still live today. 

 

With the approval of the Court, the Cy Pres Fund will be donated on an annual basis to the 

following entities, in the following percentages: 

 

(a) 23.5% to the University of Maryland Francis King Carey School of Law for purposes of 

sponsoring the clinical law program (which provides law students with hands-on 

experience in a variety of crucial legal fields);  

(b) 23.5% to the University of Baltimore School of Law for purposes of sponsoring the 

Fannie Angelos Program for Academic Excellence, which serves underrepresented 

student populations;  

(c) 23.5% to Public Justice Center, Inc., which advocates on behalf of social justice causes;  

(d) 23.5% to Associated Catholic Charities Inc., for use by the Esperanza Center (an 

immigration law clinic); and  

(e) 6% to Franciscan Center, Inc., which provides free meals and other services to 

Baltimoreans in need. 
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9. How many Settlement Checks will my family receive? 

The MCIC Settlement Beneficiary in your family will receive five Settlement Checks: one per 

year for five years, beginning after the Class Settlement is approved by the Court. 

 

10. After the Court approves the Class Settlement, will I forfeit pending 

asbestos claims I have asserted against MCIC because my asbestos 

injury worsened after 1994? 

No.  This Class Settlement will have no effect on any claims you may have against MCIC based 

on an asbestos injury you contracted or that worsened after 1994. 

 

11. If I participate in the Class Settlement, will the Angelos Law Firm still 

represent me with respect to asbestos claims asserted against companies 

other than MCIC?  

Yes.  The parties have agreed that your participation in this Class Settlement will not impact any 

ongoing legal representation you have with the Angelos Law Firm. 

 

 

HOW YOU RECEIVE A SETTLEMENT CHECK 

12. Do I need to file a claim? 

No.  Because our records reflect that you are a member of the Class, you or the MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiary with whom you are associated will receive payments from the Settlement Fund after 

the Court considers and approves the Settlement, unless the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary with 

whom you are associated opts out of the Class. 

 

The Court will hold a hearing on November 22, 2024, to decide whether to approve the Class 

Settlement.  If the Court approves the Class Settlement after that, and there are no appeals, all 

MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries who do not opt out will be sent their first annual settlement 

check by the Settlement Administrator within sixty days of the Court’s approval, and further 

settlement checks each of the four years thereafter. 

 

13. What am I giving up by staying in the Class? 

Unless you opt out of the Class, you will be a member of the Settlement Class, and that means 

that you can’t sue, continue to sue, or be part of any other lawsuit against Defendants or Former 

Defendants concerning any transactions, claims, or matters concerning MCIC, the MCIC 

settlement, operations coverage with respect to MCIC or its insurance, or the Claims.  In the 

Settlement Agreement, “Claims” means the causes of action asserted by Class Representatives in 

the operative Third Amended Class Action Complaint in the Case, or that could have been 

asserted by Plaintiffs relating to the subject matter thereof.  Staying in the Class also means that 

all of the Court’s Orders will apply to you and legally bind you. 
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If you have a pending lawsuit against any of the Defendants or Former Defendants for legal 

malpractice related to the 1994 MCIC Settlement Agreement, speak to your lawyer in that case 

immediately.  In order to continue your own lawsuit, you must opt out of this Class within 45 

days of this Notice, as described below.  

 

 

OPTING OUT OF THE CLASS SETTLEMENT 

If you don’t want to be part of this Class Settlement because you want to maintain your right to 

sue or continue to file your own lawsuit against any or all of the Defendants or Former 

Defendants concerning the legal issues in this Case, then you must take steps to opt out. 

 

14. How do I opt out of the Class Settlement? 

To opt out of the Class Settlement, you must complete the form entitled “Request to Opt Out of 

the Settlement Class”, a copy of which is available by visiting 

www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com.  You must complete the form in its entirety, sign it 

where indicated, and send it by certified mail, return receipt requested, so that it is received no 

later than 45 calendar days from the date of this Notice by the Administrator at the following 

address: 

 

Angelos Settlement 

c/o Strategic Claims Services 

P.O. Box 230 

600 N. Jackson Street, Suite 205 

Media, PA 19063 

 

You may not opt out of the Settlement by phone or email. You must send the opt-out form to 

the Administrator by certified mail to opt out of the Class Settlement. If you have any questions 

about the opt-out form, please call the Administrator toll-free at 1-866-274-4004 or visit 

www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com.  In responding to inquiries, the Administrator, who is 

not an attorney, will not be deemed to be providing legal advice or entering into an attorney-

client relationship with the inquirer. 

 

15. If I opt out, can I get benefits from this Class Settlement? 

No.  If you opt out, you cannot be part of this Class Settlement.  You will not be eligible for any 

payments from the Qualified Settlement Fund, and you cannot object to the Class Settlement.  

You will not be legally bound by anything that happens in this Case.   

 

If you opt out, you may sue, continue to sue, or be part of a different lawsuit against any or all of 

the Defendants or Former Defendants about the legal issues in this Case in the future.  You will 

assume the risk of failure of any such litigation, which may quickly become time-barred (if it is 

not already time-barred) due to the statute of limitations.  You may wish to consult with 

independent counsel before opting out of this Class Settlement. 

 

http://www.legalmalpracticeclassaction.com/
http://www.legalmalpracticeclassaction.com/
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16. If I don’t opt out, can I sue any or all of the Defendants for the same 

thing later? 

No.  See Question 13, above. 

 

 

THE LAWYERS REPRESENTING YOU 

17. Do I have a lawyer in this case? 

The Court decided that the law firm of Gallagher Evelius & Jones LLP (“GEJ”) in Baltimore, 

Maryland will represent you and all Settlement Class Members in this Case.  The Court 

appointed GEJ attorneys Paul S. Caiola, Joe Dugan, Brian T. Tucker, Sarah R. Simmons, and 

Tory S. Trocchia as Class Counsel.  More information about the law firm, its practice, the 

attorneys serving as Class Counsel, and their experience is available at 

www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com. 

 

If you want to be represented by your own lawyer, you may hire one at your own expense.  You 

may enter an appearance in the case through that attorney, if you so desire.  The cost of 

engaging private counsel and pursuing your individual claims outside this class action is 

likely to exceed the value of those claims. 

 

18. How will the lawyers be paid? 

Class Counsel will ask the Court to approve a payment for legal fees equal to 33% of the 

Qualified Settlement Fund, as well as payment of the litigation expenses Class Counsel incurred 

to prosecute the Case.  The attorneys’ fees would pay Class Counsel for investigating the facts, 

litigating the Case for years, and negotiating the Class Settlement, all of which Class Counsel did 

without any guarantee of a single dollar of compensation.  Any award of attorneys’ fees and 

expenses will be paid out of the Qualified Settlement Fund.  Defendants have agreed not to 

oppose a Court award of attorneys’ fees and expenses. 

 

 

OBJECTING TO THE CLASS SETTLEMENT 

You can tell the Court that you don’t agree with the settlement or some part of it. 

 

19. How do I tell the Court that I don’t like the Class Settlement? 

If you’re a Settlement Class Member, you can object to the Class Settlement if you don’t like any 

part of it.  You can give reasons why you think the Court should not approve it.  The Court will 

consider your views.  To object, you must send a letter saying that you object to the Class 

Settlement.  Be sure to include your name, address, telephone number, signature, and the reasons 

you object to the settlement. Mail the objection to all of the parties listed below, postmarked no 

later than October 28, 2024. 

http://www.legalmalpracticeclassaction.com/
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1. Court 

Clerk of the Court 

Circuit Court for Baltimore City 

111 N. Calvert St., Room 412 

Baltimore, MD  21202 

2. Class Counsel 

Paul S. Caiola 

Gallagher Evelius & Jones LLP 

218 N. Charles St., Suite 400 

Baltimore, MD  21201 

3. Defense Counsel 

Benjamin Rosenberg 

Rosenberg Martin Greenberg, LLP 

25 S. Charles St., 21st Floor 

Baltimore, MD  21201 

4. Defense Counsel 

Jeffrey M. Schwaber 

Stein Sperling Bennett De Jong Driscoll PC 

1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite 700 

Rockville, MD  20852 

5. Defense Counsel 

David A. Wilson 

Thompson Hine LLP 

1919 M Street NW, Suite 700 

Washington, DC  20036 

6. Settlement Administrator 

Paul Mulholland 

Strategic Claims Services, Inc. 

600 N. Jackson St., Suite 205 

Media, PA  19063 

20. What is the difference between objecting and opting out? 

Objecting is simply telling the Court that you don’t like something about the Class Settlement. 

You can object only if you stay in the Class.  Opting out is telling the Court that you don’t want 

to be part of the Class.  If you opt out, you have no basis to object because the Case no longer 

affects you. 
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THE FINAL APPROVAL HEARING 

The Court will hold a hearing to decide whether to approve the Class Settlement. You may 

attend, but you don’t have to.  If you attend, you may ask to speak.  If you did not give timely 

notice as discussed in questions 19 and 23, however, the Court may not allow you to speak in 

opposition to the Settlement. 

 

21. When and where will the Court decide whether to approve the Class 

Settlement? 

The Court will hold a Final Approval Hearing at 9:00 AM on November 22, 2024, remotely via 

Zoom.   

 

At this hearing, the Court will consider whether the Class Settlement is fair, reasonable, and 

adequate.  If there are objections, the Court will consider them.  During or after the hearing, the 

Court will decide whether to approve the Class Settlement.  We do not know how long these 

decisions will take.   

 

We will post information on www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com about how to attend and, if 

appropriate, participate in the remote hearing. 

 

22. Do I have to come to the Final Approval Hearing? 

No, you do not have to come to the hearing to receive the benefits of the settlement.  But, you 

are welcome to attend.  If you send a written objection, you don’t have to come to Court to talk 

about it.  As long as you mailed your objection on time, the Court will consider it.  You may also 

pay your own lawyer to attend, but it’s not necessary. 

 

23. May I speak at the hearing? 

You may ask the Court for permission to speak at the Final Approval Hearing.  You must send a 

letter saying that it is your “Notice of Intention to Appear in Cynthia M. Clark, et al. v. Peter G. 

Angelos, et al., Case No. 24-C-21-000847.”  Be sure to include your name, address, telephone 

number, and your signature.  If you intend to object to or oppose any aspect of the Class 

Settlement, you must also indicate the basis for your objection or opposition and provide any 

supporting documentation.  Your Notice of Intention to Appear must be postmarked no later than 

October 28, 2024, and must be sent to the Clerk of the Court, Class Counsel, Defense Counsel, 

and the Settlement Administrator at the six addresses in question 19.   

 

If you do not send this letter, the Court may not allow you to speak at the hearing. You also may 

not speak at the hearing if you opt out of the Class. 
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IF YOU DO NOTHING 

24. What happens if I do nothing at all? 

If you do nothing, you will be a Settlement Class Member.  You or the MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiary with whom you are associated will receive five annual settlement checks from the 

Qualified Settlement Fund, so long as Court approves the Class Settlement, and so long as the 

MCIC Settlement Beneficiary does not opt out.   

 

However, you won’t be able to file a lawsuit of your own, continue with a lawsuit of your own, 

or be part of any other lawsuit against any of Defendants or Former Defendants about the legal 

issues in this Case. 

 

 

GETTING MORE INFORMATION 

26. Are there more details about the Settlement? 

This Notice summarizes the proposed Class Settlement.  More details are included in a 

Settlement Agreement.  You can get a copy of the Settlement Agreement by visiting 

www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com. 

 

27. How do I get more information? 

You can call the Settlement Administrator, Strategic Claims Services, Inc., at 1-866-274-4004 

toll free, or visit the website at www.LegalMalpracticeClassAction.com, where you will find 

answers to common questions about the Class Settlement and other information. 

 

In responding to inquiries, the Administrator, who is not an attorney, will not be deemed to be 

providing legal advice or entering into an attorney-client relationship with the inquirer. 

 

SENT BY ORDER OF  

THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY
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Angelos Settlement 

c/o Strategic Claims Services 

600 N. Jackson Street, Suite 205 

Media, PA 19063 
 

IMPORTANT LEGAL NOTICE – PLEASE FORWARD 

 

 

       Mail ID: [addressID] 

       [addressname1] 

       [addressname2] [addressname3] 

       [addressCareOf] 

[addresspart1] [addresspart2] 

[addresscity], [addressState] [addresszip] 

        

 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 



ATTENTION: 

 

The Settlement Administrator sent the enclosed Notice to you at multiple addresses because the 

Administrator could not determine your current address from the information available to it.  If 

the Class Settlement receives final approval from the Court following the November 22, 2024 

hearing, the Settlement Administrator will send payments to all MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries.    

 

To ensure that settlement payments reach you, YOU MUST take the following action:  

 

• Send an email to info@strategicclaims.net, with the subject line:   

Angelos Class Action – Class Member Address Update 

 

• In the body of the email, include the following information: 

 

1. Your name; 

2. The name of the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary to whom you are related or whose 

estate you represent.  You can find this person’s name on the address line of the 

Notice you received.  If you are the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary, write Class 

Member: Self; 

3. The MAIL ID number shown on the Notice you received;  

4. The address(es) at which you received the Notice; and 

5. Your preferred mailing address for receipt of settlement payments, or, if you are 

not the right person to receive mail on behalf of the MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiary, then the name and preferred mailing address of the appropriate 

person to receive this mail. 



 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 









903290  

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al.,  

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al.,  * 
* 

 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
APPENDIX C 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al.,  

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al.,  * 
* 

 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
DECLARATION OF PAUL CAIOLA 

 
I, Paul Caiola, being of sound mind and above age eighteen, make this Declaration based 

on personal knowledge and information provided to me in the course of my professional duties: 

1. I am a partner at Gallagher Evelius & Jones LLP, a Baltimore-based firm that has 

served our community for over six decades.  I have led the trial team in the above-captioned 

litigation since the outset of the case and have personal knowledge about the work that each trial 

team member did to further the litigation. 

Trial Team 

2. I have extensive experience with complex commercial litigation, particularly in 

cases (like this one) with insurance coverage issues.  I served as lead counsel in a federal action 

that spanned more than nine years, Deluxe Building Systems, Inc. v. Constructamax, Inc. et al., 

No. 06 Civ. 2996 (D.N.J.).  In that litigation, our team was successful in obtaining summary 

judgment on behalf of Whitlock Mills, LP as to liability against a large insurance company that 

had issued a performance bond to a contractor and later took over the work pursuant to a 

takeover agreement when the contractor defaulted.  After the court ruled that due to breaches of 
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the takeover agreement, Whitlock Mills could obtain damages from the insurance company in 

excess of the penal sum of the bond (one of the first such rulings in the country), Whitlock Mills 

obtained a $27 million settlement from the insurer. 

3. I also led a team that served, in collaboration with the Public Justice Center, as 

plaintiffs’ counsel in Gorres v. Robinson, No. GLR-21-3029 (D. Md.), a putative class action 

filed by unemployed Marylanders against the Maryland Department of Labor.  After we filed 

both the complaint and a motion for class certification, the parties entered into a months’-long 

mediation process facilitated by the Honorable Susan K. Gauvey.  The parties eventually reached 

a settlement, making critical reforms to address delays and interruptions in benefits payments 

and ensure fair process related to overpayments. 

4. I graduated from the University of Maryland Francis King Carey School of Law, 

summa cum laude, Order of the Coif, in 1995.  Prior to joining Gallagher, I served as a judicial 

law clerk to United States District Judge Walter E. Black, Jr. 

5. I am familiar with the work and reputation of Brian Tucker.  Mr. Tucker, who was 

involved with this litigation since its inception, has extensive experience with liability insurance 

coverage claims and disputes on behalf of both insureds and insurers, and routinely provides 

advice on wide-ranging insurance and contract interpretation issues as coverage counsel and 

outside general counsel to organizations.  Mr. Tucker’s practice involves pursuing insurance 

coverage for clients for catastrophic personal injury claims in a variety of jurisdictions, including 

for cases involving claims and policies from decades ago.  Over the past five years alone, Mr. 

Tucker has represented numerous clients as coverage counsel on many such matters, with alleged 

damages and occurrence-based policies across multiple insurers in excess of $100 million. 
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6. Gallagher is general counsel to a Maryland based insurance company, and for the 

past nine years Mr. Tucker has been its lead attorney.  He has protected the interests of this 

insurer in a variety of insurance coverage disputes, including handling first-party and third-party 

coverage issues and defending and pursuing claims. 

7.   Mr. Tucker graduated from the University of Maryland Francis King Carey 

School of Law, Order of the Coif, in 2002.  Prior to joining Gallagher, Mr. Tucker served as a 

judicial law clerk to the Honorable Richard D. Bennett of the United States District Court for the 

District of Maryland. 

8. I am familiar with the work and reputation of Joe Dugan.  Mr. Dugan graduated 

summa cum laude from Indiana University Maurer School of Law in 2015.  After graduating, 

Mr. Dugan clerked first for Hon. James K. Bredar of the U.S. District Court for the District of 

Maryland, and then for Hon. David F. Hamilton of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Seventh 

Circuit.  Following his clerkships, Mr. Dugan served as a trial attorney with the U.S. Department 

of Justice, Civil Division, Federal Programs Branch, and then joined Gallagher in 2019. 

9. While at Gallagher, Mr. Dugan has worked on many complex commercial cases, 

including cases involving intellectual property, employment law, contract and corporate 

governance principles, and constitutional issues.  He also has done work in connection with 

putative class actions.  Mr. Dugan defended a putative class action against a property 

management company, which resulted in a favorable settlement agreement, and he currently is 

defending two additional class actions involving housing-related claims.  Mr. Dugan also is part 

of a team of lawyers defending one of many parties in multidistrict litigation that encompasses 

putative class claims. 
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10. I am familiar with the work and reputation of Sarah Simmons.  Ms. Simmons is a 

mid-level associate at Gallagher with experience in commercial civil litigation in the areas of 

construction, real estate, tort claims, and general commercial contract disputes.  Ms. Simmons 

was also part of the plaintiffs’ counsel’s team in Gorres v. Robinson, the putative class action 

discussed above. 

11. Prior to joining Gallagher in 2021, Ms. Simmons clerked for the Honorable Judge 

Kathryn Grill Graeff on the Appellate Court of Maryland (2019-2021).  Ms. Simmons graduated 

summa cum laude in 2019 from the University of Baltimore School of Law.  During law school, 

Ms. Simmons served as Executive Editor of the University of Baltimore Law Review.  In 

summer 2018, she served as a judicial intern to the Honorable Clayton Greene Jr. on the 

Maryland Supreme Court, and in spring 2019, she clerked for the Maryland Office of the 

Attorney General with the Legislative Affairs Director.  Ms. Simmons also worked as a legal 

intern for Hopeworks, which helps survivors of domestic violence obtain protective orders and 

access resources in Howard County, Maryland. 

12. I am familiar with the work and reputation of Tory Trocchia, an associate at 

Gallagher with experience in commercial civil litigation.  While at Gallagher, Ms. Trocchia has 

had the opportunity to work on several complex commercial cases, including cases involving 

contract disputes, employment law, insurance coverage claims, and constitutional issues.  Ms. 

Trocchia currently is part of a team of lawyers defending one of many parties in multidistrict 

litigation that encompasses putative class claims.   

13. Prior to earning her JD from the University of Maryland Francis King Carey 

School of Law, where she graduated magna cum laude, Order of the Coif, in 2022, Ms. Trocchia 

spent five years at a Baltimore-based investment firm (2014-2019), where she worked first as a 
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relationship manager for institutional clients and subsequently on the fixed income investment 

team.  During law school, Ms. Trocchia competed in mock trial competitions as a member of 

Maryland Law’s National Trial Team and honed her appellate brief-writing and research skills as 

a student attorney in the Juvenile Lifer Advocacy Clinic.  Before joining Gallagher in 2023, she 

served as a judicial law clerk to the Honorable R. M. Nazarian of the Appellate Court of 

Maryland (2022-2023). 

Litigation Strategy 

14. This litigation required years of hard work and creative lawyering.  The trial 

team’s efforts included researching and drafting three lengthy complaints, and successfully 

avoiding motions to dismiss as to each; defeating an early motion to strike Plaintiffs’ class 

allegations, successfully moving to dismiss Defendants’ subsequent interlocutory appeal, and 

successfully resisting Defendants’ petition for a writ of certiorari to the Maryland Supreme 

Court; obtaining over 470,000 pages of discovery material from Defendants following three 

successful motions to compel; coordinating with an industry expert to analyze the Class damages 

and determine the settlement value of asbestos injury claims in the absence of insurance limits; 

and conducting fact investigation outreach to absent Class Members, receiving and reviewing 

more than 1,000 questionnaires from absent Class Members, and avoiding Defendants’ attempt 

to restrain that outreach through a TRO motion.  

15. To build our case, the trial team painstakingly reviewed the documents described 

in the underlying litigation as the Nagle and Chapper Documents, together with briefs and 

discovery material from the underlying proceedings.  The team engaged no fewer than seven 

experts to assist with various aspects of the case.  We served sixty interrogatories and 158 

requests for admission in this lawsuit, and we took or defended nine depositions. 
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16. We also have played an important role in ascertaining contact information for the 

absent Class Members.  We started this effort long before the Court entered its Order 

preliminarily approving the Proposed Class Settlement.  More recently, Tory Trocchia has 

spearheaded this effort. 

17. In mid-2023, we determined that our fact investigation should include contacting 

absent class members to survey them on information relevant to class certification and the merits 

of the case. 

18. Using public filings from the underlying 2005 Tort Action, we ascertained the 

names and social security numbers of all 7,185 MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries who received 

payment in 1994 (the “1994 Payee Beneficiaries,” and together with the personal representatives 

of their estates, the “1994 Payees”), as well as the names and addresses of the personal 

representatives of the estates of many of the 1994 Payee Beneficiaries. 

19. For the 1994 Payee Beneficiaries for whom the public filings in the Tort Action 

did not list addresses or personal representative information, we undertook additional efforts to 

ascertain this information.  Specifically, between March and September 2023, a group of 

Gallagher’s administrative assistants and paralegals conducted searches using Thompson Reuters 

PeopleMap and the Maryland Register of Wills website to determine: which 1994 Payee 

Beneficiaries were still alive; the addresses of the living 1994 Payee Beneficiaries; and the 

names and addresses of the personal representatives of the deceased 1994 Payee Beneficiaries. 

20. Once we had generated a list of addresses for all 7,185 1994 Payees, we engaged 

Jeffrey Izes and his firm, Izes Consulting Services (together with Jeffrey Izes, “ICS”), a 

full-service call center consulting company, to “skip-trace” the data to obtain current address 

information.  ICS first arranged for the data of a sample group of approximately 800 1994 
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Payees to be “skip-traced” in September 2023, and later arranged for the data of the remaining 

1994 Payees to be skip-traced in October 2023. 

21. We also engaged ICS to act as a call center.  In September 2023, using the 

skip-traced data, we mailed a letter (the “Pilot Mailing”) to a sample group of approximately 800 

1994 Payees.  In this letter, we informed recipients of the filing of this lawsuit and asked them to 

call the ICS call center during the weeks of October 2 and October 9, 2023 if they were willing 

to provide our firm with information related to the case.  ICS received calls from approximately 

150 1994 Payees who received the Pilot Mailing, asked callers a specified list of questions 

drafted by Gallagher regarding their or their loved one’s exposure to MCIC’s asbestos products 

and their contact information, and shared callers’ answers to these questions with Gallagher. 

22. Following the Pilot Mailing, we decided to cease using the ICS call center and to 

instead collect additional information from 1994 Payees via a written questionnaire.  In 

November 2023, we mailed a letter to all 1994 Payees who either had not received the Pilot 

Mailing or had received the Pilot Mailing but had not called the call center to answer our 

questions.  Enclosed with this Second Mailing was a copy of Plaintiffs’ Third Amended Class 

Action Complaint in this case, a questionnaire, and an authorization for release of information.  

The letter requested that willing recipients complete the survey and authorization and return it to 

Gallagher via mail or email. 

23. For 1994 Payees whose Second Mailings were returned as undeliverable and for 

addresses for which Gallagher received reports that the intended recipient was no longer residing 

there, Gallagher’s legal administrative assistants used Thompson Reuters PeopleMap and the 

Maryland Register of Wills website to attempt to identify new addresses or, in the case of 

deceased 1994 Payees, the names and addresses for alternate personal representatives or 
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appropriate next of kin.  In cases where we were successful in identifying new addresses, we 

mailed copies of the Second Mailing to those addresses.  In cases where we were unsuccessful, 

the addresses on record were marked as bad addresses for recordkeeping purposes. 

24. Even now, many months later, we continue to receive occasional calls, emails, 

and completed questionnaires and authorizations in response to the Second Mailing.  Through 

these calls, emails, and returned questionnaires and surveys, we have been able to confirm as 

good the addresses for more than 1,200 Class Members. 

25. On April 19, 2024, the parties attended a full-day mediation session and reached a 

tentative agreement in principle on the terms of a class-wide settlement.  During subsequent 

settlement negotiations, the parties agreed to engage Strategic Claims Services (“SCS”), a 

nationally recognized class action settlement administration firm, to administer the settlement, 

including mailing the Notice to all Class Members and mailing settlement checks to all MCIC 

Settlement Beneficiaries who do not opt out of the Class. 

26. To facilitate SCS’s mailing process, the parties agreed on the class member lists 

and provided SCS with those lists as well as their lists of vetted addresses.  Gallagher’s vetted 

address list included information about which addresses had been confirmed as good and which 

had been confirmed as bad by prior skip-tracing efforts, returned mail, and caller reports.  SCS 

skip-traced all of the addresses provided and ran them through the United States Postal Service 

National Change of Address Service to obtain current address information.  In cases where the 

Law Firm’s contact information for a Class Member conflicted with Gallagher’s and neither was 

ruled out by SCS’s address updating procedures, SCS sent the Notice to both sets of addresses. 

27. In October 2024, SCS provided Gallagher with a list of several hundred Class 

Members for whom it determined that all addresses were undeliverable.  Gallagher undertook 
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efforts to find alternate addresses for these Class Members via Thomson Reuters PeopleMap and 

Accurint, which resulted in new addresses being identified for, and new Notices mailed to, 245 

Class Members. 

28. SCS and Gallagher recently have engaged in discussions regarding the 

appropriate process for identifying addresses for the approximately 200 payee Class Members 

for whom all known addresses have been determined to be undeliverable, as well as for any 

payee Class Members for whom SCS later determines that all addresses on file are bad.  SCS and 

Gallagher preliminarily have agreed that, in order to maximize the number of Settlement Class 

Members who receive settlement payments, SCS will run searches on the Maryland Register of 

Wills website to identify new contact information and addresses where possible.  The costs of 

this effort will be charged to the subset of Class Members who require additional effort to find 

them, rather than to the full Class. 

Time Investment and Billing Records 

29. I am familiar with the contemporaneous billing records maintained by 

timekeepers at Gallagher who recorded time to the above-captioned matter, as well as in the 

related case of Norman J. Loverde ex rel. Estates of Stephen J. Loverde, Sr. & Mary Anna 

Loverde, et al. v. Georgia K. Angelos, et al., No. 24-C-23-005142 OG (Balt. City Cir. Ct.). 

30. Through the assistance of a senior paralegal, our firm has prepared a summary, by 

quarter, of the hours billed, the general work performed, and the value of the time (computed 

pursuant to our actual historical rates and our current rates) across the two matters.  This 

information is set forth in the tables below. 
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31. The following table represents the period April 2019 through September 2019: 

Date Summary of Work Completed Value of Time 

2nd Quarter 2019              
(April – June) 

Undertook initial factual and legal investigation 
into possible malpractice class action; $18,941.50 

3rd Quarter 2019 
(July – September) 

Continued investigation into potential 
malpractice claims, conferred with potential 
named plaintiffs, and discussed case strategy; 

$2,047.00 

 Total $20,988.50 

 
32. The following table represents the period October 2019 through September 2020: 

Date Summary of Work Completed Value of Time 

4th Quarter 2019 
(October – December) 

Reviewed select materials in underlying cases 
obtained from clerk’s office; $841.00 

1st Quarter 2020 
(January – March) 

Continued investigation into potential 
malpractice claims and discussions concerning 
case strategy; 

$8,284.50 

2nd Quarter 2020 
(April – June) 

Continued investigation into potential 
malpractice claims and discussions concerning 
case strategy; 

$5,106.00 

3rd Quarter 2020 
(July – September) 

Conducted research related to legal malpractice 
and settlement fraud litigation; Continued 
investigation into potential malpractice claims 
and discussions concerning case strategy; 

$11,964.00 

 Total $26,195.50 

 
33. The following table represents the period October 2020 through September 2021: 

Date Summary of Work Completed Value of Time 

4th Quarter 2020 
(October – December) 

Continued research related to legal malpractice, 
Maryland asbestos litigation, and settlement 
fraud litigation; Continued investigation into 
potential malpractice claims; Team discussions 
concerning class certification and case strategy; 

$20,893.00 
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1st Quarter 2021 
(January – March) 

Continued research related to legal malpractice, 
Maryland asbestos litigation, and settlement 
fraud litigation; Prepared class action complaint; 
Conferred with team regarding complaint, class 
action claims issues, prior malpractice action 
against defendants, and case strategy; 

$59,579.00 

2nd Quarter 2021 
(April – June) 

Strategized with team regarding discovery and 
class certification discovery issues; Drafted 
briefs; Prepared discovery and first amended 
complaint; Continued research related to legal 
malpractice class actions, class certification, 
privilege issues and class certification discovery; 
Developed ESI protocol and conferred with 
opposing counsel;  

$92,730.00 

3rd Quarter 2021 
(July – September) 

Strategized with team and prepared briefs; 
Continued research related to legal malpractice 
class actions, class certification, insurance 
claims, and appeal issues; Continued team 
discussions regarding discovery issues, case 
strategy, motion hearing strategy, and appeal 
briefing strategy;  

$129,782.00 

 Total $302,984.00 

 
34. The following table represents the period October 2021 through September 2022: 

Date Summary of Work Completed Value of Time 

4th Quarter 2021 
(October – December) 

Strategized with team and prepared briefs in 
support of motions, oppositions, and answer to 
petition for writ of certiorari; Continued research 
related to legal malpractice claims; Analyzed 
discovery documents; Prepared discovery 
materials; Continued team discussions regarding 
discovery issues, insurance coverage issues, and 
case strategy; Conferred with opposing counsel 
regarding case issues;  

$122,777.00 

1st Quarter 2022 
(January – March) 

Continued research related to legal issues 
concerning legal malpractice class actions, class 
certification, and insurance claims; Analyzed 
discovery documents; Prepared briefs in support 
of motions; Conferred with opposing counsel 

$125,087.00 
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regarding discovery issues and stipulated 
confidentiality order; Continued team 
discussions regarding discovery, insurance 
issues, and case strategy;  

2nd Quarter 2022 
(April – June) 

Continued research related to legal issues 
concerning legal malpractice class actions and 
insurance claims, and class members’ contact 
information; Analyzed discovery documents; 
Prepared briefs in connection with motion 
practice; Prepared discovery materials; 
Continued team discussions regarding discovery 
and insurance issues, discovery disputes, expert 
witnesses, and case strategy; 

$198,666.00 

3rd Quarter 2022 
(July – September) 

Continued team discussions and work on 
discovery, insurance issues, class certification 
issues, expert issues, bankruptcy cases, damage 
analysis and case strategy; Prepared for and 
represented clients at motions hearing and 
discovery conference; Continued research 
related to legal malpractice class actions and 
insurance claims; Prepared second amended 
complaint, briefs in support of motions, and 
discovery materials;  

$242,389.00 

 Total $688,919.00 

 
35. The following table represents the period October 2022 through September 2023: 

Date Summary of Work Completed Value of Time 

4th Quarter 2022 
(October – December) 

Continued team discussion and work on 
discovery, insurance issues, class 
certification, expert issues, bankruptcy cases, 
damage analysis, and case strategy; 
Continued research related to legal 
malpractice class actions, class certification, 
and insurance claims; Continued developing 
second amended complaint and briefs in 
connection with motion practice; Prepared 
for and represented clients at motions 
hearing;  

$350,057.50 
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1st Quarter 2023 
(January – March) 

Initiated search for class member contact 
information; Continued team discussions and 
work on discovery, expert issues, class 
certification, insurance issues, bankruptcy 
cases, damage analysis, and case strategy; 
Continued research related to legal 
malpractice class actions, federal 
jurisdiction, class certification, damages, and 
insurance claims; Prepared third amended 
complaint and briefs in connection with 
motion practice; Prepared for and 
represented clients at motions hearing;  

$292,003.50 

2nd Quarter 2023 
(April – June) 

Began drafting materials for outreach to class 
members in furtherance of fact investigation; 
Continued work on discovery, expert issues, 
and compiling class member contact 
information; Prepared briefs in connection 
with motion practice; Prepared for and 
represented clients at motions hearing and 
discovery conference; Continued team 
discussions regarding discovery and 
insurance issues, class certification, expert 
witnesses, and case strategy;  

$383,040.00 

3rd Quarter 2023 
(July – September) 

Initiated class member outreach effort for 
fact investigation; Continued work on 
discovery, outreach effort, and expert issues; 
Prepared briefs in connection with motion 
practice; Prepared for and represented clients 
at status conference and motions hearing; 
Continued team discussions regarding class 
discovery issues, outreach efforts, class 
certification, expert witnesses and case 
strategy;  

$309,002.00 

 Total $1,334,103 

 
36. The following table represents the period October 2023 through September 2024: 

Date Summary of Work Completed Value of Time 

4th Quarter 2023 
(October – December) 

Continued team discussions and work on 
discovery, expert issues, insurance issues, 
fact investigation program, class 

$351,209.10 
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certification, fact investigation issues and 
case strategy; Prepared for and attended 
depositions; Prepared fraudulent conveyance 
complaint and briefs in connection with 
motion practice; Prepared for and 
represented clients at motions hearings and 
discovery conference;  

1st Quarter 2024 
(January – March) 

Continued team discussions and work on 
discovery, class certification, expert issues, 
fact investigation program, asset issues, 
mediation, insurance issues, fact 
investigation issues, and case strategy; 
Prepared briefs in connection with motion 
practice; Prepared and filed superseding 
class certification motion; Prepared for and 
attended depositions; Analyzed Abate I trial 
transcript;  

$415,020.00 

2nd Quarter 2024 
(April – June) 

Continued team discussions and work on 
discovery issues, class certification, asset 
issues, mediation, settlement issues, 
insurance issues, fact investigation program, 
and case strategy; Prepared reply in support 
of superseding class certification motion; 
Prepared for and represented clients at 
mediation; Conferred with settlement 
beneficiaries regarding case status;  

$306,167.00 

3rd Quarter 2024 
(July – September) 

Initiated team discussions and work on 
settlement agreement, disbursement 
agreement, class notices, tolling agreement; 
Continued team discussions on settlement 
issues, class certification, and case strategy; 
Prepared motion for preliminary approval of 
class settlement; Prepared for and 
represented clients at motions hearing; 
Conferred with settlement beneficiaries 
regarding case status;  

$203,364.00 

 Total $1,275,760.10 
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37. The following table represents the period October 2024 through November 11, 2024: 

Date Summary of Work Completed Value of Time 

4th Quarter 2024 
(October 1 – November 11, 

2024) 

Continued work with third party on 
settlement and disbursement agreement, 
class member contact tracking, and class 
notices; Prepared briefs in connection with 
motion for final settlement approval, fee 
petition, and related filings; Conferred with 
settlement beneficiaries regarding 
settlement and case status; Continued team 
discussions regarding disbursement 
agreement, settlement issues, class members 
and class notice issues, fee petition, and 
case strategy; 

$76,482.00 

 Total $76,482.00 

 
38. In total, as of November 11, 2024, Gallagher timekeepers recorded 3,401 hours to 

this matter, totaling $3,725,432.10 at our actual historical rates; and $4,193,016.00 at our current 

rates. 

39. Based on my experience, Gallagher’s rates, which are the standard hourly rates 

actually charged to, and paid by, clients of our firm, are consistent with if not substantially lower 

than the prevailing market rates charged by other law firms in the Baltimore area for attorneys 

and paraprofessionals of comparable experience, expertise, and qualifications. 

40. Gallagher is a highly respected firm, with an established reputation for providing 

quality legal work throughout the region.  In Reaching Hearts Int’l, Inc. v. Prince George’s 

County, 478 F. App’x 54, 58-60 (4th Cir. 2012), the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit 

affirmed an award of attorneys’ fees for a multiyear case that included full hourly rates for 

Gallagher attorneys for the entire period at the then-current rates. 
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41. Gallagher staff who are not timekeepers also played a major role in this litigation, 

more so than on a typical litigation matter.  While we cannot precisely quantify that time 

investment, it was substantial. 

42. In addition to our time, Gallagher advanced $330,012.50 in litigation costs across 

the two matters.  Those costs are summarized in the table below: 

Category of Expenses Value of Time 

Deliveries, Postage, Outside Photocopies 
Deposition Service and Transcripts 
Filing, Service and Recording Fees, and Document Retrieval 
IT Related Services (exclusive of Westlaw legal research) 
Mediation Fee 
Experts and Outside Consultants 

$32,877.91  
$23,988.94  
$2,807.45  

$21,132.57  
$12,352.28  

$236,853.35  

Total $330,012.50 

 
43. Gallagher’s investment in this litigation was amply justified, given the value of 

the Class claims.  Based on the analysis of our damages expert, Christopher Makuc, we 

computed a base case for damages of just shy of $93 million. 

44. Historically (without accounting for this case), the bulk of Gallagher’s litigation 

practice has involved hourly billable matters, with contingency work representing a fairly small 

part of our overall practice. 

45. The trial team was honored to invest our time, talent, and resources in this 

litigation that we believe will benefit thousands of Maryland families.  Many Class Members 

who responded to our Fall 2023 fact investigation expressed gratitude for our work and 

enthusiasm about our efforts on the case. 

46. The Class Members appear to be satisfied with the settlement, insofar as SCS 

received only fourteen valid/timely opt-out requests, as well as two untimely opt-out requests 



that the parties nevertheless have agreed to treat as valid. Fifteen of the opt-out requests were

from MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries, while one was from a Surviving Family Member. SCS

also received one valid/timely objection. This is out a Class of 10,215 MCIC Settlement

Beneficiaries and Surviving Family Members.

47. Gallagher invested in this case because we believed in our clients and their

claims, and also because we saw an opportunity to bring a benefit to deserving Angelos clients

who may not be able to afford private representation (and for whom the cost of hourly litigation

would not make sense given their stakes in the case), while also achieving economic success for

Gallagher.

I SOLEMNLY AFFIRM under the penalties for perjury that the foregoing statements are

true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief.

Date: NovemberlL ,roro /( r.a
Paul S. Caiola

906171

PageIT oflT



LOPA 019763

.. ·· .... 
~ 

-.:i~ •• 

In Re: BALTIMORE CITY 
PERSONAL INJURY 
AND WRONGFUL DEATH 
ASBESTOS CASES 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT 
FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

Consdlidated File 
89236705 

**xk*************************** 

ABATE, et al. 

v. 

* 
* 
* 

Plaintiffs* 

* 
* 
* 

ACANDS, INC~, et al. * 
Defendants* 

* 
***************************************************** 

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

'1tA./11,l1,~fttctiL ·it. \'kl;~"\ 
Judge Marshall A, Levin 
Circuit Court for Baltimore City 

Filed: .JUN 3 1993 
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memoranda contain more than 1400 pages. Additionally, 

the parties who filed these motions have "favored" 

this court with more than 10,000 pages of exhibits. 

A. Procedural Background 

The plaintiffs, as users and bystanders of 

asbestos-containing products, sought to establish that 

dur_ing certain time-frames, six defendants (who 

remained after settlements) were liable to them for 

the manufacture, sale, distribution, and/or 

installation of these asbestos-containing products. 

Their cases were based on theories of negligence and 

strict liability. In addition these plaintiffs sought 

to establish that they were entitled to punitive 

damages which were to be calculated according to 

certain ratios. This aspect of the trial involved 

only the conunon issues of liability and punitive 

damages. The issues of whether any of these 

common-issues plaintiffs had sustained an asbestos 

related disease; whether they contracted it because of 

exposure to an asbestos-containing product 

manufactured, sold, distributed and/or installed by 

2 
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the defendantsi whether that exposure was a 

substantial contributing factor in causing the 

asbestos related disease; and whether they were 

entitled to compensatory damages, were to be decided 

in future mini-trials. These mini-trials would be 

held later and before different juries. 

The six Illustrative plaintiffs, however, 

proceeded on a unitary all-issues basis. That is, 

they had to prove disease, substantial exposure, and 

damages. No separate liability finding was necessary, 

inasmuch as that would have been established in the 

Common-Issues phase of the trial, if the jury so 

found. In addition, various cross-claims were 

resolved in the trial. 

The length and complexity of this asbestos 

trial stems directly from the staggering number of 

claims for damages for personal injury and/or wrongful_ 

death allegedly caused by exposure to asbestos. 

Unless these thousands of claims can be managed fairly 

and efficiently they can impair, or even destroy, a 

judicial system. 

3 
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the dates of the defendants' negligence and/or strict 

liability for the various products with respect to 
12 13 

foreseeable Users and Bystanders. 

The jury was also asked similar questions 

relating to the two cross-defendants, W.R. Grace and 

Owens-Illinois (two of the settled defendants). 

On July 13, 1992, the jury returned a 

verdict finding all six defendants liable to the 

common-issues plaintiffs as to all of their asbestos­

containing products in both negligence and strict 

liability with respect to both foreseeable Users and 

foreseeable Bystanders. 

It found ACandS negligent ~ith regard to 

Users from 1938 to 1972 and, as to Bystanders, from 

1938 to 1972. It found it strictly liable from 1957 

·to the present as to Users and from 1957 to the 

present as to Bystanders. 

The jury found GAF negligent from 1938 to 

1981 as to Users and from 1938 to 1981 as to 

Bystanders. It found it strictly liable from 1938 to 

the present as to Users and from 1938 to the present 

49 
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·oth~rwise in this Memorandum Opinion and Order. 

However, apart from these common 

contentions, all of the parties have also raised a 

myriad of other specific claims of error by motions 

for new trial, judgment NOV, motions to revise and 

alter, for remittitur, and other motions based on 

evidentiary rulings, substantive rulings, trial 

procedure, and jury instructi~ns. While this court 

will not specifically address each of these claims, 

nonetheless, ·this court has.carefully reviewed and 

considered every claim of error and denies all of the 

parties' motions for new trial, judgment NOV, and 

other motions based on such claims, except to the 

extent indicated otherwise in this Memorandum Opinion 

and Order. 

Marshall A. Levin, Judge 

Date: 
.JUN 3 1993 

218 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARYLAND FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al., 

* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al., 
 

* 
* 

 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

NOTICE OF EXHIBIT FILED UNDER SEAL 
 

 Please note that Exhibits 2, 6, and 7 attached to the Memorandum in Support of Motion 

for Final Settlement Approval, and Exhibits 2 and 8 attached to the Memorandum in Support of 

Motion for Approval of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses to Class Counsel, were filed under seal on 

November 12, 2024, accompanied by a Motion to Seal Portions of Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in 

Support of Motion for Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses to Class Counsel and Portions of 

Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Support of Motion for Final Settlement Approval. 

 I certify that on November 12, 2024, a copy of the exhibits identified above were served 

on counsel for all parties. 



905871 

Respectfully submitted, 

GALLAGHER EVELIUS & JONES LLP 

 

        /s/ Joe Dugan    
Paul S. Caiola (AIS # 9512120109) 
Brian T. Tucker (AIS # 0306180261) 
Joe Dugan (AIS # 1812110109) 
Sarah R. Simmons (AIS # 1912180151) 
Tory S. Trocchia (AIS # 2211290231) 
218 North Charles Street, Suite 400 
Baltimore MD 21201 
Telephone:  410-727-7702 
Facsimile:  410-468-2786 
pcaiola@gejlaw.com 
btucker@gejlaw.com 
jdugan@gejlaw.com 
ssimmons@gejlaw.com 
ttrocchia@gejlaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Date:  November 12, 2024 

 



LOPA 00001126

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

MCIC, INC. 

UNITED STATES FIDELITY AND GUARANTY COMPANY 
ROYAL INSURANCE COMPANY 

CONTINENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY 
THE HARTFORD INSURANCE GROUP 

LUMBERMENS MUTUAL CASUALTY COMPANY 

AND 

THE LAW OFFICES OF PETER G. ANGELOS 
GOODMAN, MEAGHER, ENOCH 

ASHCRAFT , GEREL· 
VERDERAIME, DUBOIS, P.A. 

GOLDMAN, SKEEN, WADLER, P.A. 
THE LAW OFFICES OF CLIFFORD W. CUNIFP 
NOJ,.AN, PLUMHOPF, WILLIAMS, CHARTERED 
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PRIVATE J\ND CONFIDENTIAL 

SETTLEMENT.AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") dated as of 

~~~~~~~' 1994, between the Law Offices of Peter G. Angelos, 

Goodman, Meagher & Enoch, Ashcraft & Gerel, Verderaime & DuBois, 

P.A., Goldman, Skeen & Wadler, P.A., The Law Offices of Clifford 

w. cuniff, and Nolan, Plumhoff & Williams, Chartered, 

(collectively referred to as "Participating Plaintiffs' 

counsel"), MCIC, Inc., formerly known as McCormick Asbestos 

Company ("Defendant"), and United States Fidelity and Guaranty 

Company, Royal Insurance Company, Continental Insurance 

Company1 , The Hartford Insurance Group, and Lumbermens Mutual 

casualty company ("Insurers"), (collectively referred to as "the 

Parties"). 

lfltEREAS, Participating Plaintiffs' counsel have named 

Defendant in certain product liability actions filed or to be 

filed in the State and/or federal courts of Maryland, the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the District of Columbia 

alleging bodily injury and/or wrongful death allegedly_as a 

result of exposure to asbestos-containing products sold, 

1Seaboard Fire & Marine Mutual Insurance Company is one of 
the companies which insured Defendant for the type of claims made 
in the Present Cases. Seaboard Fire & Marine Mutual Insurance 
Company is a former subsidiary of Continental Insurance Company. 
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distributed and/or applied by Defendant ("Actions") 2 ; and 

WHEREAS, the Defendant and Insurers have tendered what they 

believe to be the total aggregate, bodily injury liability 

insurance coverage available for payment of such Actions 

($12,351,000.00), the Insurers, each having executed affidavits 

which are attached herewith as Exhibits Al through A6, inclusive, 

confirming such coverage; and 

WHEREAS, Defendant and J?ar.t:.icipating Plaintiffs' Counsel 

desire to settle such Actions on behalf of the Plaintiffs; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises 

contained herein, and intending to be legally bound thereby, the 

Parties agree as follows: 

section 1. Representations 

Section 1.1. Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel represent 

that they are counsel in the Actions listed on Exhibit B (Primary 

Schedule) and Exhibit C (Secondary Schedule) attached hereto and 

made a part hereof, that Defendant is named or will be named as a 

2Defendant has represented to Participating Plaintiffs' 
Counsel that it has also been named as a Third-party Defendant by 
Bethlehem Steel Corporation and Sea-Land Service, Inc. in 
certain maritime cases filed by Leonard c. Jaques, Esquire in the 
MARDOC dockets of the Federal Courts located in the Districts of 
Northern Ohio and Michigan •. counsel for those parties were put 
on notice that discussions/meetings were going to be held to 
negotiate a global settlement of all claims against Defendant, 
and were invited to participate in same.· However, they declined 
and are not participating in this Agreement. Participating 
Plaintiffs' Counsel have not acknowledged this representation to 
be a fact, however. 

3 
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defendant in each such Action and that, to the best of 

Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel's knowledge, Exhibits Band c 

include every Action brought or to be brought against Defendant 

as of November 15, 1993, in which Participating Plaintiffs' 

counsel remain as either primary or co-counsel as of the date of 

execution of this Agreement, whether or not service of process 

has been perfected. 

section .1.2. This Agreement applies _t_q_thQ.s«L.Actions l;ist~d 

on Exhibits Band C and to any other Action filed by 

Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel against Defendant in any court 

(state or federal within the State of Maryland, the Commonwealth 

of Pennsylvania, and the District of Columbia on or before 

November 15, 1993, (collectively, "Present Cases"), (except any 

such Action that has previously been settled or dismissed with 

prejudice as to Defendant with respect to the disease process 

alleged). For purposes of this Agreement, the claim of a 

Plaintiff and that, if any, of a Plaintiff's spouse for loss of 

consortium, shall collectively mean and be considered one Action. 

Section 1.3. Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel represent 

that they have authority from their clients to enter into 

settlement negotiations and make recommendations regarding the 

settlement of individual cases. Participating Plaintiffs' 

counsel further represent that they will recommend that their 

.clients accept the settlement terms set forth in this Agreement. 

If a Plaintiff elects not to participate in this Agreement, then 

4 
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the Plaintiff and the Defendant shall maintain each and every 

legal right they had as of the effective date of this Agreement. 

section 2, Payment Terms 

Section 2.1. Defendant agrees to pay for all present cases 

by disease process as follows: 

101 Mesotheliomas at $9,500.00 = $ 959,500.00 

812 L11n_g ~~--s at $4,250.00 = $ 3,451,000.00 

441 Other Cancers at $1,500.00 = $ 661,500.00 

7,279 Non Malignancies at $1,000.00 = $ 7,279,000.00 

~12 1 Js1 1 000.oo 

Section 2.2. The Defendant agrees that if in addition to 

the insurance coverage disclosed by Insurers and confirmed by 

their affidavits, Exhibits Al through A6, inclusive, other 

insurance is di$covered which would be applicable to claims made, 

the Defendant will promptly notify Participating Plaintiffs' 

counsel and arrange for a pro rata distribution to them for 

payment to the Plaintiffs identified in Exhibit B. 

section~. settlement Procedure 

Section 3.1. Each Present Case submitted for settlement 

must be accompanied by: 

a. An executed release as described below: 

(i) For Actions alleging the presence of a non­
malignant asbestos-related condition, the form of 

5 
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release shall be a present disease, pro tanto type 
release as per Exhibit D. 

(ii) For Actions alleging any malignant asbestos­
related condition, the form of release shall be an 
all-disease pro tanto type release as per Exhibit 
E. 

b. As of the date of this Agreement, Participating 

Plaintiffs' Counsel will have each submitted to Defendant a 

"Primary Schedule" (Exhibit B) of all of their clients who are 

participating in this Agreement. Said -Schedul.es-co_rataiR t.ha 

names of each claimant worker, his/her social security number, 

the disease process of the claimant worker, the date(s) of 

exposure to asbestos-containing products or date claimant was 

diagnosed with an asbestos-related disease, and, where 

applicable, the case number. Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel 

represent that the information contained in said schedules is 

accurate and current with respect to each Present Case, as of 

November 15, 1993. Each Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel will 

have also submitted to Defendant a "Secondary Schedule" (Exhibit 

C) of their clients who did not meet the established cutoff date 

under this Agreement of November 15, 1993, and of their clients 

from Exhibit B who claim a different disease process. In the 

event that a claimant listed on a Primary Schedule "opts out" of 

this Agreement (.Opt-out Claimant) th.en that claimant's counsel 

will select an individual from that firm's Secondary Schedule to 

take the opt-out Claimant's share of this Agreement. Counsel 

will immediately notify Defendant of the Opt-out Claimant's name 

6 
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as well as the name of the "Substitute Claimant". 

section 3.2. Upon receipt of the Primary and Secondary 

Schedules, Defendant and Insurers will issue drafts representing 

a single payment to each Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel, said 

payment equal to the aggregate amount to be paid to claimants 

listed on that firm's Primary Schedule. Said drafts will be made 

payable in a form substantially as follows, "To the Law Office of 

"X", in trust .t-02.: •. J:~ ~.i.Jnants -listed in Schedule "Y", and 

incorporated by reference herein." 

section 3.3. Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel agree to 

assume the responsibility of ensuring that the funds paid by 

Defendant and Insurers, as set forth in Sections 2.1 and 3.2, 

will be distributed to all Present Cases or Substitute Claimants. 

In the event that there is a dispute over the payment to a 

particular claimant who has not opted-out and who was designated 

to receive a share of the monies paid by Defendant and Insurers, 

said claimant's only.recourse will be against his/her respective 

counsel, and without recourse against Defendant and/or its 

insurers. FUrther, Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel agree to 

indemnify and hold harmless Defendant and Insurers from any and 

all claims/disputes which may arise over distribution of 

settlement proceeds to their respective clients who do not opt­

out, following full payment by Defendant and Insurers pursuant to 

Sections 2.1 and 3.2, supra. 
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section 1, severance 

In order to fully carry out the intent of this Agreement, 

Defendant intends to move the Circuit Court for Baltimore City to 

sever all claims pending against it and schedule them for a 

future trial. date. 

Sections. General Terms 

Section ·5.1. The Parties expressly-acknew1ea~e--,,:"zaa-:agr~­

that this Agreement is entered into, and the consideration 

referenced herein is provided, for the sole purpose of resolving 

and settling disputed claims, and that nothing contained in this 

Agreement shall constitute or be deemed to be an admission of 

liability, fault or entitlement, or of any fact or opinion by any 

Party. 

Section 5.2. The values assigned to the disease processes 

are for settlement purposes only and shall not constitute 

liquidated values of claims in the event the Defendant fa.ils to 

make payments by the terms of this Agreement. 

Section 5.3. This Agreement shall be filed under seal with 

the Circuit Court for Baltimore City and in each Court in.which 

an Action subject to this Agreement is filed, and its terms, and 

the documentation completed by any Plaintiff or any Party to 

fulfill its terms, shall be and remain confidential. The Parties 

to ~his Agreement and the Plaintiffs whose claims are subject to 

this Agreeme,nt shall not disclose the terms of this Agreement.or 
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documentation developed in connection with this Agreement without 

the written consent of Defendant, Participating Plaintiffs' 

counsel, any Plaintiff directly affected, and Insurers, except as 

may be ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction after notice 

to Defendant, Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel, and Insurers, or 

in any proceeding initiated by either Defendant, Participating 

Plaintiffs' Counsel or Insurers to enforce the terms of the 

Agreement. 

section,. Miscellaneous 

All notices, consents and other communications required 

under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective 

when received. Notices shall be sent by registered mail, return 

receipt requested, to the appropriate addresses set forth below: 

A •. Notice to Plaintiffs' counsel: 

THE LAW OFFICES OF PETER G. ANGELOS 
300 East ·Lombard Street 
Baltimqi;~-,-~_0 21202 

GOODMAN, MEAGHER & ENOCH 
111 North Charles Street, Seventh Floor 
Baltimore, MD 21201 

ASHCRAFT & GEREL 
10 East Baltimore Street 
Baltimore, MD '21202 

VERDERAIME & DUBOIS, P.A. 
1231 North Calvert Street 
Baltimore, MD 21202 

GOLDMAN, SKEEN & WADLER, P.A. 
1123 Munsey Building 
7 North Calvert Street 
Baltimore, MD 21202 
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THE LAW OFFICES OF CLIFFORD W. CUNIFF 
207 East Redwood Street, Suite 612 
Baltimore, MD 21202 

NOLAN, PLUMHOFF & WILLIAMS, CHARTERED 
suite 700, court Towers 
210 West Pennsylvania Avenue 
Towson, MD 21204 

B. Notice to Defendant: 

MCIC, INC. 
11424 Cronhill Road 
Owings Mills, MD 21117 

Section 6.2. Any time period hereunder may be extended by 

the Parties by mutual agreement. The Parties shall cooperate 

with each other reasonably and in good faith as to requests for 

extensions of time. 

Section 6.3. Subject to the provisions of Section 1.3., 

each person executing this Agreement warrants his or her 

authority to execute and enter into this Agreement and thereby 

binds the respective Parties for which each person signs. 

Section 6.4. This Agreement shall be governed by and 
.. -

construed in accordance with Maryland law applicable to 

agreements made and to be performed in Maryland. 

Section 6.5. This Agreement shall not be modified except by 

a writing executed by the Parties hereto. 

Section 6.6. Section headings are for convenience of 

reference only. In the event of a conflict between a heading and 

the content of a section, the content of the section shall 

control. 

Section 6.7. All Exhibits attached hereto are incorporated 
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herein as integral parts of this Agreement. 

Section 6.8. The Parties agree that upon execution and 

approval of this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.10 infra, the 

Parties shall dismiss all appeals and cross appeals, as they 

relate to MCIC, Inc. only, filed in Abate, et al. v. ACandS, 

Inc •• et al., No. 89236704-05, Circuit court for Baltimore city 

and related appeals, if any, in the Circuit Court for Baltimore 

city an<i--Ci~it ..Ceurt ~ Baltimore County. 

Section 6.9. Defendant agrees to waive any claim for 

indemnity it may have against Owens-corning Fiberglas Corporation 

or any of its subsidiary, predecessor or successor corporations. 

Section 6.10. This Agreement shall be effective upon 

execution by the Parties and approval by the Honorable Joseph 

H.H. Kaplan, Administrative Judge, Circuit Court for Baltimore 

City who shall conclusively resolve any and all disputes arising 

under this Agreement. 

Section 6.~1. Upon_pettlement of a Present Case and payment 

to claimant{s) of same, counsel for such claimant(s) shall file a 

Notice of Dismissal, with prejudice, as to Defendant only, in the 

court in which the Present Case was filed or is pending. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement 

as of the~ day of~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

MCIC, 

BY: 

11 
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UNITED STATES FIDELITY & GUARANTY CO. 

BY: d( a'd4. Nub·,,_ ~LIL!J 
Cla-,tJ.~ ~C?.;cd,~f-

THE 

BY: 

HARTFORD INSURANCE 

~r1ttt 

12 
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APPROVED: 

j 

e 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 

VERDERAIME, ;DU~OIS, :it· 
BY: &)~ /JI· ~ 

(.(2,e;,-
v 

GOLDMAN, lKEEN & WADLER, P.A. 

BY:9CZ~ 
V \ ~ 

LAW OFFICES OF CLIFFORD W. CUNIFF 

BY: r!hf,.J LJ · &~ ·mer-
NOLAN, 

13 
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·-- •• f •• 5 Royal Insurance 
August 23, 1991 

Environmental Claim Unit 
9140 Arrowpolnt Blvd 
Suite 440 
Chal1otte NC 28273 

• 

*J) 

CERTIFIED MAIL - RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

Hecht & Chapper 
1317 Fidelity Building 
210 North Charles street 
Baltimore, Maryland 21201 

Attention: Bruce Chapper, Esq. 

Re: MCIC, Inc. {f/k/a McCormick Asbestos Co.) 
Maryland Asbestos Litigation 

Dear Mr. Chapper: 

The following is the updated position of the Royal Insurance 
Company (hereinafter referred to as "Royal") with respect to the 
application of MCIC, Inc. (formerly known as McCormick Asbestos 
Company) for insurance coverage of the asbestos bodily"injury suits 
pending in Maryland. In brief review, Royal affords certain 
policies of insurance to MCIC as follows: 

POLICY NUMBER 

P811254 
P92710 
RX5846 
RLC7533 
RLC7546 
RLC9424 
RLC9438 
RLC13577 
RLC16915 
RLC16902 
RLC26239 
RLC26358 
RLC29612 

POLICY PERIOD 

February 1, 1946 - February 1, 1947 
February 1, 1947 - February 1, 1948 
February 1, 1948 - February 1, 1949 
February 1, 1949 - February 1, 1950 
February 1, 1950 - February 1, 1951 
February 1, 1951 - February 1, 1952 
February 1, 1952 - February 1, 1953 
February 1, 1953 - February 1, 1954 
February 1, 1954 - February 1, 1955 
February 1, 1955 - February 1, 1956 
February 1, 1956 - February 1, 1957 
February 1, 1957 - February 1, 1958 
February 1, 1958 - February 1, 1959 

In June of 1981, Royal received initial information concerning a 
suit against MCIC in which the plaintiff alleged injuries as a 
result of exposure to asbestos. By letter dated August 28, 1981, 
incorporated herein by reference, Royal advised you of its position 
concerning coverage for this matter. Royal, in part, specifically 
advised that based upon the information provided by MCIC, proS,uc~ 
liability and com leted o eratio verage were not inclti" · 

e o cies 1.ssue o Ro a • Roya re ecl1ned -to 
affor MCIC a de ense wt respect to this matter. ·RoraJ~~~Amtrica 

• Royal lndomnly ~ 
. Globe lndefflnlly co,,,..,,,y 
• Satovua,d ...... ....,., Company ·-k-~ • ~ _, Fcnlgn lnaurance Comp:,,,,. 
.............. .,,.. Coffll)llly 

MCIC 0676 

blr
Text Box
EXHIBIT
4



LOPA 00000605

• 

• 

Page 2 
Chapper 

Although the position of Royal has not changed since its August 28, 
1981 letter, Royal has learned of thousands of additional asbestos 
suits which have been filed against MCIC in Maryland courts since 
1981. Royal is unaware of the identities of all plaintiffs and the 
precise number of these suits. MCIC's defense counsel has advised 
that these suits currently number approximately 6,000. 

Royal's investigation into the existing policy and underwriting 
materials relative to the previously cited Royal policies has 
confirmed that Royal only provided manufacturers and contractors 
liability coverage to MCIC. These policies did not afford coverage 
for products and completed operations. 

m.uu:ds tbe cJef@Die ~nd ; ndemoj t ¥i gf YGif . Roya s 
Fejected and will, due to the reasons discussed below, 
renewed . 

Royal has continued its review of the pending Maryland asbestos 
litigation. This review has included auditing a sample of the 
litiga tion files being maintaine3 i>y 1ICIA ciefenie dotffisel . 0 

~ z 

The courts of Maryland, the natural venue for the resolution of any 
insurance coverage disputes relative to the asbestos bodily injury 
suits pending in Maryland, have recently addressed the issue of 
"trigger of coverage" in the context of asbestos bodily injury 
suits. In Maryland Casualty Company v. Lloyd E. Mitchell, Inc •• 
No. 7948, slip. op. (MD Cir. ct. Harford Cty Oct. 9,- 1990), the 
court held that it is the manifestation of an asbestos-related 
injury which constitutes the "occurrence" for purposes of 
determining which insurance policy must respond to a particular 
case. 

In adopting a manifestation "trigger of coverage" for asbestos 
claims, the Mitchell court followed decisions of other Maryland 
courts which had ruled on "trigger of coverage" in various 
contexts. In Hartford Mutual Insurance Company v. Jacobson. 73 Md. 
App. 670, 536 A.2d 12 (1988), the court adopted a manifestation 
trigger with respect to an underlying lead paint poisoning case. 
Similarly, in a case arising out of the clean-up of hazardous 
substances, the court in Mraz v. Canadian Universal Insurance Co •• 
Ltd., 804 F.2d 1325 (4th Cir. 1986) determined that the date of 
occurrence is judged by the time the leakage and damage was first 
discovered • 

MCIC 0677 
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Page 3 
Chapper 

The Mi tchel1 court found the rule set forth in the Hartford Mutual 
Insurance company v. Jacobson decision to be controlling and 
therefore applied the manifestation trigger as well. The Mitchell 
court specifically held that "[t)the facts of this case clearly set 
forth that the asbestos-associated problems did not manifest until 
after the policies had expired. Applying the rule of Jacobson to 
the case at bar, this court must conclude that the alleged 
occurrence complained of took place after the lapse of the 
insurance policies in question and are thus not within the coverage 
they provided." Mitchell at 10. 

Royal does not espouse any particular "trigger of coverage" theory 
as its corporate philosophy or practice. The policies issued by 
Royal stand on their own; their interpretation must be gleaned from 
the plain meaning of their terms. However, since the courts of 
Maryland have now ruled on the issue of "trigger of coverage", 
Royal's policy is to follow that determination with respect to the 
asbestos suits pending against MCIC • 

On the basis of the controlling Maryland case law, Royal herewith 
advises that its defense and indemnity obligations, if any, are 
limited to those cases where the asbestos-related injury first 
manifests itself during the February 1, 1946 to February 1, 1959 
policy periods. Royal is not obligated to defend or indemnify MCIC 
with respect to any claims where the asbestos-related injury first 
manifest itself after February l, 1959. 

For purposes of your own planning, we wish to ad~ise that it is 
unlikely that any plaintiff who has asserted an asbestos bodily 
injury claim against MCIC first manifests its injury during any of 
the Royal policy periods. The practical effect of the application 
of Maryland's manifestation "trigger of coverage" is to preclude 
coverage on the asbestos claims pending against MCIC under the 
policies issued by Royal. This position, together with our 
reservation based on the type of coverage provided and the 
exclusion of products and completed operations coverage makes it 
clear that Royal owes no duty to defend or idemnify MCIC with 
respect to the asbestos bodily injury suits pending against MCIC • 

MCIC 0678 
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Page 4 
Chapper 

We trust that you understand the position of the Company in this 
regard. If you have any questions, or wish to discuss this matter 
further, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

Very truly yours, 

~ w~l\J.. fV\ . -·· ' Wayne M. Smiley 
Environmental Claims Unit 

cc: Mr. Robert Hamil ton 
United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. 
P . o. Box 13576 
17 Commerce street 
Baltimore, Maryland 21203 

WMS/ab/chapper 
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WILLIAM LOWE, et al. * IN THE 
Plaintiffs 

* CIRCUIT COURT 
v. 

* FOR BALTIMORE CITY 
CONTINENTAL INSURANCE 
COMPANY, et al. * CASE NO.: 24-C-05-005067 

Defendants 

* 

* * * * * 
MEMORANDUM 

Now pending before the court are several motions for summary judgment filed by 

defendants. The motions have been fully briefed and a hearing was held on November 7 and 

November 8, 2012. This Memorandum sets forth the court's reasons for the rulings on these 

motions. The rulings will be effectuated by a separate order. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The claims that are before the court in this action are asserted in complaints filed on 

behalf of four groups of plaintiffs, each represented by a different law firm. The initial 

complaint was filed by the Law Offices of Peter Angelos. Subsequently, leave to intervene was 

granted to plaintiffs represented by, respectively, the law firm of Goodman, Meagher & Enoch 

and Clifford W. Cuniff, the law firm of Ashcraft & Gerel, and the law firm of Skeen, Goldman, 

LLP. The complaints that are now operative are the Third Amended Complaint filed on behalf of 

the Angelos plaintiffs (No. 149), the Third Amended Complaint filed on behalf of the 

GME/Cuniff/Goldman plaintiffs (No. 161), and the Third Amended Complaint filed on behalf of 

the Ashcraft & Gerel plaintiffs (No. 159). 1 

1 A complaint was also filed by intervening plaintiff Melvin El-Amin, who has not filed any 
response to the motions for summary judgment. 
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possession of the firm and within easy access of the firm, that there is no basis for a genuine 

dispute that the firm had the policy materials. 

The Content of the Policy-Related Materials 

"Fragmentary" though they may have been, the policy-related materials made available 

to plaintiffs in 1993, specifically declarations pages and insuring agreements, are consistent and 

clear in their treatment of the hazards that are subject to aggregate limits. The Lumbermens 

policy is a representative example. The declaration page of the policy provides an "Occurrence 

Limit" of $1,000,000, and an "Aggregate Limit" of $1,000,000. The insuring agreement for that 

same policy states, under "Section I: Coverage," that coverage indudes personal injury damages 

that the insured becomes obligated to pay. "Section II: Limits of Liability" describes that the 

general "total limit of the company's liability for any one occurrence shall be ... only up to the 

amount stated in the declarations as the occurrence limit[.]" The Section immediately goes on to 

explain an exception to this general occurrence limit: 

the company's liability is further limited to the amount stated in 
the declarations as the aggregate limit, with respect to all ultimate 
net loss resulting from one or more occurrences during each annual 
period while this policy is in force ... and arising out of either (1) 
products-completed operations liability, or (2) occupational 
diseases of employees ... 

Aggregate limits, therefore, explicitly apply only to liability for bodily injuries arising 

out of products-completed operations hazards. "Section IV: Other Definitions" gives the 

definitions of the two kinds of limits. "'Occurrence' means an accident, or a continuous or 

repeated exposure to conditions which results, during the policy period, in personal injury[.]" 

'"Products-completed operations liability' means liability arising out of (a) ... goods or products 

30 
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The court finds this reasoning to be dubious. The injury that plaintiffs allegedly suffered 

by reason of the nondisclosure of these policies is separate and distinct from the injury that they 

allegedly suffered due to the misrepresentation of limits. Defendants' theory is that if plaintiffs 

had investigated the other injury in a timely fashion, they would have discovered this separate 

injury. That is an unusual application of the inquiry notice rule, and defendants have supplied 

the court with no authority to support it. 

On the facts before the court, and given the briefing that the court has reviewed, the court 

does not believe it appropriate to conclude as a matter of law that limitations bars these counts 

(assuming that under Allied Investment the counts are subject to dismissal based on limitations). 

For these reasons, the motions will not be granted as to Counts Five through Seven. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, the motions will be granted as to Counts One through Four and 

denied as to Counts Five through Seven. 

}.~~ 
<( I •r ,. 

Judge's Signature appears on the 
original document 

Judge' w.. 11\4ie).~@l .Piersoi) ". 
•· r -" o o; ! .i: ·~- '"' 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARYLAND FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al., 

* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al., 
 

* 
* 

 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

NOTICE OF EXHIBIT FILED UNDER SEAL 
 

 Please note that Exhibits 2, 6, and 7 attached to the Memorandum in Support of Motion 

for Final Settlement Approval, and Exhibits 2 and 8 attached to the Memorandum in Support of 

Motion for Approval of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses to Class Counsel, were filed under seal on 

November 12, 2024, accompanied by a Motion to Seal Portions of Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in 

Support of Motion for Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses to Class Counsel and Portions of 

Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Support of Motion for Final Settlement Approval. 

 I certify that on November 12, 2024, a copy of the exhibits identified above were served 

on counsel for all parties. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

GALLAGHER EVELIUS & JONES LLP 

 

        /s/ Joe Dugan    
Paul S. Caiola (AIS # 9512120109) 
Brian T. Tucker (AIS # 0306180261) 
Joe Dugan (AIS # 1812110109) 
Sarah R. Simmons (AIS # 1912180151) 
Tory S. Trocchia (AIS # 2211290231) 
218 North Charles Street, Suite 400 
Baltimore MD 21201 
Telephone:  410-727-7702 
Facsimile:  410-468-2786 
pcaiola@gejlaw.com 
btucker@gejlaw.com 
jdugan@gejlaw.com 
ssimmons@gejlaw.com 
ttrocchia@gejlaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Date:  November 12, 2024 
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IN THE COURT OF SPECIAL APPEALS 

OF MARYLAND 

NO. 1962

September Term, 2004

HARRY C. ANDERSON, et al.,

V.

ROYAL INDEMNITY COMPANY, et al.

Meredith,

Woodward,

Thieme, Raymond G., Jr., Retired, 
Specially Assigned

JJ.

Opinion by Meredith, J.

Filed: May 15, 2006
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The appellants in this appeal were the plaintiffs in certain 

asbestos litigation against MCIC, Inc. (formerly known as McCormick 

Asbestos Company). The appellants' motions seeking additional 

benefits pursuant to a 1994 settlement agreement were denied and 

dismissed by the Circuit Court for Baltimore City upon cross 

motions for summary judgment. We agree with the ruling of Judge 

Joseph H.H. Kaplan that the claims were time-barred as a matter of 

law, and we shall affirm the judgment of the circuit court.

Overview

In the summer of 1994, counsel for over 8,000 plaintiffs who 

had claims against MCIC entered into a settlement agreement with 

five insurance carriers (“the Insurers,* appellees herein) who were 

believed to have insurance coverage for the plaintiffs' claims. The 

agreement recited that "(MCIC] and Insurers have tendered what they 

believe to be the total aggregate, bodily injury liability 

insurance coverage available for payment of [plaintiffs' claims,] 

($12,351,000.00), the Insurers!] each having executed affidavits 

which are attached ... confirming such coverage.' The agreement 

further recited that the participating plaintiffs' counsel desired 

to settle the actions.

In Section 1.3 of the settlement agreement, participating 

plaintiffs' counsel represented "that they have authority from 

their clients to enter into settlement negotiations and make 

recommendations regarding the settlement of individual cases.*



In Section 2.2, which is the provision that is the focus of 

the present appeal, the agreement provided as follows:

The Defendant [i.e., MCIC] agrees that if in 
addition to the insurance coverage disclosed by Insurers 
and confirmed by their affidavits, Exhibits A1 through 
A6, inclusive, other insursmce is discovered which would 
be applicable to claims made, the Defendant will promptly 
notify Participating Plaintiffs' Counsel and arrange for 
a pro rata distribution to them for payment to the 
Plaintiffs identified in Exhibit B.

The settlement agreement also provided in Section 6.10:

This Agreement shall be effective upon execution by 
the Parties and approval by the Honorable Joseph H.H. 
Kaplan, Administrative Judge, Circuit Court for Baltimore 
City who shall conclusively resolve any and all disputes 
arising under this Agreement.

Judge Kaplan approved and signed the agreement on August 10, 1994.

Eight years later, on October 17, 2002, the plaintiffs

represented by the Law Offices of Peter G. Angelos ("the Angelos 

Firm") filed a motion entitled "Motion to Enforce Settlement 

Agreement, Request for Show Cause and Request for Hearing." 

(Plaintiffs represented by the other participating plaintiffs' 

counsel subsequently filed similar motions to enforce the 1994 

settlement agreement.) In its motion, the Angelos Firm averred 

that, "[i]n order to reach a settlement with the Plaintiffs ..., 

the [Insurers] represented that they were tendering the total 

aggregate limits of the general Ii5d3ility insurance policies issued 

to MCIC as follows: quoting the recital set forth above, cind

also quoting from the affidavits provided by the Insurers. The 

motion further asserted that, as a result of a bankruptcy court 

decision filed February 20, 2002, the plaintiffs "believe and

2



therefore allege that the insurance policies issued by the 

[Insurers] contained additional other [sic] insurance than as 

represented by the [Insurers] in their affidavits and in the 

Settlement Agreement.* The motion prayed for the court to order 

each Insurer to tender the full insurance coverage available.

The Insurers filed oppositions to the motions to enforce the 

settlement agreement, and summary judgment motions were eventually 

filed. The motions for summary judgment were heard by Judge Joseph 

H.H. Kaplan, who ultimately ruled that the claims for additional 

benefits under the 1994 settlement agreement were time-barred.

Appellees' Blotlon to Dismiss This Appeal

Preliminarily, we note that the appellees have renewed their 

motion(s) to dismiss the appeal.^ Appellees argue that no appeals 

were permitted by the 1994 settlement agreement because Section 

6.10 of the agreement expressly provided that Judge Joseph H.H. 

Kaplan "shall conclusively resolve any and all disputes arising 

under this Agreement.* Appellees argue that Judge Kaplan's 

resolution of the dispute between the plaintiffs and the Insurers 

regarding any liability for additional insurance coverage should be

‘One of the Insurers named in the motion to enforce, viz., Liberty 
Mutual, had not been a party to the 1994 settlement agreement. Liberty Mutual 
moved in the circuit court to be dismissed from the proceedings on the motions 
to enforce, and, by separate order on February 5, 2004, the circuit court 
dismissed Liberty Mutual. Nonetheless, the civil appeal information report 
filed by the Angelos Firm listed Liberty Mutual as an appellee. Liberty Mutual 
again moved to be dismissed from these proceedings. At oral argument in this 
Court on January 12, 2006, appellants confirmed in open court that they did 
not object to the dismissal of Liberty Mutual from this appeal, and this Court 
has issued a separate order effectuating the dismissal of Liberty Mutual.



deemed conclusive, and therefore, not subject to further judicial 

review.

We find appellees' argument very persuasive. The provision 

empowering Judge Kaplan to conclusively resolve any and all 

disputes was adopted by the parties in the context of a settlement 

agreement that had, as its sine qua non, the goal of avoiding 

further litigation expenses. Under the circiimstances. Judge Kaplan 

was not merely an arbitrator of potential disputes, such as the 

decision-makers in the cases cited by appellants. It is generally 

expected that there can be no appeal from a settlement agreement, 

and it appears that the parties in this case wanted to provide a 

minimal-cost avenue for resolving any disputes that might arise 

without incurring the costs of further litigation and appeals. As 

such, Judge Kaplan was specifically designated by the parties to be 

the person who would "conclusively resolve any and all disputes.* 

(Emphasis added.)

In MD.-Nat'l Cap. P. & P. v. Wash. Nafl Arena. 282 Md. 588 

(1978), the Court of Appeals noted: "At common law, agreements 

providing for the settlement of future legal disputes by means 

other than through conventional judicial proceedings were 

considered bargains obstructing the administration of justice and 

were consequently deemed unenforceable at law or in equity.* Id. 

at 609. Nonetheless, the Court upheld such a resolution clause, 

noting that the old rule "singly does not comport with contemporary 

thinking about the use of extrajudicial modes of dispute



resolution.' Id. In particular, the Court cited U.S. v. Moojrman, 

338 U.S. 457 (1950), and said *[t]he thrust of these and other 

modern decisions is that unless clearly prohibited by statute, 

contractual limitations on judicial remedies will be enforced, 

absent a positive showing of fraud, misrepresentation, 

overreaching, or other unconscionable conduct on the part of the 

party seeking enforcement.' Id. at 611. In the fifty-plus years 

since Moorman was decided, extrajudicial modes of dispute 

resolution have become much more widespread, and alternative 

dispute resolution proceedings now play an increasingly important 

role in helping the courts deal with over-crowded dockets.

In Maslow V. Vanguri, ___ Md. App. ___ , No. 564, September

Term, 2005 (filed April 11, 2006), this Court reviewed a settlement 

agreement that contained an express provision that there would be 

no appeals. The party that ignored that provision argued that the 

"no appeals' provision was not an essential term of the settlement 

agreement. We disagreed. Judge Hollander wrote for the Court, Slip 

op. at 27-28:

[W]e agree with appellee that the "no appeals' provision 
was a central element of the Agreement, and appellant's 
appeal of the jury's verdict constituted a material, 
"substantial breach tending to defeat the object of the 
contract.' Vincent [v. Palmer], 179 Md. [365,] at 373 
[ (1941)).

Indeed, appellant's conduct went "to the root of the 
contract.' Traylor [v. Grafton], 273 Md. [649,] at 687 
[(1975)]. In direct contravention of the terms of the 
Agreement, appellant took an appeal in which she clearly 
sought "a second bite at the apple,' in order to recover



more than the $250,000 due under the Agreement. As 
appellee posits, the parties sought "two closely related 
things: limitation of their exposure risks and finality.
The finality component is integral to the limitation of 
the risk. If the risk limitation is open to future 
alteration on appeal, then the risk still exists, and the 
limitation is meaningless.*

In Maslow, we agreed with the non-appealing party's contention that 

a fundamental purpose of the settlement agreement in that case was 

"to limit the parties' exposure to prescribed parameters once and 

for all. Finality [wajs integral to the whole point of this 

contract, as is the case in nearly all settlement agreements.* Id., 

slip op. at 44.

Had Judge Kaplan given any indication that, in ruling upon the 

motions in this case, he was acting pursuant to Section 6.10 of the 

settlement agreement, or that he considered his rulings upon these 

motions to be unappealeibly conclusive, we would have agreed with 

the appellees and dismissed this appeal. As the appell2mts 

correctly point out, however. Judge Kaplan's ruling presupposed cui 

appeal from his rulings. Judge Kaplan stated that he would endeavor 

to address the appellant's motion for reconsideration in part 

because it would be "helpful for the purpose of appeal.* 

Accordingly, we infer that it was Judge Kaplan's intent in 

addressing this particular dispute that the appellants would have 

the right to appeal his ruling that their claims for additional 

benefits were time-barred. It would be inconsistent for us to rule 

that no appeal is permitted because Judge Kaplan's decision was 

conclusive, and at the same time, fail to give any effect to the



language in Judge Kaplan's ruling that treated this decision as 

appealable. We will therefore deny the motion to dismiss, and will 

address the merits of this appeal.

Questions Presented

Appellants present a total of seven questions for review, 

which we have reworded slightly, as follows:

1. Did the trial court err in holding that limitations began to 

run no later than the meeting with Bruce Chapper, Esq., counsel for 

MCIC, on April 22, 1998?

A. Did MCIC discover additional insurance as a result of the

April 22, 1998, meeting between Mr. Chapper and counsel for

Plaintiffs?

B. Even if MCIC had discovered the additional insurance, 

would Section 2.2's condition precedent have been satisfied and 

have caused the limitations to begin to run?

2. Did the trial court err in holding that the plaintiffs had 

knowledge of the existence of nonaggregated operations coverage?

3. Did the trial court err in holding that laches barred the 

plaintiff's claims?

4. Are the Insurers equitably estopped from claiming a violation 

of the statute of limitations and/or laches?

5. Can the plaintiffs represented by GME/CUNIFF be barred by 

laches if they were not involved in the 1998 meeting or the Wallace 

& Gale case?



6. Did the trial court err in finding that the settlement 

agreement was not a contract under seal, and therefore that the 

relevant statute of limitations was three years instead of twelve?

7. Did the trial court err in finding that, because appellants 

failed to raise the issue until the reconsideration stage, 

appellants had waived any argiunent regarding MClC's forfeited 

corporate charter and its effect (if any) on the motion to enforce?

Standard of Review

A party may move for summary judgment ”at any time* on the 

grounds that "there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact 

amd that the party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.' 

Md. Rule 2-501(a). This Court reviews grants of summary judgment 

on a de novo basis. In determining whether a grant of summary 

judgment by the circuit court was legally correct, we consider the 

facts in the light most favorable to the party against whom summary 

judgment was granted. Green v. H & R Block, 355 Md. 488, 502 

(1999).

As this Court stated in Meeks v. Dashiell, _ _  Md. App. _ _  ,

slip op. at 11-12, No. 638, September Term, 2004, (filed January 

26, 2006):

When a motion court grants a motion for summary 
judgment, we first review the record to determine 
whether there was a genuine dispute as to amy material 
fact. In ma)cing that assessment, all facts, including all 
reasonable inferences therefrom, must be viewed in a 
light most favorable to the non-moving party. Teamsters 
V. Corroon Corp., supra, 369 Md. at 728. Unless the

8



dispositive facts are free from genuine dispute, the 
motion court must deny the motion. Frederick Road v. 
Brown & Sturm, 360 Md. 76, 93-94 (2000); Pittman v. 
Atlantic Realty, 359 Md. 513, 537-39 (2000). “In 
reviewing the propriety of [a judgment granting] a 
summary judgment motion, we cannot consider evidence or 
claims asserted after the motion court's ruling." 
Baltimore v. Ross. 365 Md. 351, 361 (2001). See also 
Flaherty v. Weinberg, 303 Md. 116, 139 n.9 (1985) 
(appellate court disregards documents that were not 
before the court at the time of the ruling on the 
demurrer •[r]egardless of the persuasiveness of the 
documents") . Cf. Maryland Rule 2-501 (f) ("The court shall 
enter judgment in favor of or against the moving party if 
the motion and response show that there is no genuine 
dispute as to any material fact and that the party in 
whose favor judgment is entered is entitled to judgment 
as a matter of law.") (emphasis added).

If the motion court has granted the motion for 
summary judgment, after we confirm that there was no 
genuine dispute as to any fact, we then review the motion 
court's ruling for legal error. "In appeals from grants 
of summary judgment, Maryland appellate courts, as a 
general rule, will consider only the grounds upon which 
the lower court relied in granting summary judgment." 
PaineWebber v. East, 363 Md. 408, 422 (2001). In ma)cing 
our review of the grant of a motion for summary judgment, 
we need not defer to the motion court's determination of 
questions of law. Helinski v. Harford Memorial. 376 Md. 
606, 614 (2003); Comptroller v. Gannett, 356 Md. 699, 707 
(1999) .

Background Facts

Although the appellants take issue with Judge Kaplan's 

ultimate conclusion that they were on inquiry notice of their 

potential claims for additional coverage more than three years 

before they filed their respective motions to enforce the 

settlement agreement, the parties have pointed to no genuine 

dispute of material facts in the record of this case that would 

have precluded disposition of the pending claims by way of summary



judgment. In Judge Kaplan's Memorandum and Opinion dated August 5, 

2004, he summarized the pertinent facts, stating:

The following facts material to the resolution of 
this motion are undisputed:

Beginning in the late 1980's, seven plaintiffs' law 
firms, including the Law Offices of Peter G. Angelos 
(the "Angelos Firm*), filed thousands of actions against 
MCIC, Inc., (formerly known as McCormick Asbestos 
Company)("MCIC*) alleging personal injury based on 
exposure to asbestos-containing products. In 1994, these 
law firms entered into a settlement with MCIC and five of 
its insurers: Royal Indemnity Company, Hartford Accident 
and Indemnity Company, Continental Insurance Company, 
Lumbermens Mutual Casualty Con^jany and United States 
Fidelity & Guaranty Insurouicc Company (the "Insurers*).
This settlement successfully resolved more than 8,500 of 
the asbestos-related claims against MCIC and was approved 
by this court on August 10, 1994.

At the time the parties executed the Settlement 
Agreement, the participating Insurers tendered what they 
represented as their limits of liability under the known 
insurance policies (the "Settled Policies"). 
Collectively, the Insurers paid out over $12 million in 
settlement funds to the more than 8,500 claimauits who 
signed on to the settlement. During the negotiation of 
the Settlement Agreement, Plaintiffs and the Angelos Firm 
received schedules of insureince set forth in sworn 
affidavits that listed each Insurers' policies and the 
remaining limits under each policy that the Insurers 
represented as being applicable to the Plaintiffs' 
claims. See Ex. A to the Motion to Enforce (Settlement 
Agreement, Exs. A1-A6)(Benton Aff., Ex.l).

As of 1994, no Maryland court had determined whether 
personal injury claims arising from exposure to asbestos 
during the installation of asbestos containing materials 
were subject to the aggregate limits in contractors 
general liability policies or whether such injuries fell 
outside of the products completed operations hazard and 
were subject only to per occurrence limits. This theory 
of coverage, )cnown variously as the "premises-operations* 
or "non-products* or "installation" theory of coverage 
was recognized in Maryland as early as 1997 by the Court 
of Special Appeals. See Union Ins. Co. v. Porter Hayden 
Co.. 116 Md. App. 605, 692, 698 A.2d 1167, 1209 (noting 
that "it is evident that [the installer] could be held



liable* under “installation theory*), cert, denied, 348 
Md. 205, 703 A.2d 147 (1997). By 2002, the theory was 
explicitly confirmed by the Federal District Court of 
Maryland in In re Wallace & Gale Co., 275 B.R. 557 (D. 
Md. 2002), and appeal pending, Nos. 02-2389 & 02-2437 
(4th Cir.)

On April 22, 1998, counsel for the Angelos 
plaintiffs met with counsel for MCIC at plaintiffs' 
counsel's request. At that meeting, lawyers from the 
Angelos firm explained to MCIC that "recent court 
decisions had interpreted old policies containing 
provisions for contractors' general liability so as not 
to have any total limit on the policies." See Insurers' 
Opposition to Defendeuit Law Offices of Peter G. Angelos, 
P.C.'s Motion for Partial Siommary Judgment on the Issue 
of Statute of Limitations/Laches, Ex. 1 (April 22, 1998, 
Chapper Mem. to File). On that date plaintiffs' counsel 
informed MCIC that the “insurance carriers may be liable 
for considerably more than the insurance carriers had 
certified in the affidavits which accompanied the 
settlement.* Id.

More than four years later, on June 11, 2002, the 
Angelos firm sent a demeind letter to MCIC's Insurers and, 
relying on the recent holding in Wallace & Gale, asserted 
that MCIC was entitled to "much more extensive coverage* 
under the settled policies than what the parties had 
negotiated in the 1994 Settlement. Volta Letter at 2. 
The Angelos plaintiffs' claims were based on Section 2.2 
of ,the Settlement Agreement which states:

"The Defendant agrees that if in addition to 
the insurance coverage disclosed by the 
Insurers and confirmed by their affidavits, 
Exhibits A1 through A6, inclusive, other 
insurance is discovered which would be 
applicable to claims made, the Defendant will 
promptly notify Participating Plaintiffs' 
Counsel and arrange for a pro rata 
distribution to them for payment to the 
Plaintiffs identified in Exhibit B."

Royal, through its representative, Thomas N. Janzen, 
replied to the Demand Letter by letter of June 19, 2002, 
and, with the exception of Continental Insurance Company, 
the other Defendant insurers, through representatives, 
replied to the Demand Letter by either rejecting the 
Demand or by aclcnowledging receipt with the assurance of 
a later reply.



On October \1, 2002 the Angelos parties filed a
Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement, naming the 
Insurers, along with MCIC as defendants. The relevant 
portion of the Angelos plaintiffs' motion setting forth 
their allegation is reproduced in full below: 
[indentation added]

"IS. As a result of Judge Messitte's 
opinion and order filed on February 20, 2002 
in Jn re Wallace & Gale Co. (Debtor),
Beuikruptcy No. 85-A-0092 (Chapter 11) and in 
Aetna Casualty and Surety Compauiy v. Wallace &
Gale Co., Civ. No. PJM94-2327, Plaintiffs 
believe and therefore allege that the 
insurance policies issued by the Insurance 
Carriers contained additional other insurance 
than as represented by the Insurance Carriers 
in their affidavits 2uid in the Settlement 
Agreement. Judge Messitte's opinion is 
attached hereto and made a part hereof as 
Exhibit 2. Also, attached hereto as Exhibit 3 
is Judge Messitte's revised Opinion emd Order 
dated September 18, 2002.

14. By letter dated June 11, 2002, each 
Insurance Carrier was advised of Judge 
Messitte's opinion and advised that the Law 
Offices of Peter G. Angelos believed that 
additional other insurance has been

discovered. Also, the Insurance Carriers were 
rec[uested to fully condensate the Plaintiffs 
who were part of the Settlement Agreement.*

With respect to the Chapper memorandum that purported to give

an account of a meeting between counsel for MCIC and counsel from

the Angelos Firm that transpired on April 22, 1998, the two counsel

from the Angelos Firm who were identified as attending the meeting

filed affidavits in this case. Although the attorneys from the

Angelos Firm specifically denied receiving any documents from

Chapper, they did not dispute that the meeting with Chapper took

place on April 22, 1998, and they did not in any way dispute the

accuracy of any of the statements that Chapper attributed to them



regarding "recent court decisions [that] had interpreted old 

policies containing provisions for contractors' general liability 

so as not to have any total limit on the policies."

Further, with respect to the Wallace & Gale bankruptcy 

litigation that culminated in an opinion dated February 20, 2002, 

attorney Leslie Benton, from the law firm of Hogan & Hartson,
t

L.L.P., submitted an affidavit in support of the Insurers' motion 

for summary judgment, to which she attached a consultant's report 

dated May 4, 1998, ("the Gilbert report") that had been filed by 

the Angelos Firm in the Wallace & Gale action in 1998. The Gilbert 

report discussed in detail the impact of the 1997 Porter Hayden 

decision upon insurance coverage for asbestos claims under 

contractors' general liability policies. The plaintiffs made no 

effort in this case to dispute the existence of the Gilbert report 

or the Angelos Firm's use of the information in the report in the 

Wallace & Gale litigation.

At the time of the 1994 settlement, the claims against MCIC 

were treated as product liability claims, which were subject to the 

aggregate limits. It was not clear at the time that a general 

liability insurer could be liable for asbestos-related injuries 

under coverages such as premises-operations coverage that had no 

aggregate limits, but that possibility has since been noted by some 

courts, including this one.

On August 29, 1997, this Court decided the case of Commercial 

Union V. Porter Hayden, 116 Md. App, 605, cert, denied, 348 Md. 205



(1997). In that case. Porter Hayden, an insulation contractor, was 

seeking a declaratory judgment to compel its contractor's general 

liability (*CGL') insurer to provide coverage. The insurer. 

Commercial Union, asserted that because the claims against Porter 

Hayden were products-related. Commercial Union owed no duty to 

defend or indemnify the insulation contractor against the claims. 

This Court, however, affirmed the circuit ruling that had held 

there was exposure for claims beyond products claims, and that 

there was at least a duty to defend. Judge Moylan wrote for this 

Court:

Commercial Union contends that Judge [Hilary] Caplan 
initially, and then Judge Angeletti in adopting Judge 
Caplan's rulings as his own, erred in determining that 
Porter Hayden enjoyed coverage for the asbestos-related 
claims because the policies only provided coverage for 
third party bodily injury liability occurring during 
Porter Hayden's operations, i.e., "premises-operations" 
coverage. Commercial Union argues that the asbestos- 
related claims against Porter Hayden are all, in essence, 
products liability claims because they deal with the 
hazards posed by a product, and thus, would only be 
covered if “products hazard" coverage had been purchased, 
which Porter Hayden concedes had not been purchased.

Commercial Union, however, is putting the cart 
before the horse. It is anticipating the ultimate issue 
of an actual duty to indemnify rather them focusing on 
the more intermediate and tentative issue of a potential 
duty to indemnify. Only the ultimate trial on the merits 
of the individual claims of asbestos-related injury can 
determine whether the injury occurred as a result of 
mere exposure to hazardous products or as a more direct 
result of Porter Hayden's installation operation while it 
still had control of a particular premises.

Id. at 688. After reviewing the allegations in the complaint that

asserted claims beyond the products liability claim, we concluded,

id. at 692-93 (emphasis in original):



From those selected portions of the Master 
Complaint, it is evident that Porter Hayden could be held 
liable for the manner in which it conducted its 
operations in installing the asbestos-containing 
products. In that light, it is not solely covered by the 
"Products Hazard” insurance it declined to purchase. The 
"Products Hazard" insurance covers claims and liabilities 
relating to;

(1) the handling or use of, the existence of 
any condition in or a warranty of goods or 
products manufactured, sold, handled or 
distributed by the named insured ... if the
accident occurs after the insured has 
relinquished x>o8se8slon thereof to others and 
away from premises owned, rented or controlled 
by the insiired (2) operations, if the 
accident occurs after such operations have 
been completed or abandoned at the place of 
occurrence thereof. . ..

(Emphasis supplied).

The "Products Hazard" insurance is concerned with 
injury occurring after possession of the goods or the 
product has been relinquished or the operation has been 
completed or abandoned. The nature of some of the 
allegations in the Master Complaint, however, concern 
exposure and injury occurring during the operation, such 
as the emission of asbestos dust during the installation 
process.

We affirm the ruling of Judge Angeletti that, as a 
matter of law, there is a potentiality that the asbestos- 
related claims are covered and that there is, therefore, 
a duty on Commercial Union to defend and, depending on 
the ultiinate findings on the merits, potentially to indemnify.

A New York decision filed December 22, 1997, (approximately 

four months after the above Porter Hayden decision), reached a 

similar conclusion regarding the possibility of additional coverage 

under CGL policies. Frontier Insulation Contractors, Inc., v. 

Merchants Mutual Insurance Co., 690 N.E. 2d 866, 870 (N.Y. 1997).



On or about May 4, 1998, the Angelos Firm filed the Gilbert 

report in the Wallace & Gale bcuikruptcy proceedings. Mr. Gilbert 

described his qualifications as an expert in the representation of 

mass tort defendants and "the application of insurance to mass tort 

claims." Mr. Gilbert asserted, "I believe that I have represented 

more asbestos policyholders in the United States than any other 

single attorney." He noted that he "lecture[s] frequently on 

insurance coverage and dispute resolution issues at domestic and 

international conferences, including seminars at the law schools of 

University of Michigan and the University of Virginia."

In the report, Mr. Gilbert noted that the policies issued by 

Travelers to Wallace & Gale "provide no aggregate limits for those 

bodily injury claims that may be classified as general liability or 

'nonproducts' claims ...," After noting that *[n]one of these 

[Travelers] policies has an aggregate limit for ‘nonproducts' 

claims," Mr. Gilbert observed that *[t]he language of the Travelers 

Policies follows the standard form language used by the Insurance 

Services Office ('ISO'). Since 1973, ISO has written standard CGL 

form policies used by insurers throughout the United States." 

Citing, among other cases, the 1997 Porter Hayden opinion from this 

Court. Mr. Gilbert opined that, "Under Maryland law, it is highly 

likely that these key [coverage] issues will be resolved favorably 

to [Wallace & Gale]."

Mr. Gilbert further opined that under settled Maryland law, 

there would be no aggregate limits applicable to the vast majority



of the claims against Wallace & Gale because most of the claims 

were of the "non-products* category:

48. ... For all covered claims except those falling 
within the products or completed operations hazard, these 
policies pay without aggregate limits. The vast majority 
of the claims against [Wallace & Gale] do not fall into 
the products/completed operations hazard because they 
involve exposure to asbestos released at the time that 
[Wallace & Gale] was installing asbestos products. These 
so-called "installation claims* are not within the 
products/completed operations hazard as. defined in the 
Travelers Policies. . . .

49. The Maryland courts have adopted the view that 
asbestos installation claims are nonproducts claims not 
subject to aggregate limits. In a case directly on point, 
the Maryland Court of Special Appeals has held that, for 
purposes of assessing the duty to defend, asbestos bodily 
injury claims arising from asbestos installation 
activities are nonproducts claims. See Commercial Union 
Ins. Co V. Porter Havden Co.. 698 A.2d 1167, 1209 (Md. 
Ct. Spec. App.)....

50. The only other court to have considered the 
issue has agreed that coverage for claims based on injury 
resulting from installation activities is not included in 
the products hazard, and is not subject to aggregate 
policy limits for claims arising from such installation 
activities. See Frontier Insulation Contractors. Inc, v. 
Merchants Mut. Ins. Co.. 690 N.E.2d 866, 870 (N.Y. 
1997).... Consistent with Porter Havden II and Frontier 
Insulation and with my understanding that [Wallace & 
Gale's) liability is almost exclusively based on its 
historical involvement in the business of installing 
asbestos insulation, the vast majority of [Wallace & 
Gale's] Asbestos Claims should be classified as 
nonproducts claims, and therefore should not be subject 
to the aggregate limits applicable to products completed 
operations claims.

Mr. Gilbert also observed that "[t]he availability of unlimited 

coverage under policies that have only occurrence limits is not 

hypothetical,* citing cases to support his opinion.



Consistent with the Gilbert report, the U.S. District Court 

for the District of Maryland issued a ruling in February 2002, in 

In re Wallace & Gale Co. (Debtor), Bankruptcy No. 85-A-0092 

(Chapter 11), 275 B.R. 223, vacated in pert, 284 B.R. 557 (D. Md. 

2002), aff'd, 385 P.3d 820 (4«* Cir. 2004). In the District Court, 

Judge Messitte wrote:

By the same token [,] to the extent that injuries, 
beginning with exposure, may be considered as occurring 
before operations were completed they would, by 
definition, be excluded from the completed operations 
clause. There would be no aggregate limits under the 
policies then in effect. Case law is not inconsistent 
with this view.

275 B.R. at 238-39.*

The portion of Judge Messitte's ruling that dealt with aggregate limits was 
ultimately affirmed by the 4*** Circuit Court of Appeals. The appellate court 
stated, 385 F.3d at 833-34:

A part of the district court's decision in In re; Wallace &
Gale Co., 275 B.R. 223, 237-241 (D.Md.2002), subjected some of the 
claims of the intervenors v:o aggregate limits under the policy 
provisions.

If a claimant's initial exposure occurred while Wallace 
& Gale was still conducting operations, policies in 
effect at that time will not be subject to any aggregate 
limit. If, however, initial exposure is shown to have 
occurred after operations were concluded or if exposure 
that began during operations continued after operations 
were con^lete, then the aggregate limits of any policy 
that came into effect after operations were complete 
will apply. Where a given claimant falls within this 
framework will have to be considered on a case-by-case 
basis. 275 B.R. at 241.

The policy provisions involved are from Hartford's policy, 
which is typical.

The argument of Intervenors is ‘The Con^leted Operations 
Hazards Do Not Apply To The Asbestos-Related Claims Because 'The 
Bodily Injury' Did Not Begin To Occur After Completion of Wallace & 
Gale's Operations.* Br. p. 47.



In October 2002, the Angelos Firm filed its motion seeking 

additional benefits under the 1994 settlement agreement. The 

Insurers replied that the motion was time-barred, as the plaintiffs 

had discovered no new facts, but merely a new legal theory that was 

evident at least as early as when this Court's opinion in the 

Porter Hayden case was issued in August of 1997. The Insurers 

noted that, although the actual policies were not available, the 

policies in question were understood to be "standard" contractor 

general liability policies.

After hearing arguments, by opinion and order dated August 5, 

2004, Judge Kaplan gremted the Insurers' motions for summary 

judgment, ruling that the claims asserted by the plaintiffs were 

time-barred. Judge Kaplan concluded it was undisputed that "the 

'fact' that this additional coverage existed was known to [the 

Angelos Firm] as early as the decisions in' 1997 in Porter Hayden 

cuid Frontier Insulation.

The plaintiffs filed motions to alter or amend the judgment, 

and on September 27, 2004, Judge Kaplan denied those motions

That argument, however, on its face is far broader than the 
district court's decision we have quoted just above from 275 B.R. at 
241. For example, a claimant's initial exposure which occurred while 
Wallace & Gale was still conducting operations was not subject to 
any aggregate limit for policies in effect at that time even if the 
exposure extended beyond the operations of Wallace & Gale. Also, if 
exposure which began during operations continued after operations 
were conqpleted, the aggregate limits of policies which came into 
effect after operations would apply, but, as stated, the aggrega'.a 
limits would not apply to those policies in effect at the time of 
the exposure during Wallace k Gale's operations.

Accord Wat'J Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh v. Porter Hayden Co., 331 B.R.
652, 666-67 (D.Md. 2005).



without a further hearing, commenting that "the Court ... remains 

convinced that the doctrine of laches bars Plaintiffs' recovery." 

In that order Judge Kaplan explained that the bar of laches applied 

to all participating plaintiffs' counsel, including those who were 

not from the Angelos Firm, noting that their absence from the 1998 

Chapper meeting "is of no moment since 1998 was the latest date on 

which the Angelos Plaintiffs or the Intervening Plaintiffs should 

have ’discovered' the purported existence of ‘additional 

insurance.' ... the Intervening Plaintiffs' counsel, likewise are 

charged with knowledge of the law, .... yet they made no effort to 

inquire of MCIC or the Insurers until 2004.... The Intervening 

Plaintiffs[] have failed to diligently press their claims and their 

motions to enforce are consequently barred by laches."

In the opinion issued September 27, 2004, Judge Kaplan further 

addressed the issue of whether the settlement agreement was a 

contract under seal, which had been raised in the motion to alter 

or amend filed by the GME plaintiffs. He began by noting that 

neither the settlement agreement itself not the affidavits of the 

insurance companies were executed under seal. He acknowledged that 

some of the individual releases signed by some plaintiffs were 

executed under seal, but concluded that those releases are not part 

of and were not incorporated into the agreement, and that 

"plaintiffs have moved to enforce the settlement agreement not the 

individual releases." Judge Kaplan also: rejected the suggestion 

that the Insurers' 1994 affidavits had somehow impeded the earlier



filing of the claims for additional coverage; rejected the 

assertion that MCIC had somehow revived an action on the settlement 

agreement; and ruled that any issue regarding the forfeiture of 

MCIC's corporate charter had been waived.

Analysis

1. The appellants' claims ware barred by laches.

The controlling issue on appeal, which subsumes the first 

three questions presented, is the question of knowledge and timing.

The circuit court began its 6inalysis of the time bar question 

by reiterating that "the relief sought, specific performance, is an 

equitable remedy ... and is therefore governed by the doctrine of 

laches.* It then quoted from Finch v. Hughes Aircraft Co., 57 Md. 

App. 190 (1984), cert, denied. 300 Md. 88 (1984), reconsid'n 

denied, 301 Md. 41 (1984), cert, denied, 469 U.S. 1215 (1985), on 

the subject of laches:

Courts of equity view stale claims with disfavor and 
through application of the equitable doctrine of laches, 
deny relief to those who have slept upon their rights. 
Cunningham v. Davidoff, 188 Md. 437, 442, 53 A.2d 777 
(1947); Syester v. Brewer. 27 Md. 288, 319 (1867); Chew 
V. Farmers Bank of Maryland, 9 Gill 361, 377 (1850);

Skeen v. McCarthy, 46 Md. App. 434, 438, 418 A.2d 1214, 
cert, den.,289 Md. 740 (1980) . "The doctrine of laches is 
an application of the general principles of estoppel and 
consists of two elements - negligence or lack of 
diligence on the part of plaintiff in failing to assert 
his right, and prejudice or injury to the defendant.* 
Staley v. Staley, 251 Md. 701, 703, 248 A.2d 655 (1968). 
Therefore, whether plaintiff's claim is barred by laches 
depends on the facts and circumstances of the particular



case. Bowie v. Ford, 269 Md, 111, 122-23, 304 A.2d 803 
(1973) .

As a general rule, mere passage of time will not 
constitute laches where the delay has not prejudiced 
defendant. Salisbury Beauty Schools v. State Board of 
Cosmetologists, 268 Md. 32, 63, 300 A.2d 367 (1973). 
However, prejudice to defendant need not be shown if an 
analogous action at law would be barred by the applicable 
statute of limitations. Salisbury Beauty Schools v. State 
Board of Cosmetologists, 268 Md. at 63; Rockshire Civic 
Ass'n. V. Mayor and Council of Rockville, 32 Md. App. 22, 
28, 358 A.2d 570, cert, den.,289 Md. 740 (1976). In such 
a case, the Court will apply the appropriate statute of 
limitations by analogy. Hall v. Barlow Corp., 255 Md. 28, 
41-42, 255 A.2d 873 (1969); Stevens v. Bennett, 234 Md. 
348, 199 A.2d 221 (1964).

Id., 57 Md. App. at 243-44 (emphasis added).

Judge Kaplan further noted that *[t]he legal cause of action 

analogous to the Angelos Plaintiffs' demand for specific 

performance is breach of contract, which under Maryland law is 

subject to a three-year statute of limitations. See Md. Code Cts. 

& Jud. proc. § 5-101; Rouse-Teachers v. MD. Casualty, 358 Md. 575, 

592 (2000).-

The Court of Appeals has made it plain that "Maryland applies 

the ‘discovery rule' in determining when an action accrues. . . Under 

that rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when 'the 

plaintiff has Icnowledge of circumstances which would cause a 

reasonable person in the position of the plaintiff to underta)ce an 

investigation which, if pursued with reasonable diligence, would 

have led to knowledge of the alleged [cause of action].- Bank of 

New York v. Sheff, 382 Md. 235, 244 (2004) (internal citations
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omitted) . The Court of Appeals has further confirmed that the 

issue can be appropriately decided by summary judgment, stating, if 

“the question of whether the plaintiffs were on inquiry notice more 

than three years before their suit was filed can be determined as 

a matter of law, summary judgment on that issue is, indeed, 

appropriate." Id.

We are persuaded, based upon Bank of New York v. Sheff, that 

the appellants were on inquiry notice of their potential claims for 

additional insurance coverage under the 1994 settlement agreement 

well over three yeeurs before they filed their respective motions to 

enforce in 2002 (and beyond) . When we filed the reported opinion in 

the Porter Hayden case in August of 1997, and that case became part 

of the public domain, any Maryland attorney whose practice involved 

asbestos litigation and insurance coverage for such cases was on 

notice that there might be nonproducts liability, and 

correspondingly, insurance coverage for such nonproducts liability, 

that exceeded the liability and coverage previously assumed to be 

applicable. The Gilbert report makes in clear that by May of 1998, 

this development in the asbestos field was widely known, and that 

the prospect of insur^ulce coverage that was not subject to 

aggregate limits was not ignored by asbestos plaintiffs' attorneys.

Accordingly, we agree with Judge Kaplan's conclusion that the 

appellants' "claim for further additional insurance under the 

[1994] Settlement Agreement is time-barred." We shall therefore



affirm the judgment of the circuit court. We shall, however, 

briefly address the additional issues raised by appellants.

2. Remaining Iseues.

The appelleuits contend that the Insurers' affidavits of 

coverage issued in connection with the 1994 settlement agreement 

were fraudulent, and that the Insurers should therefore be estopped 

from claiming laches. Appellants allege that the Insurers knew in 

1994 that they were on the hook for more coverage than they 

disclosed in the affidavits, and that they hid that information 

from the plaintiffs, knowingly filing false affidavits in order to 

coerce an unjust settlement. The appellants contend: "The doctrine 

of unclean hands applies in these circumstances and ‘the ancient 

maxim that no one should profit from his own conscious wrong' 

forecloses Insurers as a matter of basic fairness from the defense 

of statute of limitations and/or laches.*

There was, however, no evidence of knowingly false 

representations proffered to Judge Kaplan, who rejected the 

plaintiffs' vague accusations of fraud, noting, "As of 1994, no 

Maryland court had determined whether personal injury claims 

arising from exposure to asbestos .... fell outside of the 

products/completed operations hazard and were subject only to per 

occurrence limits.* Aside from suspicion and speculation, there 

was nothing presented to Judge Kaplan to support the plaintiffs'



bald assertion that the Insurers knew in 1994 what the courts were 

going to decide in 1997 regarding asbestos coverage under CGL 

policies. The only evidence offered by the appellants to support 

the accusation of fraud is the fact that some or all of the 

Insurers currently concede that the MCIC policies contained 

unaggregated operations coverage, as did, apparently, all standard 

CGL policies of the time. But there was no evidence that euiy of 

the Insurers would have made such a concession prior to the Porter 

Hayden decision, let alone any evidence that any of the Insurers 

(or, for that matter, any persons anywhere) were of that opinion at 

the time the Insurers executed the affidavits attached to the 1994 

settlement agreement.

Moreover, in his opinion issued September 27, 2004, denying 

the plaintiffs' motions to alter or amend, Judge Kaplan commented 

that even if he assumed, arguendo, that the affidavits were 

fraudulent when made, that would not have altered his conclusion 

that plaintiffs were on inquiry notice of their potential claims 

for additional coverage no later than 1998. He stated:

The Court did not directly address the role of the 
allegedly fraudulent affidavits in its opinion because 
the Court does not believe that the affidavits impeded 
the bringing of Plaintiffs' claim. In 1998, the Angelos 
Plaintiffs met with MCIC and explained that recent court 
decisions had interpreted contractors' general liability 
policies as having no aggregate limits on claims arising 
from the installation of asbestos containing materials.
As a result, the Angelos Firm claims, the Insurers may be 
liable for more than they had originally stated in their 
sworn affidavits. Plaintiffs asserted this exact claim 
in their Motion to Enforce in 2002, more than four years



after their meeting with MCIC, yet they learned no new 
fact in the interim.

The Angelos Plaintiffs now argue that the “fact" 
that they learned between 1998 6uid 2002 was the fact that 
the particular policies at issue actually provided 
unaggregated coverage and that that fact had been 
fraudulently concealed by the Insurers' affidavits. It 
seems to the court, however, that the Angelos claim was 
motivated not by the discovery of the "fact* that 
previously existing, but concealed, insurance coverage 
had been discovered, but instead by the explicit 
endorsement of the "installation theory* of coverage by 
the court in Wallace & Gale.^^ The Angelos Firm's demand 
letter and their subsequently filed Motion to Enforce 
cite Wallace & Gale as the genesis of their claim. It 
was as a result of the holding in Wallace & Gale, says 
the Angelos Firm, that they believed additional insurance 
coverage to "now exist.*™^ The Angelos Plaintiffs now

[At this point Judge Kaplan inserted a footnote 
that stated as follows:] In Wallace & Gale, the United 
States District Court for the District of MarylcUid held 
that: "If a claimant's initial exposure occurred while 
Wallace & Gale was still conducting operations, 
policies in effect at that time will not be subject to 
any aggregate limit. If, however, initial exposure is 
shown to have occurred after operations were concluded 
or if exposure that began during operations continued 
after operations were complete, then the aggregate 
limits of any policy that came into effect after 
operations were complete will apply. Where a given 
claimant falls within this freunework will have to be 
considered on a case-by-case basis.*

[At this point Judge Kaplan inserted a footnote 
that stated as follows:] The Court believes it is 
helpful to reproduce the following excerpt from the 
Angelos Demand Letter, dated June 11, 2002, "We believe 
that such additional coverage does now, in fact, exist. 
We enclose herewith, as Attachment 'B', Judge Masetti's 
[sic] opinion and order filed on February 20, 2002 in 
In re Wallace & Gale Co. (Debtor), Bankruptcy No. 85-A- 
0092 (Chapter 11) and in Aetna Casualty and Surety 
Company v. Wallace & Gale Co.. Civ. No. PJM94-2327. As 
you will see in that opinion, asbestos contractors, 
such as Wallace & Gale and MCIC, are afforded much more 
extensive coverage under standard CGL policies than 
what you and the other insurance carriers represented



shift course and assert that this revelation did not 
occur until after Hartford's "admission* in the course of 
the Wallace & Gale litigation that unaggregated 
operations coverage was provided for in the particular 
general lieU^ility policies at issue and that such 
coverage applied to claims stemming from the installation 
of asbestos containing materials. Argument is no 
substitute for evidence, however, and the evidence before 
the court, including the Chapper Memorandum, the Volta 
Letter and the Motion to Enforce itself all indicate that 
the impetus for seeking further additional insurance 
proceeds was the endorsement by Maryland courts of the so 
called "installation theory* of coverage. As the 
Insurers note, this Court gave the Plaintiffs the benefit 
of the doubt when it assumed, for sake of analysis, that 
the subsequent development of a legal theory could 
constitute the "fact* of discovery of additional 
insurance under Section 2.2 of the Settlement Agreement.
This theory, however, was known by the Angelos Plaintiffs 
and, significantly, by MClC no later than 1998.

The plaintiffs' attorneys' knowledge that MCIC had CGL 

policies that might provide additional coverage is demonstrated by 

the uncontroverted portion of the 1998 Chapper memorandum, which 

stated:

On 4/22/98 I met with Armond Volta and Gary 
Ignatowski from the law offices of Peter Angelos. The 
meeting had been requested by them pursuant to the terms 
of the global settlement agreement in which MCIC has 
specifically agreed to turn over to the plaintiffs 
information relating to additional insurance assets which 
may be discovered. Specifically, they explained that 
recent court deciaiona bad interpreted old policies 
containing proviaiona for contractors peneral liability 
ao as not to have apy total limit on the policies. Thus,

in the Settlement Agreement. In light of the Wallace & 
Gale decision and your fcuniliarity therewith, we assume 
that you have undertaken a review of your policies and 
discovered that additional coverage now exists to fully 
compensate all previous (Schedule "B* and "C') and 
pending claims against your insured.*



they contended that the insurance carriers may be liable 
for coxisiderably more than the insurance carriers bad 
certified in the affidavits which accompanied the 
settlement agremaent.

(Emphasis added.)

Accordingly, we agree with Judge Kaplan that the plaintiffs' 

attorneys were on inquiry notice that the Insurers' affidavits may 

have been erroneous representations of coverage no later than 1998, 

and that the motions filed in 2002 (and later) seelting additional 

coverage were therefore barred by laches.

The plaintiffs’ allegations of 1994 fraud in the inducement 

would not toll any applicable period of limitations beyond the 

point in time when plaintiffs' attorneys were on inquiry notice 

that they had relied upon incorrect information. There was no 

allegation of any conduct that constituted unclean hands on the 

part of the Insurers in 1998, or thereafter, that had lulled the 

plaintiffs' attorneys into holding off on pursuing their claims for 

additional payments under the settlement agreement. As the Court of 

Appeals stated in Nyitrai v. Bonis, 266 Md. 295, 300 (1972), "It 

has been recognized that in order for estoppel to plead the statute 

of limitations to be effective against a defendant, the plaintiff 

must have instituted the appropriate legal proceedings seasonably 

after becoming aware that such proceedings would be required." See 

also Booth Glass Co., Inc. v. Huntingfield Corp., 304 Md. 615, 624 

(1985)("equitable estoppel will not toll the running of limitations 

absent a showing that the defendant 'held out any inducements not
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to file suit or indicated that limitations would not be pleaded,'' 

quoting Nyitrai. supra, 266 Md. at 300).

The GME/Cuniff firms claim that they should not be held to 

have had Icnowledge of the new theory of coverage because they were 

not present at the 1998 Chapper meeting. However, as has been 

noted above, the meeting itself was not the moment when the new 

theory of coverage came to light, nor was it the event that put 

appellants on inquiry notice. The Chapper meeting, and the 

subsequent Gilbert report filed by the Angelos Firm in the Wallace 

& Gale litigation, made it clear that the new theory of coverage 

was based upon the 1997 Porter Hayden opinion. As Judge Kaplan 

noted in his opinion, citing Moreland v. Aetna, supra, 152 Md. App. 

at 288, all of the participating plaintiffs' attorneys are "charged 

with knowledge of the law."

The GME/Cuniff firms have also asserted that the relevant 

period of limitations was twelve years, not three, because, they 

allege, the 1994 settlement agreement was a "contract under -seal." 

All parties agree, however, that the settlement agreement itself 

was not signed under seal. The question is whether the fact that 

some of the releases signed by individual plaintiffs who took 

adveuitage of the settlement agreement were signed under seal 

converts the overall settlement agreement to one under seal. The 

case of Goodwin & Boone v. Choice Hotels, 346 Md. 153, 159-60 

(1996) , persuades us that it is the document as to which the 

obligations are being enforced that determines whether a contract
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is under seal. Here, it is the settlement agreement that was the 

subject of the motions to enforce, and, as we have already noted, 

that agreement was not a contract under seal.

The settlement agreement itself determines the rights of the 

parties, and the only mention of releases occurs in section 3.1, 

which states that "Each present case submitted for settlement must 

be accompanied by; a. An executed release as described below: (i) 

For Actions alleging the presence of a non-malignant asbestos- 

related condition, the form of release shall be a present disease, 

pro tanto type release as per Exhibit D." This language merely 

prescribes the form of the releases.^

Appellants contend that the releases were incorporated into 

the settlement agreement by Section 6.7, which states: "All 

Exhibits attached hereunto are incorporated herein as integral 

parts of this Agreement.' Exhibits D auid E, however, are merely 

san^le releases; the actual releases were not even in existence at 

the time that the settlement agreement was executed; consequently, 

the actual releases were not exhibits and were not incorporated 

into the settlement agreement.

'The release shown in the record extract provided at E 837 does not show 
a physical seal or “any other written or printed mark which clearly appears 
intended by the person using it to be his or her seal.* See 68 Am. Jur. 2d 
Seals S 6 (2005). It contains the signature of the individual plaintiff, the 
signatures of two witnesses, and the words *we have hereunto set our hands and 
our seals.* In Goodwin, supra, 346 Md. at 155, the Court of Appeals treated 
a franchise agreement which contained the language *the parties have hereunto 
set their hands and their seals* but which did not contain any actual seals, 
as an unsealed document (although eventually finding that another, sealed 
document, controlled the statute of limitations in that case). However, there 
were presumably over 8,000 releases, and if the circuit court assumed that at 
least one was signed under seal, we shall make Che same assumption.



The appellants also argue that "the 'seal' louiguage appeared 

on the form release appended to the Settlement Agreement... 

indicating that the other parties to the Settlement Agreement 

intended, once a given plaintiff signed, that it was to be regarded 

as a contract under seal." We decline to apply such tortured 

reasoning to contradict the plain language of the settlement 

agreement, negotiated by experienced counsel, and approved by Judge 

Kaplan. Moreover, to the extent the reference to the releases 

created any potential inference that the entire settlement 

"agreement was under seal,* we would defer to Judge Kaplan's 

resolution of that issue as conclusive.

Finally, appellants contend that the circuit court erred in 

finding that any argvunent relating to MClC's corporate status had 

been waived because it was not presented before the reconsideration 

phase. Given the lengthy history of this case, we find no abuse of 

discretion on the part of Judge Kaplan in refusing to reconsider 

his prior decision on the basis of such an untimely argument. As we 

stated in Steinhoff v. Sormerfelt, 144 Md. App. 463, 484 (2002):

With respect to the denial of a Motion to Alter or 
.Amend ... the discretion of the trial judge is more them 
broad; it is virtually without limit. What is, in effect, 
a post-trial motion to reconsider is not a time machine 
in which to travel back to a recently concluded trial in 
order to try the case better with hindsight.

JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 
FOR BALTIMORE CITY AFFIRMED. 
COSTS TO BE PAID BY APPELLANTS.
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Re: Decision in the Action Against MCIC and its Insurers 

Client: Walter Kacala 

Dear Cynthia M. Clark: 

Joel D. Rozner (MD, DC) 
Barry L. Gogel 
Michael S. Nagy 
Camille G. Fesche (MD, DC, NY, NJ) 
Laurence Levitant 

John C. Reit h (Nonlawyer/Consult ant) 

I am writing at the request of the Law Offices of Peter G. Angelos, PC (the 
"Firm") to inform you that the lawsuit commenced by the Firm on your behalf in 
2005 against MCIC (an asbestos supplier and installer that had gone out of 
business), and five of its insurance companies, has come to an end. The 2005 
complaint against MCIC ("the MCIC Complaint") alleged that MCIC and the five 
insurers had misrepresented the amount of the available insurance coverage when 
they entered into a 1994 settlement of asbestos-related claims with the Firm. The 
Firm, and the additional lawyers, including myself, who were brought into the case 
in 2008 at the request of the Firm, were confident that the Firm would prevail. On 
September 22, 2017, however, Maryland's highest Court disagreed. The Court let 
stand the finding of the intermediate appellate court that this 2005 MCIC 
Complaint filed on your behalf by the Firm was not filed in a timely fashion. 
(Copies of the Opinion and Order from Maryland's two highest Courts are attached.) 
Accordingly, additional funds sought from MCIC and/or its insurers cannot be 
obtained. The case has been dismissed. 

Although the Firm continues to believe strongly that the case was properly 
brought, and disagrees with the conclusion of the Maryland courts, the Firm and its 
clients are bound by that decision. The Firm, and Peter Angelos in particular, are 
extremely disappointed in this outcome . Mr. Angelos has dedicated his legal career 
to pursuing justice for asbestos victims against defendant companies large and 
small. Since the Firm first identified MCIC as a defendant in the 1980s, it has 
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vigorously pursued the Company and its insurers. In 1994, the Firm obtained an 
MCIC settlement, and the proceeds were distributed to the above individual or their 
representatives/beneficiaries and other MCIC claimants represented by the Firm. 
Later, however, the Firm, suspecting that there was reason to believe that MCIC's 
insurers had misrepresented the amount of potentially available insurance, sued 
MCIC and its insurers to try to make additional funds available to you and other 
clients. During the pendency of the 2005 case, the Firm unearthed two additional 
MCIC insurance policies, and the proceeds of those policies were sent to the above 
client or their representatives/beneficiaries and other MCIC claimants represented 
by the Firm. 

In the meantime, in light of the decision by the Maryland courts described 
above, the Firm may not advise you further about the action relating to the MCIC 
settlement except to advise you to seek separate legal counsel concerning any 
further options you may have as to potential claims against MCIC or its insurers, or 
as to a potential claim against the Firm by reason of its late filing. If, after you 
have had the opportunity to consult separate counsel, the Firm does not hear from 
you, the Firm will assume that you wish the Firm to continue to represent you and 
advise you with regard to your other asbestos claims against different asbestos 
defendant companies and their insurers. If you notify the Firm that you do not 
want the Firm to represent you in those different claims, the Firm will then take 
steps to withdraw from representing you. 

If you have questions about this letter, call 1-833-821-2275 at the Law Offices 
of Peter G. Angelos, PC. 

Sincerely, 

Arnold M. Weiner 

Enclosure 



Btate of Adams v. Continental Insurance Company, 233 Md.App. 1 (2017} 

161 A.3d 70 

233 Md.App. 1 

Court of Special Appeals of Maryland. 

ESTATE OF Harold L. ADAMS, et al. 
V . 

. CONTINENTAL INSURANCRCOMP ANY, et al. 

No. 1065, Sept. Term, 2014 

I 
June 1,' 2017 

Synopsis 
Background: After settlement of plaintiffs' claims in 
asbestos-related personal injury litigation against installer 
of asbestos products, plaintiffs brought action against 
installer and its insurers, alleging negligent 
misrepresentation, fraudulent misrepresentation, and fraud 
by concealment regarding extent of available insurance 
coverage. The Circuit Court, Baltimore City, W. Michel 
Pierson, J., dismissed claims as time-barred. Plaintiffs 
appealed. 

Holdings: The Court of Special Appeals, Beachley, J., 
held that: 

111 plaintiffs were not required to know mental states of 
installer and insurer in order to be on inquiry notice of 
their fraudulent misrepresentation claims; 

121 plaintiffs were on inquiry notice of their claims no later 
thari time at which case law was published holding that 
asbestos installation claims were nonproduots claims not 
subject to aggregate limits; and 

PJ limitations period was not tolled by fraudulent 
concealment. 

Affimied. 

West Headnotes ( 16) 

Ill Limitation of Actions 
C=In general; what constitutes discovery 

In determining when an action accrues, state's 

(21 

(31 

courts recognize the discovery rule. Md. Code 
Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc. § 5-10 l. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Limitation of Actions 
EF-<In general; -what constitutes discovery 

Under the concept of inquiry notice, as would 
determine when limitations begins to run 
pursuant to the discovery rule, a claimant should 
know ' of the wrong if the claimant has 
knowledge of circumstances which ought to 
have put a person of -ordinary prudence on 
inquiry, thus charging the claimant with notice 
of all facts which such awinvestigation would in 
all probability have disclosed if it had been 
properly pursued. Md. Code Ann., Cts. & Jud. 
Proc.§ 5-101. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

Limitation of Actions 
..,.In general; what constitutes discovery 

A claimant is on inquiry notic·e, as would 
commence running of limitations pursuant to the 
discovery rule, when the claimant has 
knowledge of circumstances which would cause 
a reasonable person in the position of the 
claimant to undertake an investigation which, if 
pursued with reasonable diligence, would have 
led to knowledge of the alleged tort. Md. Code 
Ann., Cts. & Jud. Proc.§ 5-101. 

Cases that cite this headnote 

141 Fraud 
C,..Statements recklessly made; negligent 
misrepresentation 

A claim for negligent misrepresentation requires 

WIESTlAW © 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 
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Declaration of Paul W. Grimm 
 

1. My name is Paul W. Grimm. I am over 21 years old and competent to testify to the 
matters contained in this Declaration, which are based on my personal knowledge.  This 
Declaration is submitted in connection with the following case: Cynthia M. Clark ex rel 
Estates of Walter F. Kacala & Helen M. Kacala et al. v. Peter G. Angelos, et al., No. 24-
C-21-0000847, Circuit Court for Baltimore City, the Honorable John S. Nugent, 
presiding. (Hereinafter, “Clark”). 

2. Qualifications:  
a. I am a retired United States District Judge for the District of Maryland. I served as 

a District Judge from 2012 until my retirement in December, 2022. From 1997 
until 2006 I was a United States Magistrate Judge for the District of Maryland. 
From 2006 until 2012 I served as the Chief United States Magistrate Judge for the 
District of Maryland.  

b. As a United States Magistrate Judge, I estimate that I conducted in excess of 
1,000 settlement conferences of civil cases, including many class action cases. As 
a United States District Judge, I presided over numerous class action cases, and 
conducted preliminary and final fairness hearings in connection with many such 
cases. I also ruled on class action certification motions in cases assigned to me 
and resolved complicated Daubert motions related to the qualifications of expert 
witnesses in connection with class action cases. I am thoroughly familiar with the 
law regarding class certification, the standards for preliminary and final approval 
of class certification settlements, and the admissibility of expert testimony. 

c. For approximately 13 years prior to being appointed a United States Magistrate 
Judge, I was in private practice in Maryland, concentrating on civil litigation in 
both State and Federal Court. Among the cases that I frequently handled were 
lawsuits in Maryland and Federal court involving professional liability of 
attorneys and other professionals. I both prosecuted and defended these types of 
cases. I therefore am very familiar with the law surrounding the prosecution and 
defense of attorney professional liability cases. Further, as a federal judge, I was 
assigned cases asserting professional liability involving professionals, including 
attorneys, and am familiar with the law governing these cases. 

d. Following my retirement as a United States District Judge on December 30, 2022, 
I began my post-retirement career as a member of the faculty of Duke Law School 
in Durham North Carolina. I currently am the David F. Levi Professor of the 
Practice of Law and Director of the Bolch Judicial Institute at Duke Law School. 
Additionally, since January, 2024, I have been affiliated with the Judicial 
Arbitration and Mediation Service (“JAMS”) where I conduct mediation of civil 
cases. 

3. In March 2023, the Clark case was assigned to me by JAMS to mediate this class action 
case. From March 23, 2024 through mid-May, 2024, I worked very closely with counsel 
for the Clark plaintiffs, counsel for the individual defendants, and counsel for the estate 
of Peter Angelos. In addition to reviewing ex parte mediation statements provided by 
counsel, I reviewed key filings (including the voluminous filings and associated exhibits 
relating to the motion to certify the case as a class action). I conducted an in-person 
mediation conference with counsel and the parties on April 19, 2024, which lasted 11 
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 2 

hours, and many hours of telephone and zoom conferences with counsel for all the 
parties. I also reviewed numerous versions of the settlement terms sheet as counsel for 
the parties worked diligently to revise, refine, and finalize the terms of the settlement. In 
total, I recorded 33.9 hours spent in connection with this mediation. These are the total 
hours billed, but I estimate that I spent at least an additional 10 hours working to facilitate 
the settlement for which I did not bill my time. 

4.  I have spent nearly a half century as a practicing attorney and federal judge. The 
attorneys who represented the parties in the Clark case are among the best attorneys I 
have seen. The issues in this case were immensely complex and included very 
challenging procedural as well as substantive issues. Some of these issues were of first 
impression. For example, the filings involving the motion for class certification totaled 
nearly 300 pages of memoranda and exhibits, all of which I read carefully. The filings by 
both plaintiffs’ counsel and defense counsel were excellent. From my review of these 
filings and based on my experience as a federal judge and practicing attorney, I was 
convinced that this was a very close case, and that there was substantial litigation risk that 
both the plaintiffs and defendants faced if the case proceeded to resolution. I thereby 
reached the firm opinion that it was very much in the best interest of both the plaintiffs’ 
class and the defendants that this case be settled in a manner that was fair and equitable to 
all the parties. My objective as a mediator was to assist the parties in reaching such a 
settlement.  

5. It is important to keep in mind that the proposed settlement that was reached in this case 
was the product of arms-length negotiation, conducted by superbly competent counsel 
who were thoroughly familiar with the background facts, having conducted substantial 
pretrial discovery. The issues associated with class certification and the merits of the 
claims were extremely well developed, and counsel for all parties were completely 
conversant with the governing law. Each side faced substantial litigation risks if the case 
proceeded. And the costs that would be incurred if the case went forward would be 
substantial. 

6. But while all counsel agreed that settlement was the desired outcome, this was a 
challenging and difficult case to settle. While counsel were completely professional at all 
times, the negotiations were tough, and many areas of disagreement had to be worked 
through. This explains why the negotiations that led up to the motion for preliminary 
class certification spanned several months. 

7. As I worked with counsel and the parties, I paid particular attention to the substantive 
terms that defined what relief the class plaintiffs would receive, the benefits the 
defendants would receive, and the proposed compensation for plaintiffs’ counsel. Based 
on my experience, this is one of the most successful class action settlements that I have 
seen, providing substantial economic benefit to the entire class, while at the same time 
benefitting the defendants significantly. And the proposed attorney’s fees for counsel for 
the plaintiffs are fair, and fall squarely within the legal criteria for approval, whether 
judged by the difficulty of the case, the number of hours spent in the investigation and 
pretrial phase of the case, or the excellent result obtained. 

8. For all the above reasons, I believe that the proposed class settlement set forth in the 
accompanying motion for preliminary approval convincingly meets all the legal criteria 
for both preliminary and final approval, and is noteworthy for its fairness to all parties, 
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but especially to the proposed plaintiffs’ class. I therefore respectfully recommend that 
the motion for preliminary approval be granted. 

 
I solemnly declare under penalty of perjury that the content of this Declaration is true and based 
upon my personal knowledge. 
 
 
       
 
                                                                        Paul W. Grimm 
                                                                    Signed:  
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PROCEEDINGS 1 

(On the record - 9:01:59 a.m.) 2 

THE COURT:  All right.  Good morning, everyone.  3 

We are on the record.  This is Cynthia Clark, et al., vs. 4 

Peter Angelos, et al., Case 24-C-21-000847.  Counsel, 5 

identify yourselves for the record, please.  6 

MR. CAIOLA:  Your Honor, Paul Caiola from 7 

Gallagher, Evelius & Jones on behalf of the plaintiffs, and 8 

my colleagues, Joe Dugan and Sarah Simmons and Tory 9 

Trocchia are here today with me.  10 

THE COURT:  Good morning to all.   11 

MR. ROSENBERG:  Benjamin Rosenberg, Your Honor, 12 

on behalf of the defendant, the estate of Peter Angelos, 13 

and my colleague Daniel Petrocelli is here as well.  He 14 

will not be participating in the hearing.  I will.  15 

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Rosenberg, good 16 

morning.  Thank you.   17 

MR. SCHWABER:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Jeff 18 

Schwaber with Stein Sperling on behalf of the Law Offices 19 

of Peter Angelos and Judy Cornwell and Joseph Moeller from 20 

my firm as well as David Wilson are on with us.  You'll 21 

also see some Zoom boxes for our clients, the firm 22 

representatives, who are dealing with some accident on 95 23 

and asked me to apologize to the Court, but they'll be 24 

putting on their camera as soon as they get out of their 25 
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car.  1 

  THE COURT:  No problem.  Thank you, Mr. Schwaber.  2 

  MR. CAIOLA:  Your Honor, Paul Caiola.  I just 3 

wanted to introduce also Paul Mulholland.  You'll see him 4 

in one of the screens.  He's the principal of Strategic 5 

Claims Services which is proposed to serve as the 6 

administrator for the class.   7 

  THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  I believe 8 

that covers everyone.  This matter is before the Court this 9 

morning for preliminary approval, a class action 10 

settlement.  Is that correct?  11 

  MR. CAIOLA:  Yes.   12 

  THE COURT:  All right.  So Mr. Caiola, I'll start 13 

with you, I guess, for (inaudible, 9:03:55).   14 

  MR. CAIOLA:  Sure.  Judge Nugent, good morning.  15 

We're happy to report that the parties have reached a 16 

settlement after long and difficult negotiations.   17 

  THE COURT:  I am happy to hear that, Mr. Ciaola.  18 

  MR. CAIOLA:  Yeah.  We're here today seeking 19 

preliminary approval of the class settlement.  In the memo 20 

supporting the motion seeking preliminary approval, we set 21 

out the background facts about the case and explained why 22 

we believe the Court can preliminarily approve the class 23 

settlement.  To provide preliminary approval, the Court 24 

need only find that the settlement is within the range of 25 
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possible approval or that there is probable cause to notify 1 

the class of the proposed settlement.  2 

We've emailed Chambers a courtesy electronic copy of a 3 

consolidated motion and exhibits.  It's a 438-page PDF.  I 4 

was going to highlight a few of the provisions for the 5 

Court this morning.  This will only take a few minutes.  I 6 

don't know if you have -- I won't refer to the PDF pages 7 

unless you are using that version, which we emailed, but if 8 

you are, I'm happy to make those references for you, Your 9 

Honor.   10 

THE COURT:  I am using whatever was emailed to 11 

me, so --  12 

MR. CAIOLA:  Great.  Okay.  So it's a PDF.  It's 13 

a consolidated filing that's 438 pages.  On page 7 of the 14 

memo, which is at page 18 of the PDF, we describe the 15 

negotiations that led to the settlement.  The parties 16 

engaged retired federal judge Paul Grimm as a mediator.  17 

After holding a full-day mediation in Mr. Rosenberg's 18 

office, the parties continued to negotiate for six weeks 19 

with Judge Grimm's assistance before signing the term sheet 20 

on June 3rd, 2024.   21 

The long form settlement agreement was executed on 22 

August 16 after 10 weeks of further negotiation.  Exhibit 23 

13 to the memo, which is PDF page 126, it's a declaration 24 

from Judge Grimm.  Paragraphs 5 to 8 of his declaration 25 
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provide testimony regarding Judge Grimm's involvement in 1 

the settlement negotiations.   2 

 In paragraph 7, he states, "Based on my experience, 3 

this is one of the most successful class action settlements 4 

that I have seen, providing substantial economic benefit to 5 

the entire class, while at the same time, benefiting the 6 

defendants significantly."   7 

 And then Judge Grimm concludes in paragraph 8, "I 8 

believe the proposed class settlement set forth in the 9 

accompanying motion for preliminary approval convincingly 10 

meets all the legal criteria for both preliminary and final 11 

approval and is noteworthy for its fairness to all parties, 12 

but especially to the proposed plaintiffs' class.  I 13 

therefore respectfully recommend that the motion for 14 

preliminary approval be granted."   15 

 It's not always we get a retired federal judge to 16 

recommend action by the Court, so we appreciated his 17 

willingness to sign a declaration.   18 

 The settlement agreement is attached as Appendix A to 19 

the consent motion and begins on PDF page 160.  Some of the 20 

key terms I'm going to highlight, paragraph 4, which is at 21 

PDF 173, provides a definition of the class.  The 22 

definition is "all persons or their estate representatives 23 

or next of kin, represented at any time by defendants in 24 

connection with the motion to enforce and/or the tort 25 
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action" -- those are defined terms that are defined in the 1 

settlement agreement -- who are identified on the MCIC 2 

settlement beneficiary list and the surviving family member 3 

list.   4 

 Those lists, which have been generated based on 5 

Angelo's firm records, are attached as Exhibits 1 and 2 to 6 

the settlement agreement.  There are 7,609 class members on 7 

the MCIC settlement beneficiaries list, that's Exhibit 1, 8 

and there are an additional 2,606 class members on the 9 

surviving family member list, which is Exhibit 2.  That's a 10 

total of 10,215 class members.   11 

 Paragraph 8, which is at PDF 174, describes the $57 12 

million settlement payment, and paragraph 13 describes the 13 

amount the class members will receive.  We're working with, 14 

as I mentioned earlier, with a third-party settlement 15 

administrator, Strategic Claims Services.  It's principal, 16 

Mr. Mulholland, is with us here today and is happy to 17 

answer any questions Your Honor may have for him.  18 

 Strategic Claims Services has a long track record of 19 

administering large class settlements and will work hard to 20 

maximize the number of class members to whom we are able to 21 

successfully deliver notice and, subject to the Court's 22 

final approval, payment over the ensuing four-year period 23 

in which payments will be made in the class settlement.   24 

 The provisions describing notice to the class begin in 25 
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the settlement agreement at paragraph 24, which is PDF page 1 

183.  The proposed notice itself is attached as Exhibit 4 2 

to the settlement agreement at PDF 409.  It is written in a 3 

question and answer format to make it more accessible to 4 

the class members.   5 

 The estimated timeline, Your Honor, is at Appendix B 6 

to the memo.  It's at PDF 429.  It contemplates an order 7 

being entered today providing preliminary approval.  Notice 8 

will go out within two weeks.  The administrator has been 9 

working for weeks with the cooperation of all of the 10 

defendants and our firm to finalize a list of best 11 

addresses for each class member.   12 

 We have somewhat of an advantage because the Angelos 13 

firm has represented each of these class members either 14 

previously or even currently, so we have their address list 15 

that they provided to the administrator.   16 

 We also have done some searches of our own and then 17 

the administrator has done some public record searches as 18 

well with respect to folks we're not sure we have a good 19 

address for.  Where we have more than one address, the 20 

administrator intends to send the notice to multiple 21 

addresses in an effort to be sure we can reach all of the 22 

class members.  23 

 The opt-out deadline for the class is -- it will be 45 24 

days, if the Court grants the proposed order, after the 25 
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notice is mailed.  A final approval hearing is scheduled 1 

for November 22 and is already on the Court's calendar 2 

thanks to an email exchange last week.  The proposed order 3 

we are asking the Court to issue starts at PDF page 431.  4 

It is quite detailed.  It includes 23 paragraphs 5 

establishing the preliminary approval and next steps.  6 

 Again, the parties ask the Court, if possible, to 7 

enter -- if the Court grants the relief we're requesting 8 

jointly today, to enter the order on the  Court's docket 9 

today so that we may proceed according to the estimated 10 

timeline.  11 

 That is all I've prepared today, Your Honor.  Unless 12 

you have any questions, I'll stop talking and let others 13 

speak up.   14 

  THE COURT:  Certainly I'll let the others address 15 

the Court as well.  My only question, Mr. Caiola, was there 16 

-- is a provision in which the defendants can withdraw from 17 

the settlement if there are more than 100 opt-outs?  Is 18 

that my understanding?  Do you want to address that piece?  19 

  MR. CAIOLA:  Yeah, sure.  There's an opt-out, a 20 

basically tipping point number, of 100 of the first 21 

category, the MCIC settlement beneficiaries, over a total 22 

of 150 of the combined groups.  That isn't a mandatory, you 23 

know, termination of the settlement.  You really should 24 

address it with Mr. Rosenberg because it's the estate that 25 
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has the right to opt out.  1 

The defendants, of course, are concerned about not 2 

wanting to have another case.  We have drafted a joint 3 

letter to send along with a notice to all the class 4 

members, Your Honor.  We've attached that.  It's Appendix A 5 

to the settlement agreement.  It's on -- let me just check 6 

the page number.  It's on page 427.  And the purpose of the 7 

joint letter is to encourage all of these Peter Angelos 8 

clients who not opt out.  9 

You may remember, there are issues around prior 10 

communications to the Angelos clients that might have some 11 

people feeling that they have to opt out in order to keep 12 

the Angelos firm as its lawyers.  That is no longer the 13 

case, and the joint letter makes that clear.  So we're 14 

hoping there aren't may opt-outs, but of course, this is a 15 

concern for us.  It's a provision that was important to the 16 

estate and you can address it with them.  17 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thanks.   18 

All right.  Maybe I'll go to Mr. Rosenberg next.   19 

MR. ROSENBERG:  I'm happy to talk about it, Your 20 

Honor.  As Mr. Caiola pointed out, the ability of the 21 

estate to terminate this settlement is optional.  That is, 22 

it doesn't have to terminate it if there are 150 potential 23 

plaintiffs who opt out, but it has the right to do that.   24 

And the reason is also, as Mr. Caiola articulated, the 25 
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reason is we believe that this settlement is absolutely in 1 

the best interest of the vast majority of the class members 2 

who are actually still clients of the Angelos Law Firm, and 3 

the underlying driving premise of the settlement was that 4 

this was something that Peter Angelos would want to have 5 

done in order to benefit thousands of people who were his 6 

clients.   7 

 So that's kind of a long way of saying that we regard 8 

the possibility of hundreds of people opting out of the 9 

settlement to be remote at worst.  Very, very unlikely, but 10 

because it is a possibility and because we needed to make 11 

sure that what we were buying with the settlement, in 12 

addition to tremendous benefit, benefits of the clients of 13 

Mr. Angelos was peace.   14 

  THE COURT:  That's very helpful.  Thank you, Mr. 15 

Rosenberg.   16 

 Anything further about the proposal or anything else 17 

you want to address before I go to Mr. Schwaber?   18 

 Okay.  Mr. Schwaber, good morning.  19 

  MR. SCHWABER:  Good morning.  Your Honor, I'll 20 

start by my apologies for not introducing Bill Murphy, who 21 

needs no introduction to this Court, but is also in this 22 

kind of weird setup, I guess, our client as well as the 23 

firm, the Court-appointed conservator of the law firm, so 24 

Mr. Wilson and I with our teams have been dealing with 25 
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representatives of the successor law firm as well as with 1 

Mr. Murphy and his colleague, Mr. Bernstein, as we've moved 2 

forward and have been involved in the process.  3 

 And as the Court probably has seen in the way it was 4 

structured, in terms of the relationship, we have been 5 

actively involved in the settlement process throughout and 6 

are here to indicate our support for the motion.   7 

  THE COURT:  Thank you.   8 

  MR. MURPHY:  Good morning, Your Honor.  9 

  THE COURT:  Mr. Murphy, good morning.  All right.  10 

Anyone else wish to address the Court this morning?   11 

 Mr. Caiola, anything further before the Court renders 12 

its findings regarding preliminary approval?  13 

  MR. CAIOLA:  No, Your Honor.  14 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Well, I greatly 15 

appreciate everyone's work in this case.  I think as most 16 

counsel know, the Court is quite familiar with this matter.  17 

Pending before the Court this morning is a request for 18 

preliminary approval of a class action settlement.  At this 19 

stage, as Mr. Caiola noted, the Court need only find that 20 

the settlement is within the range of approval or that 21 

there is probable cause to notify the class of the proposed 22 

settlement.  23 

 The Court looks at whether it will likely be able to 24 

approve the proposal pursuant to Maryland Rule 2231 and 25 
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certify the class for purposes of judgment.  The proposal 1 

at this stage need only be sufficiently within the range of 2 

reasonableness.  The Court looks at both the procedural 3 

fairness of the settlement process as well as the 4 

settlement's substantive fairness and adequacy.   5 

 The Court borrows from the federal rules as to the 6 

factors that it considers.  First, whether the class 7 

representatives and class counsel have adequately 8 

represented the class.  The Court notes in this case that 9 

this matter has been intensely litigated for several years.  10 

Plaintiffs have engaged in extensive discovery including 11 

obtaining thousands of pages of records.   12 

 They have filed and responded to numerous motions and 13 

appeared and argued before this Court and before many of my 14 

colleagues on numerous occasions.  The named plaintiffs 15 

have sat for depositions, answered interrogatories.  This 16 

factor weighs heavily in favor of preliminary approval.   17 

 Whether the proposal was negotiated at arm's length, 18 

the proposal in this case results from good faith 19 

bargaining among the parties.  The parties participated in 20 

an extensive mediation settlement process before the 21 

Honorable Paul Grimm, one of the most well-respected 22 

federal judges here in the State of Maryland.  23 

 The records indicates, I believe, that there were 18 24 

drafts of a term sheet exchanged among the parties.  This 25 
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factor also weighs heavily in favor of preliminary 1 

approval.   2 

 The Court further considers whether the relief 3 

provided for the class is adequate taking into account the 4 

cost, risk, and delay of trial and appeal, the 5 

effectiveness of any proposed method of distributing relief 6 

to the class including the method of processing class 7 

member claims, the terms of any proposed award of 8 

attorneys' fees, and whether the proposal treats class 9 

members equitably relative to each other.   10 

 In this case, the Court is mindful of the strengths of 11 

Plaintiffs' case, but also the potential difficulties they 12 

would face if this litigation moved forward, including the 13 

enormous costs of continued discovery, dispositive motions 14 

practice including motions regarding expert witnesses, 15 

trial, and appeal.   16 

 Moreover, the proposal treats class members equitably 17 

and the method of distributing relief is effective.  The 18 

MCIC settlement agreement and the underlying litigation 19 

entitle the beneficiaries to a pro rata share of additional 20 

insurance proceeds.  The identity of all beneficiaries are 21 

known to the parties or obtainable through public records 22 

as they were litigants again in the underlying litigation.   23 

 Therefore, the Court will preliminarily approve the 24 

proposed settlement as fair, reasonable, and adequate.  The 25 
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Court finds that the requirements of both Maryland Rule 1 

2231B and C3 are satisfied for purposes of preliminary 2 

approval.  Specifically, the Court finds that the class is 3 

readily ascertainable as the settlement beneficiaries were 4 

represented by the law firm and are a matter of public 5 

record.  The Court finds that the class is so numerous that 6 

joinder would be impractical as there are over 10,000 MCIC 7 

settlement beneficiaries and surviving family members.  8 

 The Court further finds that there are questions of 9 

law in fact common to the class including questions 10 

regarding the defendants' breach of the duty of care and 11 

causation, and that the claims of the named plaintiffs are 12 

typical of class claims, if not almost identical.  The 13 

Court further finds that plaintiffs and their counsel -- 14 

the named plaintiffs and their counsel will fairly and 15 

adequately protect the interests of the class and that 16 

there are common questions of law in fact that predominate 17 

over any individual issues.  18 

 Finally, the Court finds that the class action is 19 

superior to any other available method for the fair and 20 

efficient adjudication of this controversy, taking into 21 

account all the factors set forth in Maryland Rule 2231C3.  22 

Therefore, the Court will approve and notice will be sent 23 

to all class members pursuant to the agreement of parties.   24 

 I will appoint the named plaintiffs as class 25 
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representatives and their attorneys of record, plaintiffs' 1 

counsel of record, as class counsel.  Strategic Claims 2 

Services, Incorporated, of Media, Pennsylvania will be 3 

appointed as the settlement administrator, and the Court 4 

will approve the notice and opt-out procedures as agreed to 5 

by the parties, and finally, I will set in a final approval 6 

hearing as already selected by the parties for November 7 

22nd for final approval of the class action settlement.  8 

 Mr. Caiola, did I cover everything?  9 

  MR. CAIOLA:  Yes.  Just Your Honor -- just the 10 

issue of the order there.  The order again is at the end - 11 

- very end of that long PDF.  It's long, but what we're 12 

hoping is that the Court could review it and if the Court 13 

agrees, I think basically what you've just recited is 14 

running through the elements of the order, notice, etc.  If 15 

you could sign it and enter it on the docket as soon as 16 

possible, we would appreciate it.  17 

  THE COURT:  So I have it right in front of me.  I 18 

will sign it, enter it on the docket today.  I will have my 19 

staff email a copy to the parties and then I will contact 20 

the Clerk's office and ask them to immediately docket.   21 

  MR. CAIOLA:  We appreciate that.  Thank you, Your 22 

Honor.  23 

  THE COURT:  You're welcome.  24 

 Anything further anyone wishes to address before the 25 
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Court?  1 

MR. CAIOLA:  Not from us, Your Honor.  2 

MR. ROSENBERG:  Thank you, Your Honor.  3 

THE COURT:  If there's nothing further, I thank 4 

everyone for their time this morning and that will conclude 5 

our hearing.  Thank you all.  6 

MR. ROSENBERG:  Thanks, Your Honor.  7 

MR. CAIOLA:  Thank you, Your Honor.  8 

(Off the record – 9:24:14 a.m.) 9 
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Complaint?
     A    Well, obviously I saw the Complaint
before it was filed and I saw the Amended
Complaints before they were filed.
     Q    Were you ever asked to answer any
questions related to this lawsuit?
     A    Yes.  You mean Interrogatories, those
questions?
     Q    I do.  You know the word for it.  Do you
remember when you were asked to answer those?
     A    I don't remember specifically.  I suspect
it was at the time they were submitted.
     Q    About how long did you spend on those
Interrogatories?
     A    I don't recall.
     Q    Was it more than an hour?
     A    I can't be that precise.  I forget.  I
remember the nature of them.  I didn't review them
for this deposition.  I remember them at the time.
     Q    And let me ask a perhaps better question.
I'm wondering if you worried about these
Interrogatories for days and it took you on and

Transcript of William J. McCarthy, Jr.
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     Q    Did the Gallagher firm contact you about
this at all or did you contact them?
     A    No, I contacted them.
     Q    I'm going to show you what will be marked
as Exhibit 5.
          (McCarthy Deposition Exhibit 5 marked for
identification and is attached to the transcript.)
     Q    This is a Complaint filed in this case;
right, Mr. McCarthy?
     A    Yes.
     Q    And do you see the caption at the top
where it has Ms. Clark as the representative and
then an et al.?  Do you see that?
     A    Yes.
     Q    You in your capacity as the purported
estate representative are a party to this lawsuit;
right?
     A    Yes.
     Q    Why did you decide to become a party to
this lawsuit?
     A    I think a couple reasons.  I think, one,
as a fiduciary I have a responsibility to pursue
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actions on behalf of the estate.  Second, thinking
of Uncle Bernie and the other people, his peers,
his colleagues, people that he worked with over
the years, that have been harmed, that it was the
right thing to do.
     Q    You mentioned the people that had been
harmed.  How had people been harmed?
     A    People died, Mr. Foxx.  People suffered.
Thousands of people suffered and died.  I was
there the day Uncle Bernie died.  He suffered and
died.
     Q    Of asbestos exposure; correct?
     A    Well, he had prostate cancer.  Yes, he
died a painful death.  And others died -- and
others have suffered as well.  And when I think of
Uncle Bernie and I think of all the other people
similar to him, I thought this was important and I
thought this is what he would want us to do.
     Q    So it seems like your concern is to
vindicate people that were exposed to asbestos.
Is that fair?
     A    I think that was the original intent and
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     A    No.  It's my -- you know, the people that
participated in the settlement of the MCIC case
would have had more resources available to be part
of the global settlement of that case had these
insurance coverages and these insurance policies
been included in the pool of the global
settlement.
     Q    So all of the plaintiffs, unnamed
plaintiffs, purported plaintiffs, in this case are
going to have to prove asbestos exposure?
     A    No, they're not.
          MS. SIMMONS:  Objection.
     Q    Why do you say, no, they're not?
     A    Because under the settlement agreement it
calls that everybody named and participated in
that settlement agreement is entitled to recover
any additional insurance it says on a pro rata
basis.  It says that others would be entitled to
share in that coverage, any coverage that was
related to the underlying tort.
     Q    So --
     A    But maybe I'm -- that's your case; I'm
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     A    The alleged malpractice that occurred in
this case is that the Angelos law firm settled
this case without having pursued all or having
discovered and pursued all sources of payment for
the thousands of victims in this case.  They
settled, you know, with the policies that were
disclosed by the defendants, subsequently found
out later there was additional insurance that was
not included, and tried to collect on that.  They
were late.
     Q    So did the Angelos firm seek operations
coverage timely?
          MS. SIMMONS:  Objection; calls for a
legal conclusion.
     A    I don't know.
     Q    In order to recover any operations
coverage for Mr. Major, they would have to have
shown that he was exposed to asbestos during
installation operations; right?
          MS. SIMMONS:  Objection.  You've asked.
We have been through this already.
     A    I don't know.
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CERTIFICATE OF SHORTHAND REPORTER - NOTARY PUBLIC
    I, Cynthia A. Whyte, the officer before whom
the foregoing deposition was taken, do hereby
certify that the foregoing transcript is a true
and correct record of the testimony given; that
said testimony was taken by me stenographically
and thereafter reduced to typewriting under my
supervision; that reading and signing was not
requested; and that I am neither counsel for,
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    A  Maybe 20 minutes.
    Q  Was it just the one preparation session?
    A  Yes.
    Q  Have you talked with anyone besides your
attorneys about this case?
    A  My wife.
    Q  What have you and your wife talked about
this case?
    A  Just about -- you know, what wasn't
handled and why we are where we are today.  Other
than that, no real details because I don't know
specific details.
    Q  Explain to me why we are where we are
today.
    A  My understanding is when we received the
letter from -- I don't remember the name of that
attorney -- for Angelos stating that they had
tried to get the court to allow them to I guess
file against MCI because they had located some
other insurances that weren't disclosed, insurance
policies, but that the court had thrown that out,
and that they said that Angelos's firm didn't file
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in a timely fashion.  I guess the statute of
limitations had run out.
       That's whatever was being -- whatever that
trial or whatever that case may have been was not
being able to move forward.  Again, I don't know
details of exactly what that is or was.
    Q  I am going to share my screen again and
show you what has been marked Exhibit 2.
       MS. SIMMONS:  Are we starting any new
exhibits?
       MR. FOXX:  These are all almost all
separate exhibits, so they will not be marked.
    Q  Do you recognize this letter, Mr. Loverde?
    A  Yes.
    Q  What is it?
    A  This was the letter -- this was the letter
about the complaint against MCI.  Insurers had
misrepresented the amount.  This is the letter.
What I said, that they -- not filed in a timely
fashion, right.  Okay.  Again, although the
Angelos firm believed that they were right in
doing what they did, the Court filed against them
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       CERTIFICATE OF SHORTHAND REPORTER
                 NOTARY PUBLIC
       I, Sandra Robertson, Certified Court
Reporter and Notary Public, the officer before
whom the foregoing deposition was taken, do hereby
certify that the foregoing transcript is a true
and correct record of the proceedings; that said
testimony was taken by me stenographically and
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my
supervision; that reading and signing was not
requested; and that I am neither counsel for nor
related to, nor employed by any of the parties to
this case and have no interest, financial or
otherwise, in its outcome.
        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my
hand and affixed my notarial seal this 29th day of
November, 2023.
        My commission expires November 18, 2024.

_____________________________
Notary Number:  2108796
License Expiration:  6/30/24
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    Q  The Smouse.
    A  No, I don't know what Smouse is.  I am not
familiar with that word.
    Q  Did you get a letter from the law firm of
Rifkin, Weiner & Livingston in 2018?
    A  Yes.
    Q  Do you remember what that letter
contained?
    A  It was about the MCIC matter.  They stated
that -- it was from Arnold Weiner.  He stated that
they had lost a dispute -- I am trying to remember
the letter.  They had lost a dispute regarding the
insurance I think.  They said they disagreed with
the Court's decision and they were unable to
recover any money.  And that's about all I
remember.  There was a decision or something
attached to it.
    Q  What did you think when you got that
letter?
    A  I thought they made a mistake, but I
didn't fully understand it as I do now.
    Q  Did you get the letter in the mail?
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    Q  Who was the first?
    A  I don't believe so.  I'm sorry.  I didn't
hear your question.
    Q  Who was the first named plaintiff in this
case?
    A  I do not know.
    Q  You mentioned that you're father's estate
was damaged.  Did I understand that right?
    A  Well, yes.
    Q  How was it damaged?
    A  As explained in the complaint, there was a
sum of money that should have been obtained from
these insurance companies.  Angelos missed filing
deadlines twice, as far as I know.  So, yes.  The
estate was entitled to funds that it did not
receive because Angelos messed up.
    Q  What was that sum of money?
    A  I don't know.
    Q  I am going to go back to something,
because I find it a little confusing.
       You say this matter came on your radar
before the pandemic.  Did I hear that right?
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that, because it's not something I really need to
understand.  So I really couldn't say.
    Q  You don't --
    A  There is some -- I'm sorry.  Go ahead.
    Q  You don't think it's important to
understand the people you are asking to be a
representative of?
       MR. DUGAN:  Objection.
    Q  That is a bad question.  Let me ask a
better question.
       Do you understand who you are supposed to
be a named plaintiff?
    A  Well, I understand that there are 10,000
people affected by these mistakes and things that
happened in this case, almost 10,000 I believe.
And so, yeah, that's a lot of people.  I
understand that much, but I'm not the only one,
along with the other plaintiffs who have suffered
damages, a loss because of this.  So that much I
understand.  That's all I really need to
understand but.  I couldn't explain what --
    Q  Do you think that's all you need to
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        CERTIFICATE OF SHORTHAND REPORTER
                  NOTARY PUBLIC
       I, Sandra Robertson, Certified Court
Reporter and Notary Public, the officer before
whom the foregoing deposition was taken, do hereby
certify that the foregoing transcript is a true
and correct record of the proceedings; that said
testimony was taken by me stenographically and
thereafter reduced to typewriting under my
supervision; that reading and signing was not
requested; and that I am neither counsel for nor
related to, nor employed by any of the parties to
this case and have no interest, financial or
otherwise, in its outcome.
        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my
hand and affixed my notarial seal this 27th day of
November, 2023.
        My commission expires November 18, 2024.

________________________________
Notary Number:  2108796
License Expiration:  6/30/24
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ETHEL JOHNSON 
HELENE. JOHNSON 
HELEN JOHNSTON 
BETTY JONES 
BRENDA JONES 
SUSIE JONES 
MARGARET JONES 

SHIRLEY KEARNEY 
ROSALIE G. KEARNEY 
VIOLA KEARSON 
AMELIA KELCH 
BERTHA V. KENNEDY 
UCILLE KING 
ENEVIEVE KINGER 
SHIRLEY M. KIRBY 
CHARLSIE KLAPKA 

SUSIE KNIGHT 
JULIA KORZENIEWSKI 
MARY REBECCA KRZYZANIAK 
SYLVIA KURPECK 
EVA tJI.DANYI 
BERNICE LAROSA 

. 
SYBIL ,LAWRENCE 
LILLIE LEWIS 
MA,OELINE LIBERATORE 
KATHERINE LIGHTNER 
HELEN LINDSEY 
ETHEL LINDSEY 

INEZ JEAN LINSEBIGLER 
NAOMI LIVOLSI 
RUTH LOCKMAN 
ANNA LOVELL 

LILLIAN LOYALL 
ANN LYNEN 
MAE MACKEY 
MARTHA MARCANTONIO 
MARY MARINO 
ISABELLE MARRELLA 
VELMA V. MARTIN 
CARRIE MASSEY 
.AMERICA L. THOMAS 
VERA MCCORMICK 
GERLENE MCCROSKEY 
AJ::iLEE MCCULLOUGH 

118 

DOCKET 

86CG10ll/23 / 41 
89006528 
88091506 
8814BS29 
89188517 
89307513 
87278514 
87303520 
93095520 
89244513 
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87303523 
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87154504 
88155518 
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90285502 
87,313506 
88CG536/51/136 
87313505 
87303528 
88148536 
91109514 
90019523 
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COLON/GI CANCER 
OTHER CANCER 
OTHER CANCER 
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EXPOSJIBE 

1943-1974 
1942-1981 
1941-:1973 
1939-1972 
1960-PRES 
1937-1979 
1947-1985 
1950-1979 
1940-1975 
1951-PRES 
1941-1983 
1960-1987 
1946-1979 
1939-197~ 
1941-19" 
1941-198_ 
1940-1970 
1941-1979 
l954•PRES 
1948•1986 
1953-1984 
1946•1.984 
1952-1982 
1947-PRES 
194·7-19 82 
1.957-P 
1947-1.987 
193 6-1.97 9 
1969-PRES 
1936-1970 
1935-1985 
1947-1981 
19.47-1980 
1952-PRES 
1942•1944 
1951-1979 
1941-197, 
1956-1981 
1929-197:.. 
1936-1976 
1947-1982 
1941-1984 
1961-1981 
1930•1980 
i942·1975 
1946-1978 
1939-1974 
1937-1978 
1959-1985 
1943-PRES 
1950-PRES 
1952-1985 
1951-1987 



Robert Judy, Jr., Personal Representative of the Estate of Robert L. Judy 
4 710 Ilkley Moor Lane 
Ellicott City MD 21043 

Gary Judy, Personal Representative of the Estate of Robert L. Judy 
8006 Ridgely Oak Road 
Baltimore MD 21235 

Paul G. Jurak 
107 Fifth Avenue 
Halethorpe MD 21227 

Mary Jurney, Personal Representative of the Estate of John K. Jurney 
2257 Mission Hills D1ive 
Lakeland FL 3 3 810 

Ma1·y Jurney, Surviving Spouse of John K. Jurney 
2257 Mission Hills Drive 
Lakeland FL 33810 

Richard Justice, Personal Representative of the Estate of Pricy Justice 
5865 Weathered Brick Drive 
Sykesville MD 21784 

William E. Justice Iii & Shirley Justice 
2016 Birch Road 
Baltimore MD 21221 

Kirkwood L. Justis & Phyllis May Justis 
2525 Glencoe Road 
Baltimore MD 21234 

Ronald Mayhew, Personal Representative of the Estate of Walter Kacala 
5330 Windsor Lake Circle 
Sanford FL 32773 

Raymond Kaczorowski, Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank R. Kaczorowski 
2532 Uniontown Road 
Westminster MD 2115 8 

James Kaczorowski, Personal Representative of the Estate of Peter P. Kaczorowski 
430 Wynridge Drive 
Charlottesville VA 22901 

Deborah Fuchsluger, Personal Representative of the Estate of Carl W. Kaese 
1308 First Road 
Baltimore MD 21220 
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Larry D. Lovelace & Alice Lovelace 
756 Firetower Road 
Colom MD 21917 

Valerie Lovell, Personal Representative of the Estate of Christopher L. Lovell 
1706 D Landmark Drive 
Forest Hill MD 21050 

Olive Lovell, Surviving Spouse of Delmar E. Lovell 
862 Great Egret Circle Unit Ea 
Sunset Beach NC 28468 

Phyllis Foust, Personal Representative of the Estate of John H. Lovell Sr 
2705 Mercer Drive 
Baldwin MD 21013 

John Freel, Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank Loverde Sr 
1437 Overlook Way 
Bel Air MD 21014 

Frank Loverde, Jr., Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank Loverde Sr 
Route 1 Box 215H 
Pamplin VA 23958 

Stephen Loverde, Jr., Personal Representative of the Estate of Stephen J. Loverde Sr 
6016 Edmondson A venue 
Baltimore MD 21228 

Mary Anna Loverde, Surviving Spouse of Stephen J. Loverde Sr 
8810 Walther Blvd, Apt 3106 
Baltimore MD 21234 

Patricia Beall, Personal Representative of the Estate of James D. Lowe 
210 Second Avenue, S.W. 
Glen Burnie MD 21061 

Ruth Lowe, Surviving Spouse of James D. Lowe 
1416 lsted Road 
Glen Burnie MD 21060 

Dorothy Lowe, Personal Representative of the Estate of Joseph S. Lowe 
420 Riverdale Road 
Severna Park MD 21146 

Dorothy Lowe, Surviving Spouse of Joseph S. Lowe 
420 Riverdale Road 
Severna Park MD 21146 
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Bertha Mahomes, Surviving Spouse of Howard Mahomes Jr 
3425 Parklawn Avenue 
Baltimore MD 21213 

Eleanor Mahone, Personal Representative of the Estate of Luther Mahone 
824 Central A venue, Apt. 808 
Charleston WV 25312 

Eleanor Mahone, Surviving Spouse of Luther Mahone 
824 Central Ave, Apt 808 
Charleston WV 25312 

William J. Mai & Joann Mai 
2025 Garden Drive 
Forest Hill MD 21050 

William F. Main & Nancy Main 
7906 Kavanagh Road 
Baltimore MD 21222 

Abraham Adler, Personal Representative of the Estate of Robert J. Maith 
36 S. Charles St. Suite 1515 
Baltimore MD 212013103 

Dorothy Maith, Surviving Spouse of Robert J. Maith 
7521 Gum Spring Road 
Baltimore MD 212373706 

Linda Lanham, Personal Representative of the Estate of Alfred Majewski 
1622 Gray Haven Court 
Dundalk MD 21222 

Dolores Majewski, Surviving Spouse of Alfred Majewski 
1622 Gray Haven Ct. 
Baltimore MD 21222 

Anne Major, Personal Representative of the Estate of Bernard Major 
2 Southerly Court Apt 302 
Towson MD 21286 

Anne Major, Surviving Spouse of Bernard Major 
2 Southerly Ct., Apt. 302 
Towson MD 21286 

Elizabeth Vanni, Personal Representative of the Estate of Colay J. Major Sr 
117 Lake Front Drive 
Hunt Valley MD 21030 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al.,  

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al.,  * 
* 

 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
FINAL JUDGMENT APPROVING SETTLEMENT AND CERTIFYING 

SETTLEMENT CLASS 
 

UPON REVIEW AND CONSIDERATION of the Proposed Class Settlement Agreement 

(“Settlement Agreement”) relating to claims asserted by Plaintiffs1 against The Law Offices of 

Peter G. Angelos, P.C. (the “Law Firm”) and the Estate of Peter G. Angelos (together with the 

Law Firm, “Defendants”) in the above-captioned litigation, and of Plaintiffs’ unopposed Motion 

for Final Settlement Approval; and in consideration of the memoranda and arguments of counsel, 

NOW, upon the application of Plaintiffs, it is ORDERED and ADJUDGED as follows: 

1. Pursuant to Maryland Rule 2-231, the Court APPROVES the settlement of this 

action, as embodied in the terms of the Settlement Agreement, and FINDS that the settlement is, 

in all respects, fair, reasonable, and adequate and in the best interest of the Class Members in 

light of the factual, legal, practical, and procedural considerations raised by this case.  The 

Settlement Agreement is the product of good faith, arm’s-length negotiations among the parties, 

 
1  Cynthia M. Clark, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Walter F. Kacala and Helen M. 
Kacala; Norman J. Loverde, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Stephen J. Loverde, Sr. 
and Mary Anna Loverde; and Maria M. McCarthy and William J. McCarthy, Jr., as personal 
representatives of the Estate of Anne Major and successor personal representatives of the Estate of 
Bernard L. Major, individually and on behalf of a Class of similarly situated Angelos clients. 
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each of which was represented by experienced counsel.  The relief provided for the Class in the 

settlement is adequate, and the proposal treats Class Members equitably relative to one another.  

The Settlement Agreement is incorporated by reference into this Final Judgment (with 

capitalized terms as set forth in the Settlement Agreement) and is hereby adopted as an Order of 

this Court.  In the event of a conflict between the text of this Final Judgment and the text of the 

Settlement Agreement, the text of the Settlement Agreement shall control. 

2. In accordance with the Settlement Agreement, and pursuant to Maryland Rule 

2-231(b) and (c)(3), the Court CERTIFIES the following Class: 

All persons (or their estate representatives or next of kin) represented at any 
time by Defendants in connection with the Motion to Enforce and/or the Tort 
Action who are identified on the MCIC Settlement Beneficiary List and the 
Surviving Family Member List, Exhibits 1 and 2 to the Settlement Agreement. 

 
Excluded from the Class are: 

(a) All directors, officers, employees, and shareholders of the Law Firm, and 

their immediate family members; 

(b) All attorneys for Defendants in the current matter, and their immediate 

family members; 

(c) Each and every judge assigned to this action and all members of those 

judges’ staffs, and their immediate family members; 

(d) Those persons who previously settled or whose associated MCIC 

Settlement Beneficiary previously settled legal malpractice claims against Defendants equivalent 

to any of the Claims asserted in the Case;  

(e) For the avoidance of doubt, all persons listed on exhibit 3 to the third 

amended complaint in the Tort Action; and 
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(f) Those persons who opted out of the Class timely and validly, as set forth 

in the Administrator’s list docketed on October 31, 2024, together with A383 Colbert D. Bert 

and A0069 The Estate of Frances Allmond through P.R. Victoria McNair, both of whom opted 

out untimely but whose opt-out requests the parties have agreed to honor. 

3. The Court FINDS that the Notices dispatched to the Class Members were in 

compliance with the Court’s August 28, 2024 Order Preliminarily Approving Settlement, 

Certifying Class for Settlement Purposes, and with Respect to Notice, Settlement Hearing, and 

Administration, and further FINDS that those Notices constituted the best notice practicable 

under the circumstances in satisfaction of the requirements of due process and Md. Rule 

2-231(f). 

Elements of Certifiable Class 

4. The Court FINDS that all requirements for class certification under Maryland 

Rule 2-231(b) and (c)(3) are satisfied: 

(a) Ascertainability.  The Court FINDS that the Class is readily ascertainable, 

as the universe of settlement beneficiaries represented by the Law Firm is a matter of public 

record; 

(b) Numerosity.  The Court FINDS that the Class, which amounts to more 

than 10,000 MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries and Surviving Family Members, is so numerous that 

joinder of all members would be impracticable; 

(c) Commonality.  The Court FINDS that material questions of law and fact 

are common to the Class, including questions relating to Defendants’ breach of the duty of care, 

causation, and the framework for apportioning damages; 
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(d) Typicality.  The Court FINDS that the claims of Plaintiffs (individually or 

through estate representatives) are typical of the class claims, as Plaintiffs were injured in the 

same manner as the absent Class Members due to the Law Firm’s negligence; 

(e) Adequacy.  The Court FINDS that Plaintiffs and their counsel will fairly 

and adequately protect the interests of the Class, as Plaintiffs’ claims are not contrary to or 

inconsistent with any absent Class Members’ claims, and as Plaintiffs’ counsel have 

demonstrated that they possess the subject-matter expertise and experience to zealously advocate 

for the Class; 

(f) Predominance.  The Court FINDS that common questions of law and fact 

predominate over any individual issues given that the Law Firm’s malpractice uniformly 

impacted the MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries, and given that the MCIC Settlement Agreement 

requires that any additional proceeds recovered pursuant to that agreement must be distributed 

pro rata to the beneficiaries based on preexisting disease category, and as such a class action is 

the only logical means of adjudicating the Class Members’ claims; and 

(g) Superiority.  The Court FINDS that a class action is superior to any other 

available method for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy, including because (i) 

given the commonality of factual and legal issues, the interests of Class Members in individually 

controlling the prosecution of separate actions are minimal; (ii) the only other actions known to 

the Court that implicate the subject matter of this case were not class actions, were prosecuted by 

a small number of Defendants’ clients, and have resolved out of court; (iii) the Circuit Court for 

Baltimore City, where the underlying asbestos cases were litigated, is a suitable forum for 

resolution of the class claims; and (iv) a class action would be more efficient than individual 
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actions presenting the same legal and factual issues repeatedly, and the Court anticipates that the 

management of a class action would present no unusual difficulties. 

Appointment of Class Representatives and Class Counsel 

5. The Court APPOINTS Plaintiffs Cynthia M. Clark, Norman J. Loverde, Maria 

M. McCarthy, and William J. McCarthy, Jr. as Class Representatives, having found that they 

meet the requirements of Maryland Rule 2-231(b)(4). 

6. The Court APPOINTS Plaintiffs’ counsel of record as Class Counsel, having 

found that they meet the requirements of Maryland Rule 2-231(b)(4).  The lawyers representing 

the Class are: 

Paul S. Caiola (lead counsel) 
Brian T. Tucker 
Joe Dugan 
Sarah R. Simmons 
Tory S. Trocchia 
GALLAGHER EVELIUS & JONES LLP 
218 N. Charles St., Ste. 400 
Baltimore, MD  21201 

 
Fair, Reasonable, and Adequate Settlement 

7. Because the Settlement Agreement will bind all members of the Class, the Court 

must determine that the settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate, taking into account both 

procedural and substantive considerations: 

(a) Adequate representation.  Class Counsel and the Class Representatives 

zealously advocated for the rights of the absent Class Members in this hotly contested litigation.  

Class Counsel devoted thousands of hours and millions of dollars of time value to build and 

litigate the case.  Class Counsel’s efforts included:  (i) researching and drafting three lengthy 

complaints, and successfully avoiding motions to dismiss as to each; (ii) defeating an early 

motion to strike Plaintiffs’ class allegations, successfully moving to dismiss Defendants’ 
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subsequent interlocutory appeal, and successfully resisting Defendants’ petition for a writ of 

certiorari to the Maryland Supreme Court; and (iii) obtaining over 470,000 pages of discovery 

material from Defendants following three successful motions to compel.  Class Counsel’s 

collective professional experience and skill enabled counsel to craft a winning strategy in this 

complex case.  The Class Representatives also successfully advocated for the rights of the Class.  

They collected and produced documents, answered interrogatories, and appeared for depositions 

at which they expressed an appropriate understanding of the claims and their good-faith 

motivations for pursuing them.  The Court FINDS that Class Counsel and the Class 

Representatives adequately represented the Class. 

(b) Arm’s-length negotiation.  Plaintiffs and their counsel zealously 

advocated on behalf of the Class, ensuring a procedurally fair litigation process.  The mediation 

and settlement process also was procedurally fair.  The parties’ arm’s-length negotiations and 

related legal work took many weeks and hundreds of hours of attorney time, and the parties 

collectively exchanged at least eighteen drafts of a term sheet as part of that process.  Along the 

way, counsel for Plaintiffs, for the Law Firm, and for the Angelos Estate repeatedly engaged 

with retired federal judge Hon. Paul Grimm as mediator.  The Court FINDS that the settlement 

was achieved through an arm’s-length negotiation. 

(c) Adequate relief.  The Court FINDS that the relief provided to the Class is 

adequate considering  (i) the relative strength of the plaintiffs’ case on the merits and the 

existence of any difficulties of proof or strong defenses the plaintiffs would likely encounter if 

the case went to trial; (ii) the anticipated duration and expense of additional litigation; (iii) the 

solvency of the defendants and the likelihood of recovery on a litigated judgment; (iv) the degree 
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of opposition to the settlement; (v) the effectiveness of the proposed method of distributing relief 

to the Class; and (vi) the terms and timing of payment of counsel fees: 

i. Relative strength of Plaintiffs’ case and difficulties of proof.  

While Plaintiffs had a strong case for liability and damages, Plaintiffs would have faced 

significant obstacles had litigation proceeded.  As of the May 16, 2024 stay of litigation to 

facilitate settlement negotiations, Defendants’ three summary judgment motions remained 

pending, and Defendants also had moved to strike Plaintiffs’ principal damages expert.  

Moreover, Plaintiffs’ damages assessment was predicated on the unproven assumptions that 

100% of MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries were exposed to MCIC’s asbestos operations and that 

operations coverage was available to MCIC for each year in the settlement beneficiaries’ 

exposure windows.  Since those assumptions might not have held up in light of further discovery 

and motion practice, settlement at a figure materially less than Plaintiffs’ best case at trial is 

entirely appropriate. 

ii. Anticipated expense and duration of litigation.  Absent settlement, 

further discovery disputes would have been likely, and the parties also would have undertaken 

extensive expert discovery.  Trial would have required two weeks or longer, and given the 

novelty of some of the issues, appellate proceedings would have been likely regardless of the 

trial outcome.  Inevitably, counsel would have invested millions of dollars of additional time and 

litigation expenses had the case not settled. 

iii. Solvency and likelihood of collection after judgment.  In the event 

that Plaintiffs were to prevail at trial and on appeal and secure a judgment for the Class, Plaintiffs 

might have encountered uncertainty around collection, given major events that have taken place 

at the Law Firm and in the Angelos family since this case was filed (including the death of Peter 
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Angelos, the publicly announced sale of the Law Firm, and the transfer of the Angelos family’s 

ownership interest in the Baltimore Orioles to a new ownership group). 

iv. Degree of opposition.  The absent Class Members had a forty-five 

day window, following mailing of the Notice, to submit an opt-out request or a notice of 

objection pursuant to the instructions in the Notice.  The Administrator received a total of sixteen 

opt-out requests and one objection, out of a Class of 10,215 MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries and 

Surviving Family Members.  Some of the opt-out requestors stated that they simply did not want 

to go to the trouble of reopening an estate.  The objector’s concern, which related to her views 

about the $10,000 incentive payments to the Class Representatives as discussed in paragraph 13 

below, is not a basis to reject or modify the settlement. 

v. Effectiveness of method of distributing relief.  Since the identities 

of all settlement beneficiaries who make up the Class are known to the parties, and since their 

contact information should in most instances either be known to the Law Firm or ascertainable 

from public records, no claim process is needed in this case.  For all MCIC Settlement 

Beneficiaries with confirmed addresses, the Administrator will issue payment beginning in or 

about January 2025.  For MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries whose addresses are unconfirmed, the 

Administrator will take further action to attempt to confirm the addresses before issuing 

payment, but will nevertheless issue the initial payment within the timeframes set forth in the 

Settlement Agreement. 

vi. Terms and timing of payment of counsel fees.  Class Counsel have 

requested an award of attorneys’ fees in the amount of 33% of the gross settlement proceeds.  

Class Counsel also have requested reimbursement of their expenses.  The requested award is 

approved as it is within the range of fees that courts approve in high-value class actions.  
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Moreover, Class Counsel’s fee will be paid out pursuant to the same distribution schedule as the 

payments to the Class, with Class Counsel’s proposed fee equaling 33% of each payment.  This 

feature of the agreement adds to the fairness of the proposed fee arrangement. 

(d) Equitable treatment.  The Court FINDS that the Settlement Agreement 

treats Class Member equitably relative to one another.  The 1994 MCIC Settlement Agreement 

established a pro rata payment schedule based on injury category, with the largest group of 

settlement beneficiaries (those with non-malignant conditions) receiving $1,000 each, and the 

smallest group (those with mesothelioma) receiving $9,500 each.  The Settlement Agreement 

mirrors the structure of the 1994 agreement, with the net settlement proceeds divided pro rata 

based on the injury categories of the MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries as set forth in that original 

agreement.  This approach makes the most sense and is the most equitable approach to payment, 

because the underlying litigation involved efforts to enforce the Class Members’ rights in 

connection with the MCIC Settlement Agreement. 

8. After due consideration of the status of proceedings and the posture of the case at 

the time settlement was proposed; the circumstances surrounding settlement negotiations; the 

experience of counsel; the relative strength of Plaintiffs’ case on the merits; the existence of 

difficulties of proof and defenses Plaintiffs would be likely to encounter if the case went to trial; 

the anticipated duration and expense of additional litigation; solvency considerations; the virtual 

lack of Class Member objections to the settlement; the limited opt-out requests by the Class 

Members; and affidavits and arguments of counsel, and after notice and a hearing, the Court 

FINDS that the settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable. 

9. Accordingly, the Settlement Agreement should be and is APPROVED and shall 

govern all issues regarding the settlement and all rights of the Parties to the settlement, including 
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the Settlement Class Members.  Each Settlement Class Member shall be bound by the Settlement 

Agreement, including the releases in the agreement. 

Further Actions 

10. The Parties are DIRECTED to promptly carry out their respective obligations 

under the Settlement Agreement, and the Administrator, Strategic Claims Services, is 

DIRECTED to make payments to those MCIC Settlement Beneficiaries entitled to payments 

under the Settlement Agreement consistent with the terms of the agreement. 

11. Consistent with paragraph 19 of the Settlement Agreement, payments totaling 

$57,000,000 SHALL BE TRANSFERRED from the Fund to the ANGELOS CLASS ACTION 

QSF held at The Huntington National Bank on the schedule set forth in the Settlement 

Agreement.2  From there, Strategic Claims Services shall pay Gallagher Evelius & Jones LLP an 

amount equal to one-third of each Payment Installment, shall reimburse Gallagher Evelius & 

Jones LLP for expenses incurred in litigating this case in the total amount of $330,012.50, and 

shall pay the Class Members consistent with the terms of the Settlement Agreement.   

12. The Settlement Administration Expenses shall be paid out of the funds on deposit 

in the ANGELOS CLASS ACTION QSF held at The Huntington National Bank, subject to the 

requirement of paragraph 20 of the Settlement Agreement that any amounts exceeding $550,000 

require approval of the Court, and subject to the further requirement that future costs incurred by 

the Administrator to search for Class Members for whom no valid address presently is known to 

the Parties shall be charged only to the subset of Class Members who require additional effort to 

find them, rather than to the full Class. 

 
2  The parties anticipate that the Fund will be held on deposit at Goldman Sachs. 
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13. Consistent with paragraph 18 of the Settlement Agreement, and 

contemporaneously with each Payment Installment, Strategic Claims Services SHALL CAUSE 

TO BE PAID out of the corpus of the Payment Installment an amount equal to $2,000 to each of 

the Class Representatives, namely:  Cynthia M. Clark; Norman J. Loverde; and William J. 

McCarthy, Jr. and Maria M. McCarthy (together as one unit).  These payments, which add up to 

$10,000 for each Class Representative unit over the course of five payments, constitute the 

court-approved Incentive Fees for the Class Representatives’ service as named Plaintiffs. 

14. The Court APPROVES the protocol for distributing the cy pres funds provided 

for in paragraph 17 of the Settlement Agreement as fair, reasonable, and warranted under the 

circumstances.  Pursuant to that provision, the cy pres recipients shall be the University of 

Maryland Francis King Carey School of Law, for purposes of sponsoring the clinical law 

program (23.5%); the University of Baltimore School of Law, for purposes of sponsoring the 

Fannie Angelos Program for Academic Excellence (23.5%); Public Justice Center, Inc. (23.5%); 

Associated Catholic Charities, Inc., for use by the Esperanza Center (23.5%); and Franciscan 

Center, Inc. (6%). 

15. All released Claims of each Settlement Class Member (as those terms are defined 

in the Settlement Agreement) are hereby DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE. 

16. Each and every Settlement Class Member is permanently ENJOINED from 

bringing, joining, assisting in, or continuing to prosecute against any of the released persons (as 

identified in paragraph 41 of the Settlement Agreement) any of the released Claims. 

17. This Court retains jurisdiction over all matters relating to the interpretation, 

administration, implementation, effectuation, and enforcement of the Settlement Agreement.  

The Court further retains jurisdiction to enforce this Judgment. 
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Date: ________     ____________________________________ 
       Hon. John S. Nugent, Judge in Charge, Civil 
       Circuit Court for Baltimore City 
 



  

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al.,  

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al.,  * 
* 

 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
[PROPOSED] ORDER 

 
For the reasons stated on the record at the November 22, 2024 hearing, and in light of the 

Court’s entry of the Final Judgment Approving Settlement and Certifying Settlement Class, it is 

hereby ORDERED: 

1. Plaintiffs’1 Motion for Final Settlement Approval be and is GRANTED; 

2. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Incentive Award be and is GRANTED; 

3. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Cy Pres Award be and is GRANTED; 

4. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Award of Attorneys’ Fees and Expenses to Class Counsel 

be and is GRANTED; and 

5. The Clerk is DIRECTED to SEND a copy of this Order to all counsel of record. 

 

  

 
1  Cynthia M. Clark, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Walter F. Kacala and Helen M. 
Kacala; Norman J. Loverde, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Stephen J. Loverde, Sr. 
and Mary Anna Loverde; and Maria M. McCarthy and William J. McCarthy, Jr., as personal 
representatives of the Estate of Anne Major and successor personal representatives of the Estate of 
Bernard L. Major, individually and on behalf of a Class of similarly situated Angelos clients. 
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Date: ________     ____________________________________ 
       Hon. John S. Nugent, Judge in Charge, Civil 
       Circuit Court for Baltimore City 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY 

CYNTHIA M. CLARK as successor personal 
representative of THE ESTATES OF WALTER 
F. KACALA and HELEN M. KACALA, et al.,  

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

 

Plaintiffs, * 
* 

 

v. * 
* 

Case No. 24-C-21-000847 OT 

PETER G. ANGELOS, ESQ., et al.,  * 
* 

 

Defendants. * 
* 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 
REQUEST FOR HEARING 

 
Plaintiffs1 respectfully request a hearing on their Motion for Final Settlement Approval 

and accompanying motions, as previously scheduled for November 22, 2024. 

  

 
1  Cynthia M. Clark, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Walter F. Kacala and Helen M. 
Kacala; Norman J. Loverde, as successor personal representative of the Estates of Stephen J. Loverde, Sr. 
and Mary Anna Loverde; and Maria M. McCarthy and William J. McCarthy, Jr., as personal 
representatives of the Estate of Anne Major and successor personal representatives of the Estate of 
Bernard L. Major, individually and on behalf of a Class of similarly situated Angelos clients. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

GALLAGHER EVELIUS & JONES LLP 

 
       /s/ Joe Dugan    

Paul S. Caiola (AIS # 9512120109) 
Brian T. Tucker (AIS # 0306180261) 
Joe Dugan (AIS # 1812110109) 
Sarah R. Simmons (AIS # 1912180151) 
Tory S. Trocchia (AIS # 2211290231) 
218 North Charles Street, Suite 400 
Baltimore MD 21201 
Telephone:  410-727-7702 
Facsimile:  410-468-2786 
pcaiola@gejlaw.com 
btucker@gejlaw.com 
jdugan@gejlaw.com 
ssimmons@gejlaw.com 
ttrocchia@gejlaw.com 
Class Counsel 

Date:  November 12, 2024 
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